Allocating Heat and Electricity in a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System Coupled with a Water Purification System

A Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science

with a

Major in Nuclear Engineering

in the

College of Graduate Studies

University of Idaho

 $\mathbf{b}\mathbf{y}$

Emma K. Redfoot

Major Professor: R.A. Borrelli, Ph.D.

Committee Members: Michael G. McKellar, Ph.D.; Shannon Bragg-Sitton, Ph.D. Department Administrator: Richard Christensen, Ph.D.

August 2018

Authorization to Submit Thesis

This thesis of Emma K. Redfoot, submitted for the degree of Master of Science with a Major in Nuclear Engineering and titled "Allocating Heat and Electricity in a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System Coupled with a Water Purification System," has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates below is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

| Advisor: | | |
|--------------------|-----------------------------|------|
| | R.A. Borrelli, Ph.D. | Date |
| | | |
| Committee Members: | | |
| | Michael G. McKellar, Ph.D. | Date |
| | | |
| | Shannon Bragg-Sitton, Ph.D. | Date |
| | | |
| Department Chair: | | |
| | Richard Christensen, Ph.D. | Date |

Abstract

Growing concerns over the impact of fossil fuels on climate change are driving efforts to use more low emission fuel sources. In response, variable renewable energy sources, such as solar and wind power, are growing to meet more of the electric demand. However, maintaining reliable energy accessibility to the grid requires a stable, dispatchable source of power. Nuclear power plants provide low emission, reliable energy to the grid [1]. To best reduce reliance on fossil fuels while ensuring reliable energy generation and profitability, Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems (NRHESs) focus on electrically and thermally coupling renewable generation with a nuclear power plant by co-locating the generation sources on an industrial park. The industrial park is comprised of at least the nuclear power plant, the renewable energy source, and some form of industrial process that consumes the energy not used by the grid. This thesis focuses on the potential economic and thermodynamic benefits of thermally coupling an industrial process to a nuclear power plant in a NRHES as opposed to electrically coupling. This paper analyzes the computational modeling approaches currently being pursued for NRHESs. Initially, the thesis begins by reviewing past research to determine the necessary software capabilities for an NRHES model. Then, with the help of an expert survey and the risk assessment techniques of Preliminary Hazards Analysis and Analytic Hierarchy Process, an industrial process with strong support for coupling with a generic NRHES model is determined. This thesis then describes an Aspen HYSYS models of a Palo Verde Generating Station reactor coupled to both a thermal multi-stage flash distillation water purification system as well as an electrically coupled reverse osmosis system. To compare the different couplings, this thesis applies an economic exergy analysis to the system. Finally, results and future research are discussed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to thank all of the researchers who have been invaluable in helping me determine what I wanted to research for this thesis and critiques and feedback throughout the process. Dr. Shannon Bragg-Sitton inspired me to focus on the possibilities surrounding Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems and provided critical insight. I have enjoyed working on and honing my comprehension of the topic. Dr. Cristian Rabiti helped me with some critical conversations during the research project which helped me determine the subject manner and approach used in this research. Dr. Kathryn Huff helped me to understand how to approach research in a structured and reproduceable manner using technical tools. Working at the Center for Advanced Energy Studies, CAES, has provided me access to remarkable people who took the time to talk with me about any topic of interest I brought to them. Thank you Dr. Brenden Heidrich, Dr. Stephen Herring, Dr. Tammie Borders, and Dr. Travis McLing for expanding my educational experience significantly. Dr. This was critical to me moving forward with this thesis.

Now for the wonderful people from University of Idaho I had the opportunity to work with. Thank you Alice Allen for being willing to guide me through all of the challenges of applying to graduate school and then graduating from graduate school. Thank you Dr. Richard Cristiansen for working on building up this program and reassuring me that I always have a home at the University of Idaho. Thank you Dr. McKellar for inspiring in me a real interest in thermohydraulics. Dr. R.A. Borrelli, you have been the most supportive major professor anyone could ask for. Thank you for encouraging me both as an engineer as well as developing my passion for nuclear advocacy. Thank you for always having an open door policy. Finally, I want to think the other students in the UI Nuclear Engineering program in Idaho Falls. Looking forward to coming in to work everyday made my whole world better.

DEDICATION

This thesis has been generated through the effort of a village. I would like to thank and dedicate this thesis to my parents, Don Redfoot and Kathy Kenyon, and Dominic Bertolino for their continuous support. My parents not only provided me with immense amounts of emotional support, they also provided editing and feedback on everything in this thesis. I want to thank Dominic Bertolino who in many ways inspired in me the confidence to pursue what I really wanted to do with my life starting with pursuing this master's degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Authorization to Submit Thesis |
|---|
| Abstract |
| Acknowledgements |
| DEDICATION |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS |
| List of Tables |
| LIST OF FIGURES |
| LIST OF ACRONYMS |
| Chapter 1: Introduction |
| Current Grid Challenges |
| Traditional Hybrid Energy Systems |
| Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems |
| Ongoing Modeling Research |
| Computational Tools |
| NRHES MODELS |
| Modelica |
| RAVEN |
| Distinct Capabilities |
| Small Modular Reactors |
| Other Research on NRHES Models |
| Chapter 2: Applying Risk Assessment Techniques to NRHES |
| Risk Assessment Background |
| Preliminary Hazards Analysis |
| Analytic Hierarchy Process |
| Fuzzy AHP |
| Expert AHP Survey |
| AHP Results and Discussion |
| AHP Conclusion and Future Work |
| Chapter 3: Thermal Versus Electrical Coupling |
| Exergy Analysis Background |
| Relevant Exergy Analysis Research |

| Multi-Stage Flash Distillation |
|---|
| Reverse Osmosis |
| Methodology |
| Aspen HYSYS |
| Fluctuating Electricity Output |
| Drinking Water Standards |
| Palo Verde Power Cycle |
| Assumptions |
| Results |
| Flexibility |
| Exergy Water Analysis |
| Exergy Analysis Conclusions |
| Dynamic Analysis using RAVEN |
| Demand Generation Approach |
| Fluctuation Analysis |
| Conclusions |
| Chapter 4: Future Work and Conclusions |
| SUMMARY REMARKS |
| References |
| Appendix A: Expert AHP Survey |
| Appendix B: Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process |
| Appendix C: Pump Data |
| Appendix D: Aspen HYSYS |
| Appendix E: Aspen HYSYS Water Composition Calculation |
| Appendix F: RAVEN INPUT CODE |

LIST OF TABLES

| 1.1 | References for Each NRHES Characteristic | 11 |
|------|--|----|
| 2.1 | Economic Preliminary Hazard Analysis | 14 |
| 2.2 | Grid Reliability Preliminary Hazard Analysis | 15 |
| 2.3 | Physical Preliminary Hazards Analysis | 16 |
| 2.4 | The different x values correspond to the values on the y axis of the graph shown in figure 2.2. | |
| | When the likelihood of a certain fuzzy number being correct is very low, the y value is zero. | |
| | When it is more likely, the y value is one. | 21 |
| 2.5 | Fuzzy Logic Value Mapping | 21 |
| 2.6 | Example of questions given in the Expert AHP survey | 23 |
| 2.7 | AHP Scale Description | 23 |
| 2.8 | Utility Set values for each of the industrial processes | 24 |
| 2.9 | Performance Scores of Safety for the various industrial processes included | 24 |
| 2.10 | Flexibility Performance Scores for the various industrial processes included | 25 |
| 2.11 | Profitability Performance Scores for the various industrial processes included | 25 |
| 2.12 | Fuzzy weights of each of the criteria. Clearly, safety is weighted most heavily and flexibility | |
| | is weighted the least | 25 |
| 2.13 | AHP Survey answers for determining the relative importance of different criteria $\ldots \ldots$ | 26 |
| 3.1 | The Components of Brackish Groundwater in Central Arizona Centerra Well from $[2]$ | 29 |
| 3.2 | Mole Composition of Brackish Groundwater Assumed in Aspen-HYSYS model $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 42 |
| 3.3 | Palo Verde Reactor Core Thermohydraulic Values. The first units given in the Value Given | |
| | in FSAR column are the actual values found in the FSAR, while the second are the converted | |
| | values into those used in the model. | 43 |
| 3.4 | Palo Verde Main Steam Flow Power Cycle. | 43 |
| 3.5 | Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system drawing heat | |
| | directly after the steam generator at smaller interval load reductions assuming a 20% reduction | |
| | limit | 49 |
| 3.6 | Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system drawing heat | |
| | directly after the steam generator at the load reduction levels required for European reactors | |
| | [3] | 49 |

| 3.7 | Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system with the heat | |
|------|--|----|
| | sent to the condenser at various load reduction levels assuming a 20% reduction floor. The load | |
| | following percent is controlled by sending varying amounts of heat to the condenser leading | |
| | to the Multi-Stage Flash (MSF). | 49 |
| 3.8 | Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system with the heat | |
| | sent to the condenser at the load reduction levels required for European reactors [3]. The load | |
| | following percent is controlled by sending varying amounts of heat to the condenser leading | |
| | to the MSF | 50 |
| 3.9 | Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-S 132 kW pump assuming a 20% reduction limit $~$. | 50 |
| 3.10 | Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-S 132 kW pump | 50 |
| 3.11 | Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-L 630 kW pump assuming a 20% reduction limit $$. | 50 |
| 3.12 | Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-L 630 kW pump | 51 |
| 3.13 | Analysis of when the \$/Exergy value of the various configurations is greater than a system | |
| | strictly generating electricity by fluctuating the price of electricity | 51 |
| 3.14 | Analysis of when the \$/Exergy value of the various configurations is greater than a system | |
| | strictly generating electricity by fluctuating the price of water | 52 |
| 3.15 | Exergy analysis of the MSF system | 56 |
| 3.16 | Reverse Osmosis Exergy Analysis values | 57 |
| 3.17 | Reverse Osmosis Exergy Analysis Values Generating similar amounts of water as generated | |
| | in the MSF system | 57 |
| 3.18 | Overall conclusions from the analysis on the \$/exergy of the various water purification con- | |
| | figurations | 58 |
| 3.19 | Approximate average values for demand change in Arizona for each season | 64 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| 1.1 | This figure compares the MISO and MIMO configurations, demonstrating the differences between | |
|-----|--|----|
| | traditional Hybrid Energy System (HES) that are focused on generating reliable electricity and non- | |
| | traditional HES, which have the added objective of generating an additional product. While many of | |
| | the elements are the same, the $MIMO$ system includes an Industrial Process that is either thermally | |
| | or electrically coupled | 4 |
| 1.2 | This figure from [4] generated by NuScale Power displays the design of half of the NuScale plant. Six | |
| | of the reactor modules can be seen in the cooling pool along with the crane which inserts and removes | |
| | the modules | 10 |
| 2.1 | The overall hierarchy of the industrial processes under evaluation for inclusion in the NRHES | 18 |
| 2.2 | Representation of the meaning behind the membership function graph for the fuzzy numbers \ldots . | 20 |
| 2.3 | A figure displaying the fuzzy utility function for the three industrial processes. The furthest to the | |
| | right has the highest importance. Clearly Desalination has the greatest fuzzy number | 26 |
| 3.1 | This figure displays the two cases evaluated in Valero et al.: (a) shows the industrial ecosystem in the | |
| | current coupled form and (b) shows the second case where there is no coupling. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots | 34 |
| 3.2 | The Multi-Stage Flash exergy analysis diagram showing where exergy is lost in the system. This | |
| | exergy diagram was published in [5] | 35 |
| 3.3 | This pie chart from $[6]$ shows the overall total installed capacities of each of the technologies used for | |
| | $desalination. \ The six \ technologies \ shown \ represent \ Reverse \ Osmosis \ (RO), \ Multistage \ Flash \ (MSF),$ | |
| | Multiple-effect distillation (MED), Electrodialysis Reversal (ED/EDR), and Nanofiltration (NF) $$. | 36 |
| 3.4 | This figure displays the differences between different water qualities. The groundwater in Arizona | |
| | qualifies as brackish [2]. This image is from [7] \ldots | 37 |
| 3.5 | Palo Verde's simplified Rankine cycle used for this research. The overall efficiency of the system is | |
| | about 32% , which is a reasonable approximation of the Palo Verde Power cycle. The turbines are | |
| | yellow, meaning warning, because of the liquid entering the turbines. In reality, the turbines can still | |
| | function with some liquid $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 39 |
| 3.6 | The distillation column used to represent the multi-stage flash system along with key important | |
| | metrics for the various components. | 40 |
| 3.7 | The energy used for an RO system is directed almost entirely to the pumps used. The three pumps | |
| | shown here represent off-the-shelf pumps used in Reverse Osmosis systems | 40 |
| | | |

| 3.8 | This simplified drawing shows the main components of the power cycle including how the multistage | |
|------|---|-----|
| | flash distillation system is heated through the condenser | 44 |
| 3.9 | This simplified drawing shows the main components of the power cycle including how the multistage | |
| | flash distillation system draws water just after the steam generator | 44 |
| 3.10 | The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the steam generator made | |
| | using Google Charts | 54 |
| 3.11 | The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the condenser made using | |
| | Google Charts | 54 |
| 3.12 | The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the steam generator made | |
| | using Google Charts | 55 |
| 3.13 | Monthly solar generation data for Arizona and California. Data from January 2014 until April 2018 | |
| | sourced from the EIA [8] | 60 |
| 3.14 | Raw data showing general Arizona Public Service Demand from the EIA from July 1st, 2015 to May | |
| | 18, 2018 | 62 |
| 3.15 | Cleaned up Synthetic Data showing general Arizona Public Service Demand | 63 |
| D.1 | A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $80^{\circ}C$ heat to | |
| | the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% | |
| | of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system | 104 |
| D.2 | A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $80^{\circ}C$ heat to | |
| | the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% | |
| | of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system | 105 |
| D.3 | A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $80^{\circ}C$ heat to | |
| | the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% | |
| | of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system | 106 |
| D.4 | A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $80^{\circ}C$ heat to | |
| | the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 106 |
| D.5 | A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with $80^{\circ}C$ heat from | |
| | the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process | 107 |
| D.6 | A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 85 $^{\circ}C$ heat to | |
| | the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 107 |
| D.7 | A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 85 $^{\circ}C$ heat from | |
| | the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process | 108 |

D.8 A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 90°C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process 108

D.9 A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 90°C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process 109

- D.10 A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 95°C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process 109
- D.11 A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 95° C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process 110

- D.20 A model of the Palo Verde Power Cycle with about 5% of the water going towards the MSF system. 114

| E.1 | Screen sho | ot o | f Excel | 1 C | lcu | lation | of | the | cc | omp | one | ent | ma | keup | foi | r th | e bra | ackis | sh i | ınd | ergi | oun | d | wate. | r in | |
|-----|------------|------|---------|-----|-----|--------|----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|----|------|-----|------|-------|-------|------|-----|------|-----|---|-------|------|-----|
| | Arizona | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 117 |

LIST OF ACRONYMS

- AHP Analytic Hierarchy Process
- **ANL** Argonne National Laboratory
- **APS** Arizona Public Service
- **ARMA** Autoregressive Moving Average
- **ECE** Effective Cost of Electricity
- **EIA** Energy Information Agency
- **EPA** Environmental Protection Agency
- **EPRI** Electric Power Research Institute
- **FOMs** Figures of Merit
- **FOM** Figure of Merit
- **HES** Hybrid Energy System
- **HOMER** Hybrid Optimization Model for Electric Renewable
- **IDE** Israel Desalination Enterprises
- INL Idaho National Laboratory
- **IRR** Internal Rate of Return
- **ISO** Independent System Operator
- LACE Levelized Avoided Cost of Electricity
- LCOE Levelized Cost of Electricity
- LCS Levelized Cost of Storage
- LOLP Loss of Load Probability
- **MIMO** Multiple Input Multiple Output
- MISO Multiple Input Single Output
- MSF Multi-Stage Flash

- **NERC** North American Electric Reliability Corporation
- **NFCS** Nuclear Fuel Cycle Simulator
- **NPP** Nuclear Power Plant
- NPPs Nuclear Power Plants
- **NPV** Net Present Value
- **NRC** Nuclear Regulatory Commission
- **NREL** National Renewable Energy Laboratory
- ${\bf NRHES}\,$ Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System
- NRHESs Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems
- **ORNL** Oak Ridge National Laboratory
- PHA Preliminary Hazards Analysis
- **PV** Palo Verde Generating Station
- **RAVEN** Risk Analysis Virtual Environment
- **RO** Reverse Osmosis
- **ROM** Reduced Order Models
- SAIDI System Average Interruption Duration Index
- SAIFI System Average Interruption Frequency Index
- SMRs Small Modular Reactors
- **SPECO** Specific Exergy Costing
- **U-FSAR** Updated Final Safety Analysis Report

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

As any nation prepares to meet their respective demands for energy, they are faced with the challenge of addressing four major issues. First, the sources of energy production must produce sufficient energy to reliably meet the demands of growing populations and economies. Second, the serious threat of climate change and air pollution due to emissions demands alternatives that can fuel economic growth while minimizing damage to the planet. Third, the sources of energy must be flexible enough to respond to seasonal and hourly fluctuations in demand. Finally, all of the above objectives must be met through economically viable combinations of energy sources. No one source of energy has optimized all four of these objectives. Coal-fired energy has fueled the economic growth of most developed nations, producing vast amounts of energy and creating a reliable grid for distributing that energy. But the environmental and safety costs of coal have been enormous, which has led to the search for viable alternatives. Natural gas, the primary affordable alternative in the United States, has less particulate pollution but still produces greenhouse gas emissions. Natural gas power plants, unlike most nuclear and coal power plants in the United States, were built with flexibility in mind and are the typical load following means of energy production [9]. Renewable sources - such as solar, wind and hydro - have grown significantly, but their capacity to generate sufficient energy and respond to fluctuating demand have limited their utility. Nuclear power is low-emitting and reliable, but its affordability and flexibility are issues to address.

Various ways of integrating non-emitting sources of power; such as solar, wind, and nuclear, provide approaches to addressing the four objectives listed above - reducing greenhouse gas emissions while increasing grid reliability and flexibility. Three ways to achieve greater flexibility without sacrificing reliability include: 1) more flexible production to load follow as with natural gas; 2) greater storage capacity provided through chemical and thermal of batteries; and 3) allocation strategies that direct excess heat or electricity to an industrial process when the grid has lower demand. Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems (NRHESs) focus on the third strategy to create a reliable, flexible system while seeking to minimize emissions to a level significantly less than a renewable source combined with a natural gas plant [10]. NRHESs are power systems that combine and often co-locate different facilities with two generators which include a Nuclear Power Plant (NPP) and a renewable - for example, with a battery, an industrial process, and possibly a natural gas plant. NRHES is a proposed solution that combines the capacity and reliability of a NPP with greater flexibility.

Making decisions about investing in NRHESs to meet future energy demand requires developing rigorous simulations to determine each system's financial viability as well as its technical capacity to provide reliable, clean energy under different geographic, technical, and economic scenarios. In addition, decision-makers need tools that allow them to prioritize the objectives listed above to respond to local needs and policy objectives.

To address these issues, this thesis begins with a review of the existing literature covering both nuclear and non-nuclear HES. This thesis will then discuss the applicability of the decision-making tool Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for comparing various NRHES industrial processes. One approach that ties the economic to the physical aspects of the NRHES is an exergetic efficiency analysis. The exergy analysis relies on three separate models built in Aspen HYSYS. All the NRHES designs will include a nuclear reactor, a water purification system, and the grid. The analysis, which is different from traditional exergy analyses, will focus on the revenue from the system. Since the value of electricity is the motivator behind many NRHESs, focusing exclusively on the revenue provides insight into the various technologies and coupling approaches. In order to evaluate both the \$/exergy values of thermally and electrically coupling the industrial process in a NRHES, both a multistage flash as well as Reverse Osmosis (RO) water purification system are evaluated. This thesis will conclude with an analysis of the findings and a discussion of future work.

1.1 CURRENT GRID CHALLENGES

With the increasing installed capacity of variable power sources, along with the general seasonal and daily fluctuations in power demand, the grid needs to be more flexible than ever before. In order to ensure grid reliability, or consistent electricity, supplied to customers with a high penetration of variable sources of power, traditional base load generating sources, such as NPPs, will need to increase their flexibility to the electric grid [11]. For example, when wind decreases its electricity output, other sources of electricity need to respond quickly to make up for the loss. To supply electricity to a system that includes variable contributing sources, nuclear generation must be able to increase and decrease its grid contribution throughout the day.

There are NPPs that operate flexibly. While there are some NPPs in the northeastern United States that operate flexibly, there is more of a history of variable operation in France, Germany, Belgium, and the Slovak Republic [12]. That being said, reducing energy output below nominal capacity for Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) is sub-optimal primarily due to economic inefficiency[3]. NPPs are almost entirely comprised of fixed, operating, and maintenance costs, such as the capital to construct the reactor and the salaries of the employees, which do not depend on how much electricity is sold. As of 2010, nuclear fuel accounts for about 10% of the Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE), a standard measure of the price per unit of energy produced, as compared to 70%-80% for natural gas [13]. Due to the relatively small role the fuel plays in the overall costs of operating a NPP, lowering the power output does not greatly reduce

the generating costs. Along with the economic considerations, the materials impacts of flexibly operating older NPPs that were not designed for such maneuverability can accelerate the aging of the power plant, causing physical and economic damage [3]. Increased flexible operation also requires more planning for the fuel. Due to the accumulation of fission product poisons, as well as the amount of fissionable material in the fuel changing depending on how much energy is extracted, there would have to be even more careful planning to ensure the best fuel utilization. Assuming economic conditions in the energy sector remain constant, NPPs must run at near full capacity to compete economically.

The purpose of the literature review is to:

- Evaluate previous approaches to modeling HES;
- Evaluate what are the necessary functionalities for a piece of software in order to model a HES; and
- Describe the current modeling approaches being pursued with NRHES, with the purpose of providing an overview of the current state of the art.

1.2 TRADITIONAL HYBRID ENERGY SYSTEMS

HES are coupled means of energy generation generally including at least one renewable and one conventional energy source [14]. These systems provide the single commodity of electricity through multiple generation sources working together. Co-generation on the other hand is "the simultaneous production of power and usable heat [15]." Traditional HES generate only a single product, electricity, from multiple sources. Co-generation creates multiple outputs, such as electricity and heat, from a single energy source. HES have been implemented all over the world in stand-alone and grid connected systems to balance the variability of solar and wind [16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23]. In standalone systems, the renewable generating source is generally combined with a diesel generator, a battery, or both. The operational goal of HES is to pair flexibly operating energy generation sources with consistent energy producers and/or storage mechanisms in order to have a reliable electrical generating system.

Traditional HES generate energy in the location where it is used [18, 19, 20, 21, 23]. For example, Shin et al. (2015) optimized meeting the energy needs of the Deokjeok Islands, part of South Korea, which are disconnected from the grid, using renewable power sources and diesel generators. Borges et al. (2010) discusses different conceptual approaches for HES as a means of electricity access for people in rural regions or developing nations where biogas and photovoltaics provide energy to the surrounding region [22]. Nixon et. al. (2012) evaluated multiple solar-biomass systems for decentralized power production



Figure 1.1: This figure compares the MISO and MIMO configurations, demonstrating the differences between traditional HES that are focused on generating reliable electricity and non-traditional HES, which have the added objective of generating an additional product. While many of the elements are the same, the MIMO system includes an Industrial Process that is either thermally or electrically coupled.

[19]. Adaramola et. al. (2014) used the Hybrid Optimization Model for Electric Renewable (HOMER) computational tool to model a wind and solar HES system in southern Ghana [20]. Rehman et. al. (2010) studied PV-diesel-battery HES for a rural region of Saudi Arabia [24]. Mahmoud et. al. (2004) discussed the economic benefits of a PV-diesel generator system hooked up to the electric grid [25]. The above research describes a Multiple Input Single Output (MISO) system[26]. A significant body of research literature describes off-grid situated HES, demonstrating that HES can provide reliable energy for relatively small and local populations.

In contrast there are multiple means of energy generation producing multiple products, Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO) use any excess energy not used by the grid at a given moment to generate other products to increase profitability [26]. Figure 1.1 has been constructed to clarify the differences between a system where electricity generation is the sole purpose, MISO, versus a system that produces electricity and another commodity, such as desalinated water or hydrogen. The sources of energy are shown in gray while the energy sinks are white. Both diagrams differ from co-generation because they illustrate more than one source of energy contributing to the system. The primary benefit of a MIMO system is a diversified income source; as a result the system is better economically shielded from fluctuations in electricity prices. Both types of systems attempt to provide reliable energy to the grid while incorporating a flexibly operating source of energy.

1.3 Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems

NRHESs are defined by Bragg-Sitton et al. (2014) as the

"tighter coupling of nuclear and renewable energy sources in a manner that better optimizes energy use for the combined electricity, industrial manufacturing, and transportation sectors capable of apportioning thermal electrical energy to first meet the grid demand (with appropriate power conversion systems), then utilizing excess thermal and, in some cases, electrical energy to drive a process that results in an additional product [27]".

The benefits to the participants of the NRHES that co-locate their facilities include minimizing system wide costs to the NRHES while increasing economic resilience by diversifying both the means of generating energy as well as the products produced. For example, if natural gas prices increase, the NRHES could rely less on the natural gas plant and put more focus on storage. If short-term electricity prices are negative, the energy produced by the NRHES can be diverted to the industrial process.

The additional industrial processes possible to couple in a NRHES include, but are not limited to: heat added to synthetic fuel upgrading, heat for titanium dioxide production, heat and/or electricity for desalinated water, heat and/or electricity for hydrogen production, heat for aluminum production or recycling, and thermal storage through heat pumps [28]. Current uses of thermally coupled NPPs are for district heating and heat for papermills [29]. The NPP distributes the energy it generates between the grid and the industrial process to maximize profit. The system can allocate energy based on the market value of each of the multiple outputs produced. In the case of a NPP coupled with a desalination plant, for example, if the price of electricity is low, more thermal and/or electric energy can be diverted to generate more clean water at a higher profit [30]. The costs of operating a dynamic system, such as the case with a NRHES, include additional wear and tear, decreased thermal efficiency due to variability, and increased complexity of operations [26]. The total net costs of the system, such as meeting regulatory expectations, have yet to be determined.

1.4 Ongoing Modeling Research

There have been no physical demonstrations to date of NRHES. Research has largely focused on computational modeling to determine the feasibility and optimization of coupling elements [31, ?, 32]. The literature review revealed that much of the work on NRHESs is in the design and analysis stage [33, ?, 32]. Research has focused on developing models that can dynamically simulate the contributions of variable energy sources, the constraints of flexibly operating electricity demand, and thermal/electrical

power demands for various industrial processes. The models focus on answering questions regarding minimizing the cost of electricity and ensuring profitability for each of the components comprising the NRHES. In order to move forward with development of any NRHES, such systems must demonstrate that they can be profitable and can reliably respond to variable electricity production and demand [31].

An ongoing effort at Idaho National Laboratory (INL), Argonne National Laboratory (ANL), and Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) focuses on modeling a generic NRHES to optimize the size of the components as well as the overall functioning of the system. The generic model will test the economic viability of NRHESs to determine if future development should be pursued. The industrial plant combines a NPP, a wind farm, a natural gas power plant, a battery, and a high temperature steam electrolysis hydrogen production facility. More component models will be developed in the future that can compare various industrial customers [34]. The chosen renewable source, a wind farm, models a highly stochastic system due to the unpredictable nature of wind generation [35]. The model optimizes the sizes of the NPP, the natural gas plant, and the battery. The model performs two optimizations, the first on the size of the components and the second optimizing the functioning of the system to minimize costs [36]. The objective is to choose the NRHES configuration that minimizes costs while meeting set emissions and grid reliability expectations.

1.5 Computational Tools

NRHES sit in an interesting location in computational modeling. There are many tools to model and optimize non-nuclear HES (HOMER, Hybrid2, SOLSIM, SOMES, ARES, RAPSIM, HOGA) [37]. These programs calculate mass flow, electricity output, and the possible output of another product, such as hydrogen. Modelica and Excel, while neither specifically HES nor NRHES tools, have been used to model both nuclear and non-nuclear HESs [32, 30, 38, 16, 33]. HES tools have typically been developed for microgrid standalone systems. The main challenges to applying HES systems to a NRHES are the scale of the system being modeled and fluctuating grid demand.

1.6 NRHES MODELS

Selecting a tool to model a NRHES requires understanding what characteristics a model must possess in order to provide accurate information. For example, as discussed below, it is important for a NRHES model to incorporate the dynamic nature of the system in order to include losses from the changes in the system. Rabiti et al. (2015) discusses the important elements of a NRHES computational model in detail, describing the basic requirements of the software as a "computational representation of the thermal, mechanical, chemical, and electrical processes in the systems as process units, reactors, manufacturing plants, and energy delivery (to the appropriate point of interface with the market transaction, such as an electricity bus, or a product depot or distribution terminal where a commodity price is established)[31]."

The model in development by the national laboratories combines RAVEN for the stochastic and statistical aspects of the system, such as generating synthetic wind data based on actual wind data and optimizing the systems, with Modelica for modeling the various components in the NRHES.

1.6.1 MODELICA

Modelica is a widely used open source language for modeling large and complex systems composed of smaller component models. It is particularly suited for modeling dynamic systems. Modelica has powerful libraries, such as Thermopower, that include the thermohydraulic modeling tools required for modeling mass flows in energy systems [38]. The language is well-maintained, giving it the added benefits of having up-to-date documentation and a community that can provide support. Typically Modelica is run on the Dymola developer environment, a private tool developed by the creator of Modelica, Dr. Hilding Elmquist. Another option for running the Modelica language is the open source OpenModelica environment.

A Modelica HES model developed in Binder et. al. (2014) includes a nuclear reactor, two steam cycles, a chemical plant, and an electrical component [38]. The products of the system modeled are synthetic fuel and electricity. The model includes the ramp up stage when the reactor initially starts or is increasing from a lower load. The steam generator connected to the NPP determines which of its turbines to use depending on electricity demand, the 60% turbine, the 30% turbine, or the 15% turbine, which can be used in unison. A pressure relief valve releases excess energy unused by the turbines. The wind generation is modeled using the Western Wind dataset from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) for an unspecified region in Idaho. Each component in the model was tested individually before being combined. Using the individual component models, verifications were made for the system as a whole. As demonstrated in Binder et al. (2014), running a model of a NRHES in Modelica requires a control algorithm, a differential equation that controls how the dynamic system allocates heat. The profitability control algorithm can be adjusted to incorporate varying parameters such as the price of electricity or the cost of natural gas. The study concluded that Modelica, due to its ability to evaluate control algorithms, is an effective tool for dynamically modeling a HES. As a tool that is optimized for large dynamic systems, Modelica has been used more than any other tool to model NRHESs at this point.

1.6.2 RAVEN

The RAVEN tool was initially built for probabilistic risk assessment. RAVEN, as a probabilistic tool, can do parametric and stochastic analyses of systems[39]. For NRHESs, RAVEN is used to run different wind energy generation paths in order to generate a statistically fair representation of how renewables, in this case wind power, would likely function over any given week. RAVEN can be used to produce data representing the most generic seasonal wind generation over a week. A typical week can be extrapolated to represent a given season. The process can be repeated over the different seasons, which can be extrapolated to represent a year. Using synthetic generated data instead of historic data avoids the critique that the model only represents past behavior and is thus not applicable to future trends [40]. RAVEN can also be used to determine high-risk time series samples to ensure that high risk scenarios are accounted for in the study. RAVEN can also do probabilistic assessments such as loss of load probability and sensitivity to uncertainty analysis.

Any future modeling efforts for a NRHESs would benefit from complimenting the ongoing modeling effort. Currently, all of the physics models for the NRHES are built in Modelica. To benefit from the work already done, any additional software would need to be able to easily communicate with the Modelica modeling language. The model would benefit from a tool that would communicate with other chemical and utility standard physics modeling tools. Future work would benefit from coupling with other physics modeling tools, allowing groups to take advantage of the existing infrastructure while using their physics model of choice.

1.6.3 DISTINCT CAPABILITIES

There are certain characteristics of a physical NRHES which a computational model would need to reasonably assess the system as a whole. These are summarized at the end of the chapter in Table 1.1 which demonstrates the functions most commonly incorporated in a model. The following discussion details the extensive work that has been done determine why dynamisticity is important to modeling a NRHES.

In Garcia et. al. (2013) and Du et. al. (2014), a dynamic approach to modeling HES is applied in order to appropriately address the impacts of flexible operation of the system due to variable renewable generation [26, 41]. In Du et. al. (2014), two optimization problems are addressed: the first minimizes variability in the HES through optimizing components of the HES system, and the second imposes operating and capital costs on the design variables. Garcia et. al. (2013) has a two-part series. The first applies and analyzes performance of a dynamic approach to modeling some of the physical components of a traditional and an advanced MIMO HES. The second paper focuses on economic effects using a dynamic approach, as opposed to time series or statistical analysis. Overall, both parts of the series focus on how a dynamic approach better models the high level of variability of a HES for output generation and profitability maximization [26]. The costs of operating in a flexible manner, dynamically allocating resources between multiple coupled systems, are substantial enough to require a simulation that precisely models the variability of the system [26, 42, 43]. The dynamic modeling at this point focuses on the dynamic transfer of energy to different sources, and how this impacts the system economics and grid reliability. The dynamic allocation of the heat and electricity, which depend on the renewable generation and the grid demand is an essential characteristic of a NRHES. Including factors such as how quickly the NRHES will be able to switch between providing energy to the industrial facility and the grid will impact determining the economic and physical values of the model.

1.7 Small Modular Reactors

For completeness, the use of Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) both as tools for load following and as sources of process heat must be addressed. SMRs are generally defined as nuclear reactors under 300 MWe. SMR designs, such as that in development by NuScale, combine multiple small reactor modules. Multiple SMRs in combination are a promising possibility for NRHESs. With multiple reactors, individual modules can be assigned to meet the industrial process energy demand, with others solely used for electricity generation. Furthermore, as electricity demand grows, additional modules can be added to the industrial park. Multiple SMRs have a clear means of load following, simply by shutting down those reactors whose energy output is not required due to seasonal shifts and other demand factors. The modularity of the SMRs allows greater flexibility in the design of the industrial park. Locatelli (2015) discusses the technical and economic feasibility of load following using multiple SMRs, applying the excess energy toward generating algae-biofuel and desalinated water [43]. He discusses the benefits as well as drawbacks of a [?] that includes a thermal desalination process. A desalination plant has the benefits of switching between a latent and producing state and generating a product that is readily stored. The main drawback is poor water quality and output level when the desalination unit restarts. In general, SMRs have multiple means of adjusting their electricity output to the grid including coupling with an industrial process.

The NuScale reactor, with proposed construction starting in 2025 at INL, has motivated research into different methods of flexibly operating the amount of electricity sent to the grid [4, 44, ?, 45]. The NuScale reactor design, as can be seen in the figure below, combines twelve small pressurized water reactors into one large pool of water. Each of the reactors is rated at 50 MWe, generating a combined 600 MWe. The NuScale reactor has been evaluated to thermally couple with oil refining processes, multiple desalination techniques, as well as hydrogen production [4]. Aside from thermally coupling and rerouting the energy from electricity generation to process heat applications, the NuScale reactors have furthermore been evaluated for loosely coupling with the Horse Butte Wind Farm in nearby Idaho Falls [44]. The NuScale plant has multiple approaches to meet the changing electricity demanded by the grid, which NuScale designates as NuFollow [44]. The NuScale plant can take down one or more of the low power reactors, changing the power output of one or more modules for shorter changes in the grid demand due to changes in wind output, and sending the heat generated by the reactor straight to the condenser bypassing the power generating turbine cycle.



Figure 1.2: This figure from [4] generated by NuScale Power displays the design of half of the NuScale plant. Six of the reactor modules can be seen in the cooling pool along with the crane which inserts and removes the modules.

1.7.1 Other Research on NRHES Models

Many more studies on HESs and NRHESs incorporate economic and technical modeling, but the essential characteristics of ability to model a dynamic and stochastic system have been covered. For completeness of the state of the art research on NRHESs, some of the other relevant studies include:

• Shropshire et. al. (2012) does not focus on HES, but discusses how different models of flexible and small modular reactors could integrate into the European energy market with growing renewable generation, thus fulfilling the growing need for flexibility and load following in other electricity suppliers [32].

- Shropshire et. al. (2011) develops target cost estimates for reactors given certain economic environments based on competing technology energy costs [42].
- OECD-NEA (2011), Nuclear Energy Agency Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, presents an overview of the capability of implemented newer and older NPPs to load follow [3].
- Baker (2016) analyzes the LCOE as the Figure of Merit (FOM) and the role of battery storage to evaluate different NRHESs scenarios [10]
- Kazimi et al. (2009) produces a preliminary dynamic analysis of two NRHESs that have high levels of renewable energy generation and multiple outputs from the system. The study concludes that NRHESs could lead to optimized energy use, reduced carbon, favorable economic performance, and flexible operation time [46].
- Forsberg et. al. (2009) discusses using nuclear power to create more liquid transportation fuels from biomass and fossil fuel sources [47].
- There have also been two regional modeling studies conducted for Texas and Arizona focused on including regional characteristics to determine the renewable used and the industrial process[16].

Table 1.1 displays the characteristics routinely described as necessary to model a NRHES along with their citations.

| NRHES Characteristic | Paper |
|--------------------------------|----------------------|
| Dynamic | [26, 41, 46, 48] |
| Sensitivity Analysis | [42, 24, 20, 30] |
| Optimization of components | [30, 49, 47, 16, 50] |
| Stochastic Model of Renewables | [31, 48, 43] |
| Grid Demand model | [51, 48, 26, 52, 30] |
| Economic FOMs | [48, 30, 31, 33, 27] |

Table 1.1: References for Each NRHES Characteristic

The six characteristics included in Table 1.1 are those likely necessary for a NRHES model to be reasonably accurate. Each of the characteristics has been included in previous studies, and thus has some already proposed approaches. The characteristics can be studied in greater detail in order to determine if they satisfactorily model the system.

Chapter 2: Applying Risk Assessment Techniques to NRHES

Identifying likely failure modes is an important aspect of safe and secure operation of any large infrastructure. For a NRHES, a large piece of infrastructure that has not yet been built, a design that addresses potential failures ensures long term safe, reliable, and profitable operation. This chapter will evaluate the economic, grid reliability, and physical risks of failures in the coupling of a NPP to an industrial process which functions in a dynamic fashion. Three preliminary hazard analyses will initially be applied to the safety, flexibility, and profitability of the system in order to do a cursory qualitative model of what concerns need to be taken into consideration. A fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process (f-AHP) will then be applied to various industrial process options to include in a model of a NRHES thermally coupled to the NPP. The focus of this section is to develop a means of comparing various coupled industrial processes to determine which industrial process will be used in the exergy analysis.

2.1 RISK ASSESSMENT BACKGROUND

Risk assessment is a means of analyzing complex systems for hazards. Often the risk assessment tools, such as probabilistic risk assessment, fault tree analysis, and failure mode and effects analysis, model many variables in large systems and attempt to contain them into an easy to understand table or number for comparison. Since there has yet to be a physical model of a NRHES built, now is the appropriate time to assess risks in order to incorporate mitigating measures in the design basis. Incorporating risk management in the design of a facility minimizes the costs and dangers associated with the system in the long run.

2.2 Preliminary Hazards Analysis

As was done in Falcone et al. in establishing a new approach to risk assessment of cogeneration systems, this risk assessment will begin with a Preliminary Hazards Analysis (PHA) [53]. The main purpose for a PHA is, as the name suggests, to identify hazards and possible implications of the design of a particular system or product. A PHA is appropriate for the current state of development for a NRHES due to it still being in the design stage. The goal of this PHA will be to highlight potential economic, reliability, and physical safety hazards. Performing a PHA at this early point in the life cycle of a NRHES will hopefully reduce the resources spent on engineering design and potential construction errors. This analysis is not exhaustive but will address some of the more obvious concerns. The PHA will need to be updated as research continues and hazards are determined. Performing a PHA requires classifying the hazard level and frequency associated with each event. The hazard classes for this PHA range from Negligible to Catastrophic. A Class I hazard has negligible negative outcomes, a Class II hazard has marginal effects, a Class III hazard has critical impacts, and a Class IV hazard has catastrophic impacts [54]. The frequency of occurrence estimates are qualitative as the values cannot be verified at this point. A discussion of Tables 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 is included in the following text.

| Potential Failure | Event Causing Hazardous Condition | Hazardous Condition | Hazard Class | Preventative Measure | Qualitative Likelihood |
|---|--|---|---|--|---|
| Industrial process is not profitable | If the industrial process has to be ready to take load from the grid, it will likely be running below capacity and may not be profitable | Industrial process loosing money | Class III: the benefit of the NRHES would be lost without a means of having the industrial process prepared to take heat. | Contracts ensuring a certain profit for the industrial process to be prepared to take heat from the Nuclear Power Plant | Likely |
| Nuclear regulations could apply to the whole system, increasing the costs of the system | Since the components will be co-located & coupled, the NRC may have jurisdiction over the whole system | Additional regulations on the industrial process could result in greater costs | Class III: without an industrial process the whole NRHES would be undermined. | Determine regulatory oversight before beginning construction | Fairly Likely as the other components would be within the required boundary around the NPP |
| Feedstock Costs Rising | Any of the feedstocks could rise in price for any number of reasons. Rise in price during the operation of the system could result in the product prices no longer being competitive | Feedstocks rising in price during the operation of the system could result in the product prices no longer being competitive | Class I: shifts already occur in feed stock prices and are systems adjust. | Include long term projections for the feedstock costs of the various components in the design phase of the NRHES | Likely there will be fluctuations. Depends on the feedstock |
| Product Value Decreasing | There could be a change in conditions or a new technology that makes the industrial process product value decrease | For each of the products, the reason would be different. Desal: a drought could end Syn fuel: oil prices could decrease Hydrogen: Less energy intensive process could be invented | Class II: the industrial process would need to be further subsidized by other components to continue to run | Do long term economic analysis of the industrial process. Pick a product or location where the product will clearly be in demand | Possible: The product value will likely fluctuate over the length of the project |

14

 Table 2.1: Economic Preliminary Hazard Analysis

| Potential Failure | Event Causing Hazardous Condition | Hazardous Condition | Hazard Class | Preventative Measure | Qualitative Likelihood |
|---|---|--|---|---|--|
| Nuclear Power Plant Outage | The NPP needs to be refueled | NPP down for refueling | Class I: This will be a routine issue. The industrial process will need to stop during the outage and the grid will need to get electricity from peaker plants | Plan ahead with the industrial process so that it can either get electricity from the grid or be paid to close for the outage. | Certain: an NPP needs to be refueled |
| System not able to quickly shift heat from industrial process to electricity generation | The NPP heat transport system taking a while to shift. | The NRHES is briefly unable to meet the grid demand | Class II: There would be some money loss as some other electricity generation system would supply the demanded energy during the transition period | Include the time it takes to allocate heat in models of the NRHES to determine how much of a limiting factor it is likely to be. Include a battery in the NRHES | Likely |

Table 2.2: Grid Reliability Preliminary Hazard Analysis

| Potential Failure | Event Causing Hazardous Condition | Hazardous Condition | Hazard Class | Preventative Measure | Qualitative Likelihood |
|--|--|---|--|--|---|
| Materials failure in the heat transport system | NRHESs are very dynamic systems. There will likely be greater materials wear due to the dynamisticity of the system | Heat transport pipe forms a leak | Class III:There would be a loss of money due to the shutdown of the system | Reliable maintenance & appropriate choice of heat transport system materials | Possible |
| Release of Radionuclides | Radionuclides would need to escape first into the heat transport system and then from the heat transport system to the environment | A large release of airborne radionuclides | Class IV: A radiation release that could potentially impact human health would have massive negative impacts for the nuclear industry & would shut down the NRHES | Passive safety systems, excellent safety culture, good reactor design | Unlikely: Based on history of NPP operation |

 Table 2.3: Physical Preliminary Hazards Analysis

The initial economic PHA, Table 2.1, demonstrates the importance of having detailed agreements between the various members of a NRHES industrial park before construction begins. Likely, the whole system would function better under a single owner. A single owner could allow an aspect of the NRHES, such as the industrial process, to loose money and still be economic overall. Further avenues which need to be investigated before the construction of an industrial park include understanding the regulatory impacts and the long term projected worth of the products generated.

The initial grid reliability PHA, Table 2.2, demonstrates the importance of understanding how coupling an NPP to an industrial process will require a change of the scheduling approach to a nuclear power plant. Nuclear power plants require immense amounts of planning and scheduling in order to ensure safe operation of the plant. Increasing the complexity by coupling the nuclear power plant to other systems will increase the complexity of scheduling activities such as outages as well as optimizing the heat and electricity output of the system to match the grid demand.

The initial physical PHA, Table 2.3, demonstrates how, if done correctly, a thermally coupled industrial process to a nuclear power plant does not have to decrease the operational safety of the system. Since nuclear power plants already have a lot of techniques in place to ensure a safe system that will not harm the public or the environment, those same approaches should be applied to the thermally coupled system. The existing infrastructure, including the safety culture, could be extended to the thermal coupling. Thermal coupling is used throughout this thesis as the use of heat from the NPP to directly support an industrial process. Electrical coupling, for comparison, takes the electricity generated by the NPP which is then used to do electrical work or converted into heat or mechanical work to produce the desired product in the industrial process.

2.3 Analytic Hierarchy Process

The fuzzy AHP developed and applied in this research compares NRHESs that include thermal coupling to three types of industrial processes: desalination, synthetic fuel production, and hydrogen production. The AHP evaluates the profitability, flexibility, and safety characteristics in the coupling of a nuclear power plant to each of the given industrial processes. While AHP has been applied to energy systems in the literature, the application to a NRHESs is novel. An AHP approach provides important information into design considerations and quantitatively approaches, through expert opinion, which alternative is likely to be strongest given the criteria chosen. As NRHESs are currently in the research and development stage, AHP is a beneficial tool to develop for future decision making for NRHESss.

An AHP uses pairwise comparisons of various potential options depending on a set of predetermined characteristics. Originally developed in the 1970s by Thomas L. Saaty, AHP has been applied to everything from determining appropriate bridge construction [55], to the appropriate energy generation mix in Turkey [56, 57]. AHP is a multicriteria decision-making tool. There is a wealth of research applying multicriteria decision-making tools to energy planning. Pohekar et al. reviewed more than 90 published papers on multi-criteria decision making and energy planning and found AHP to be the most popular [58]. The reasons for the prevalence of AHP in energy planning, Pohekar et al. suggests, is due to its ability to:

"convert a complex problem into a simple hierarchy, flexibility, intuitive appeal, its ability to mix qualitative as well as quantitative criteria in the same decision framework and use of computational aids leading to successful decisions in many domains.[58]"

Some of the previous applications of AHP to energy systems noted in Pohekar et al. include Akash et al. 1999; and Ramanathan et al. 1995. Akash et al. uses AHP to analyze the selection of power plants in Jordan [59]. Ramanathan et al. applies AHP at a household level in India to determine which energy resources work best for various tasks in the home such as heating, water pumping, lighting, and household appliances [60].

The general process for applying AHP involves initially determining a set of alternatives and a set of criteria on which to compare the alternatives. The hierarchy comes from the objective being structured above the criteria, which is then structured above the alternatives, as can be seen in figure 2.1. To find the relative value of one of the alternatives over the other, the AHP approach develops a series of pairwise comparisons creating a ratio scale. Generally AHP is performed on a scale of one to nine. After creating the ratio scale, the AHP approach applies an eigenvalue method to include the relative weights of each of the criteria to each of the elements. Finally, the relative weights are combined with the ratios forming one measurement to compare the various elements.



Figure 2.1: The overall hierarchy of the industrial processes under evaluation for inclusion in the NRHES

The AHP not only provides insight into which is the best overall choice given the inputs and weights, but also which is the strongest candidate for each of the criterion. During the AHP process, before aggregating the values into one measurement, there are clear measurements of each of the alternatives in each of the criterion. The subjective nature of expert judgment as data requires a means of evaluation. As a check on the validity of the data, a traditional AHP measures the consistency of the values given by the experts using a Consistency Ratio, which needs to be less than 0.1, or 10%, in order to be considered consistent. The Consistency Ratio compares the randomness of the expert judgments to a Random Consistency Index [57]. If the consistency ratio is greater than 0.1, the data is judged to be too close to random.

2.4 Fuzzy AHP

Fuzzy logic applied to AHP takes into consideration the uncertainty inherent in a small number of expert opinions. Fuzzy AHP is an extension of the original AHP developed by Saaty in the 1970s [57]. Since Saaty's original development of AHP, multiple means of fuzzy AHP have emerged. Some notable fuzzy AHP approaches, as noted in [56] include:

- Van Laarhoven and Pedrycz's approach from 1983 using triangular membership functions
- Buckley's 1985 use of trapezoidal membership functions to determine fuzzy priorities
- Cheng's 1997 approach focused on the grade value of the membership function.
- Kahraman et al. generated a fuzzy weighted evaluation [56]
- Chang presented a new approach first determining triangular fuzzy numbers, then applying extent analysis method [61]

In the Buckley approach to fuzzy AHP, which is applied in this paper, α represents a value between zero and one reflecting the uncertainty. Uncertainty is greatest when α is close to zero and least when close to one. As can be seen in figure 2.2, in a trapezoidal membership approach, the lower left point of the triangle, where α equals zero, is the minimum fuzzy number, the points making up the middle represent the most likely fuzzy number, and the point at a y value of zero on the right represents the maximum fuzzy number [55]. The higher the fuzzy number on the x axis, the more important that criteria is, or the stronger the alternative.

As described in [56], after receiving the numbers from the decision makers, the fuzzy weight can be found by determining the geometric mean for each row in each of the AHP matrices:

$$z_i = [\prod_{j=1}^n t_{ij}]^{\frac{1}{n}},\tag{2.1}$$



Figure 2.2: Representation of the meaning behind the membership function graph for the fuzzy numbers

where $t_{ij} = (a_{ij}, b_{ij}, c_{ij}, d_{ij})$ correspond to the fuzzy values in Table 2.4. *n* is the number of values in each row. For example, if three experts were taking a survey with three pairwise comparisons, there would be nine total answers in each row. To find the performance scores (r), first sum each of the geometric means in each row, then weight each of the values accordingly:

$$r_{ij} = \left(\frac{a_i}{d}, \frac{b_i}{c}, \frac{c_i}{b}, \frac{d_i}{a}\right) \tag{2.2}$$

To find the fuzzy utility:

$$U_i = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j * r_{ij},$$
(2.3)

where w is the weight found by the comparison of the importance of the various criteria to one another. To find the membership function M(x), take the lowest value of the utility set and set the membership function to zero. For the middle values of the utility set, the membership function is one. For all values greater than the greatest member of the utility set, the membership function is zero. For a utility set (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4)

2.5 EXPERT AHP SURVEY

The objective for the expert AHP survey is to determine the optimal industrial process to include in a generic NRHES industrial park based on three criteria. The industrial process options are desalination, Table 2.4: The different x values correspond to the values on the y axis of the graph shown in figure 2.2. When the likelihood of a certain fuzzy number being correct is very low, the y value is zero. When it is more likely, the y value is one.

| x | M(x) |
|---------------------|---------------------|
| $\leq x_1$ | 0 |
| $\geq x_4$ | 0 |
| $x_2 \le x \le x_3$ | 1 |
| $x_1 \le x \le x_2$ | $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ |
| $x_3 \le x \le x_4$ | $\alpha \in [0,1]$ |

Description Values Inverse Equal (1, 1, 1, 1)(1, 1, 1, 1)Equal Importance (1/2, 3/4, 5/4, 3/2)(2/3, 4/5, 4/3, 2)Weak Importance (1, 3/2, 5/2, 3)(1/3, 2/5, 2/3, 1) $(1/4, 2/\overline{7, 2/5, 1/2})$ (2, 5/2, 7/2, 4)Strong Importance Verv Strong (5, 11/2, 13/2, 7)(1/7, 2/11, 2/13, 1/5)Importance Absolutely Strong (7, 15/2, 17/2, 9)(1/9, 2/17, 2/15, 1/7)Importance

 Table 2.5: Fuzzy Logic Value Mapping

high temperature steam electrolysis for hydrogen production, and synthetic fuel production. The criteria the options are judged on are flexibility, safety, and profitability. The optimal way to perform an Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) is to gather a group of experts with complementary specializations in a general field to discuss the relative values of various options under determined criteria. For example, performing an AHP to determine the optimal industrial process in a NRHES would best be done by gathering a group of experts in NRHESs with specialties in understanding each of the specific industrial processes. The group could discuss the relative values to give to each of the alternatives for a given criterion. Due to the struggles of getting a group of NRHES experts together in the same place, the values found for this research came from sending a survey to experts. Other AHP evaluations employ similar methods[55]. For this research, an expert is defined as someone who has published research or reports on NRHESs.

The alternatives of desalination, hydrogen production, and synthetic fuels production were chosen due to their prominent role in research surrounding NRHESs [27, 43, 62, 63, 48, 42, 52, 28]. The criterion of flexibility was chosen as the industrial process in a NRHES will need to be able to fluctuate to adjust to change demand as well as the dynamic generation from the industrial process. The criterion of safety was chosen due to the inherent need for safety, especially within the context of the nuclear safety culture. Safety underlies both the characteristic of flexibility and profitability. If the industrial process is not safe, it will not run, and therefore the other two characteristics are negligible. Profitability was chosen due to the whole NRHES needing to be profitable in order to continue to run. The industrial process provides
a secondary source of income increasing the overall profitability of the system as a whole.

There were five experts who completed the Analytic Hierarchy Process for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System survey. Due to the small number of experts included in the survey, a fuzzy systems approach has been applied to the AHP. Tsyganok et al. determined that the expert competence should always be taken into consideration, especially when there are less than 50 experts included in the evaluation [64]. Thus, in this case, a fuzzy approach is clearly applicable due to the low number of responses.

For this research, the same NRHES with only the industrial process switched out will be compared. The assumptions for this research include:

- The process used for hydrogen production is high temperature steam electrolysis with thermal as well as electrical coupling to the nuclear power plant.
- The process for desalination is thermal desalination through distillation directly using heat from the nuclear power plant.
- The synthetic fuel process is a Fischer-Tropsch method using coal as the hydrocarbon source.
- Each of the processes consumes the same amount of heat from the nuclear power plant. While this would almost certainly not be true, it does make profitability comparisons easier.
- All of the industrial processes are thermally coupled
- Regional accessibility of feedstocks for each of the industrial processes are the same
- Regional transportation costs are the same
- Regulatory and taxation costs are the same

As can be seen in Table 2.7, the scale for the answers for the second part of the question, Q1b and Q2b, ranged from two to nine. In the initial question the expert determines which of the alternatives better fits the criteria. If the two alternatives were judged to equally answer the question, then a value of 1 was assigned to the relative importance of both. Table 2.7 displays the relative values for each of the characteristics considered in the AHP. The values are chosen on a scale of one to nine, with the industrial process strongly reflecting that characteristic receiving a nine and the characteristic relatively less reflecting those characteristics receiving appropriate smaller numbers. While the safety of the system is in reality the most important characteristic, as it is the foundation which the economic and grid reliability characteristics rely on, the safety issues are the easiest to mitigate and the most well known.

Table 2.6: Example of questions given in the Expert AHP survey

Questions included in the expert AHP survey:

Q1a: Do you think that the flexibility, is more important
than profitability of an industrial process?
Q1b: From 2 to 9, how would you compare the importance of
safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate?
Q2a: Do you think that the flexibility, is more important than
profitability of an industrial process?
Q2b: From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance
of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate?

| Quantitative Value | Explanation | Verbal Judgement |
|--------------------|---|---------------------------------|
| 1 | They are equally important or equally meet the criterion | Equally more important |
| 2 | Experience and judgement favor one alternative over the other by a small margin | Weakly more important |
| 3 | Experience and judgement moderately favor one alternative over the other | Weakly more important |
| 4 | Experience and judgement clearly favor one alternative over the other | Strongly more important |
| 5 | Experience and judgement strongly favor one alternative over the other | Strongly more important |
| 6 | Practice suggests moderate preference for one alternative over the other | Very strongly more important |
| 7 | One alternative is favored very strongly over the other and has been shown in practice | Very strongly more important |
| 8 | It is fairly clear that, in practice one alternative is better than the other | Absolutely more important |
| 9 | The evidence favoring one alternative over the other is of the highest possible affirmation | Absolutely more important |

Table 2.7: AHP Scale Description

2.6 AHP RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

As can be seen in Table 2.8, the utility set values which comprise the membership function are highest for desalination. The utility set generates the weighted value for each of the alternatives using the geometric mean method discussed above. The higher the utility number, the x axis value in the membership function shown in graph 2.3, the greater the value. Therefore, desalination is the best option as it has a higher utility value of the options for an industrial process given the criteria. As can be seen in Table 2.9, safety clearly was prioritized. Due to the high value placed on safety, and the sense that desalination is safer than the alternatives, it follows that it has a greater fuzzy number. Clearly, the heavy weight placed on safety played a major role in determining the outcome.

While AHP provides a means to compare various options and criteria, it is limited by not including vital information surrounding when a certain standard has been met. In the case of this research, safety and flexibility standards could have been fully met by all of the industrial processes. Safety, instead of being a relative point of comparison, may be better treated as a set of standards to be achieved, such as those presented in the International Organization for Standardization standards for cogeneration [65]. While desalination is perceived to be a safer industrial process, that does not mean that a synthetic fuel upgrading system or a high temperature steam electrolysis plant is unsafe to couple to a nuclear power plant. The fact that desalination is perceived as safer and more able to fluctuate becomes negligible at that point. AHP is a beneficial tool when determining the relative value between alternatives. For example, profitability is a valuable characteristic to compare on relative terms.

NRHESs are difficult systems to have a fully developed sense of expertise surrounding. Due to the industrial parks including different components as well as the importance of including technical, economic, and political variables in the decision making. While an AHP is a valuable tool because it is able to include a variety of characteristics from different disciplines, there need to be experts representing each of the disciplines. Furthermore, the more experts included in the survey, the stronger the data and the more likely a valid conclusion can be drawn from the data.

| Industrial Process | Utility Set |
|------------------------|------------------------------|
| Desalination | (0.412, 0.641, 1.291, 1.891) |
| Hydrogen Production | (0.029, 0.047, 0.084, 0.136) |
| Synthetic Fuels | (0.086, 0.128, 0.265, 0.437) |

Table 2.8: Utility Set values for each of the industrial processes

Table 2.9: Performance Scores of Safety for the various industrial processes included.

| Industrial Process | Safety Performance Score |
|--------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Desalination | (0.309, 0.424, 0.708, 0.917) |
| Hydrogen | $(0.118 \ 0.169 \ 0.977 \ 0.300)$ |
| Production | (0.113, 0.102, 0.211, 0.390) |
| Synthetic Fuels | (0,120, 0,181, 0,217, 0,450) |
| Production | (0.139, 0.161, 0.317, 0.439) |
| | |

| Industrial | flexibility |
|--------------|------------------------------|
| Process | Performance Scores |
| Desalination | (0.328, 0.436, 0.687, 0.868) |
| Hydrogen | (0.183, 0.234, 0.365, 0.406) |
| Production | (0.105, 0.254, 0.505, 0.490) |
| Synthetic | (0.104, 0.120, 0.100, 0.262) |
| Fuels | (0.104, 0.129, 0.199, 0.202) |

Table 2.10: Flexibility Performance Scores for the various industrial processes included.

Table 2.11: Profitability Performance Scores for the various industrial processes included.

| Industrial | Profitability |
|--------------|------------------------------|
| Process | Performance Scores |
| Desalination | (0.110, 0.146, 0.206, 0.271) |
| Hydrogen | (0.210, 0.282, 0.425, 0.544) |
| Production | (0.210, 0.202, 0.423, 0.344) |
| Synthetic | (0.207, 0.383, 0.602, 0.805) |
| Fuels | (0.297, 0.383, 0.002, 0.803) |

Table 2.12: Fuzzy weights of each of the criteria. Clearly, safety is weighted most heavily and flexibility is weighted the least.

| Industrial Process | Fuzzy Weights |
|-------------------------|------------------------------|
| Safety | (0.552, 0.637, 0.806, 0.919) |
| Ability to Fluctuate | (0.057, 0.069, 0.079, 0.095) |
| Profitability | (0.159, 0.185, 0.237, 0.286) |

As can be seen in figure 2.3, the membership function for desalination is clearly the highest. As can be seen in the performance score table, synthetic fuels upgrading was perceived as both safer and more profitable than hydrogen production, resulting in the generally higher membership function values for the synthetic fuels production. As discussed above, it is possible that all three industrial processes meet a certain threshold of safety and flexibility. In terms of profitability, synthetic fuels upgrading was the highest, followed by hydrogen production, with desalination coming in at a distant third as can be seen in the profitability performance score table.



Figure 2.3: A figure displaying the fuzzy utility function for the three industrial processes. The furthest to the right has the highest importance. Clearly Desalination has the greatest fuzzy number.

| Pairwise Criteria | 1st Expert | 2nd Expert | 3rd Expert | 4th Expert | 5th Expert |
|---|------------------|------------------|------------|------------------|------------------|
| Safety vs Flexibility | Safety: 6 | Safety: 9 | Safety: 8 | Safety: 6 | Safety: 7 |
| Safety vs Profitability | Safety: 8 | Safety: 8 | Safety: 8 | Equal | Safety: 7 |
| Ability to Fluctuate vs Profitability | Profitability: 8 | Profitability: 7 | Equal | Profitability: 8 | Profitability: 4 |

Table 2.13: AHP Survey answers for determining the relative importance of different criteria

2.7 AHP CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

AHP should be used early in the design and decision making process to determine the best options given a set of criteria. Unlike other systems which can be compared to experimental setups, AHP evaluates systems which cannot have large scale experiments. Given the criteria of safety, flexibility, and profitability a multi-stage flash distillation system appears to be the best choice in a generic setup when compared with synthetic fuels upgrading and hydrogen production from high temperature steam electrolysis. In future work applying AHP to NRHES configurations, considerations such as access to feedstocks, for example water and hydrocarbons, will likely play a large role in determining the industrial process incorporated.

Future work on applying AHP to NRHESs would include many more criteria, subcriteria, and alternatives which are important to evaluate on a relative basis. Criteria such as emissions, a key driver for NRHESs, would be important to consider before determining the optimal industrial process for a given industrial park. Other criteria such as likely regulatory barriers and state of development of the industrial process technology would also be valuable to include in future research.

CHAPTER 3: THERMAL VERSUS ELECTRICAL COUPLING

Two primary motivations drive the exergy analysis described below. The primary motivation behind this research is to demonstrate the differences in revenue generated between thermally and electrically coupling water purification systems to nuclear power plants in a NRHES configuration. An additional motivation is Arizona Public Service (APS), which owns about 29% of Palo Verde Generating Station (PV) as well as operates the power plant, is evaluating electrically coupling a reverse osmosis system. The RO system will allow Palo Verde to vary the amount of electricity sent to the electric grid while generating water to meet the power plant's own water requirements in addition to increasing the water resources available for communities in the surrounding region.

Due to a high penetration of solar energy, Arizona is an ideal setting to examine the possibilities of a NRHES. Arizona has been a leader in implementing solar electricity. In 2013, Arizona produced 23.4% of all US solar generation and 1.9% of the electricity within the state. By 2016, solar in Arizona nearly doubled production to 3.4% of the total electricity for the state. The state also has a renewable portfolio standard requiring 15% renewable energy by 2025 from regulated utilities[66], including APS. With an increasing penetration of solar in the state, other sources of generation will have to operate more flexibly to account for the variable generation. Furthermore, when California produces more electricity than that state demands, much of the overproduction is sent to Arizona either for free or California pays Arizona to take the overproduction [67]. The overproduction of electricity by variable sources is only likely to increase with the California Legislature's mandate that half of the state's electricity come from renewable sources by 2030 [67] and Arizona's ballot measure to raise the states renewable energy standard to demand 50% of utility electricity come from renewables by 2030 [68].

PV generates more electricity than any other power plant in the entire United States. In January 2018, Palo Verde produced 36.37% of Arizona's power [69]. As such a large contributor to the Arizona grid, Palo Verde fluctuating could counterbalance the large shifts in solar power generated during the day and unavailable during the evening and night hours. The motivation for PV is to ensure the plant is not loosing money by selling electricity for less then it costs the plant to generate during certain times in the day. Palo Verde has a zero discharge water cycle. Zero discharge means that, unlike most nuclear power plants that release heated water into a body of water, all of the water at Palo Verde either stays at the power plant forever or is evaporated from the evaporation ponds or the cooling towers. The power plant uses waste water from Phoenix's 91st avenue treatment facility and Tolleson's water treatment facility. At the time of Palo Verde's initial operation in 1986, the treated water was not worth very much, but with the increasing unavailability of water and population growth in Arizona, water has become more

valuable [70]. Arizona has significant amounts of brackish groundwater that could be pumped up from underground aquifers and used in place of the treated waste water currently in use at Palo Verde. The general composition of Arizona's brackish groundwater can be seen in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: The Components of Brackish Groundwater in Central Arizona Centerra Well from [2]

| Material | Mole Percent |
|-----------|--------------|
| Calcium | 7.32E-3 |
| Magnesium | 5.11E-3 |
| Sodium | 3.24E-2 |
| Sulfate | 9.47E-3 |
| Barium | 5.25E-6 |
| Nitrate | 5.20E-4 |
| Flouride | 6.64E-5 |
| Arsenic | 7.21E-8 |
| Water | 99.9 |

Palo Verde is pursuing a water purification facility in order to ensure a reliable and cost effective source of water for the power plant while also providing the surrounding communities with sufficient water to sustain growth. While Palo Verde is planning an electrically coupled reverse osmosis system, it is worth knowing what kind of water output would be expected from a thermally coupled system for future plants interested in pursuing desalination and water purification. Furthermore, it provides an initial model and point of reference for determining the benefits of thermally coupling as compared to electrically coupling water purification systems. Having seven separate owners has led Palo Verde in the direction of an electrically coupled RO system, as discussed below. Since APS owns about 29.1% of the facility, it owns about 29.1% of the load generated from the facility. APS has a total entitlement of about 1146 MW from Palo Verde [71]. APS can allocate the electrical load it owns as desired to the RO system in order to flexibly operate the electric load it sells to the grid as well as to ensure lower costs of water for the power plant. Even if using waste heat, thermal coupling to a reactor would impact the power cycle of the plant, as discussed in the results. Thermally coupling any industrial process to a nuclear power plant, will require changes in the power cycle. To have sufficient heat for even a low temperature process, some heat will have to be taken away from power generation. To avoid the complications of determining the technical as well as policy implications of thermally coupling with six owners, APS is opting for simplicity by pursuing an exclusively electrically coupled system [70].

This analysis will focus on three major benefits of coupling Palo Verde to a water purification system. One of the primary benefits is load following by sending excess power at times when electricity is cheap to produce clean water. Second, the system can optimally use the heat produced by the reactor to produce the greatest revenue. Finally, by APS owning the means of water production, the cost of water would be easier to predict and reliable.

The literature review presented at the beginning of this thesis revealed a notable gap in the current research modeling the benefits gained from thermally coupling compared to electrically coupling industrial processes. Thermal coupling refers to using the heat directly from the NPP in industrial processes as opposed to generating electricity, which is then used by industrial processes. Fully determining the benefits of thermal coupling requires complicated analyses that are beyond the scope of this research. The full answer requires research focused on particular projects including economic, technical, as well as political and cultural factors. The goal for this research is to address some of the possible thermodynamic and economic benefits of thermally coupling nuclear power to a water purification system at a high level focusing strictly on revenue.

The major drawbacks of thermally coupling any industrial process to a NPP are the increase in system complexity and the lack of experience in the domain. While there are cases of thermal coupling of nuclear power plants internationally, in Norway, Switzerland, Germany, and Canada [29], nuclear thermal couplings are as of yet undeveloped in the United States. The low state of development as well as the lack of experimental data in the United States has created a lack of data and maturity of experience as a base for building such systems. The uncertain regulatory environment regarding thermally coupled NRHESs and whether they fall under the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)'s umbrella also discourages development.

The success of thermally coupled systems requires that their efficiency benefits be greater than the costs associated with developing and operating thermal coupling nuclear generation and co-locating industrial processes. An exergy analysis of both the electrically coupled and thermally coupled industrial processes provides a quantitative measure of the thermodynamic benefits of thermally coupling. The fuzzy AHP analysis concluded that, given the characteristics of safety, flexibility, and profitability, the optimal industrial process is desalination. Based on this analysis, the exergy evaluation will focus on two desalination systems. The thermally coupled system in this analysis is MSF distillation, which will be compared to an electrically coupled RO system. The research concludes that, while thermally coupling is thermodynamically better, electrically coupling has significant benefits in terms of flexibility, modularity, and is fairly close in thermodynamic exergy values when not much water is required.

3.1 Exergy Analysis Background

The concept of exergy is helpful for analyzing the energy allocation in a system. Exergy, also known as availability, describes the energy available in the system for doing work. Exergy has the same units as energy, most commonly Joules. Exergy destruction occurs when energy is either used for doing work or through inefficiencies in the system. By evaluating where exergy is destroyed and the economic value the product of the exergy destruction, in this case either electricity or clean water, a hybrid energy system can be optimized for revenue. An exergy analysis can identify available exergy that used to be released into the environment that could instead be used to do the work required in a water purification system.

Exergy describes the useful energy in a system for generating work. The first and second laws of thermodynamics clarify that not all the energy generated in a system can be converted into usable work. The first law describes how energy cannot be created or destroyed, it can only be converted into a different form. For example, chemical combustion in a fire produces heat and light. The second law states that entropy can only increase in a system. Entropy is often thought of as the amount of randomness in a system. Having disorder or randomness in a system requires energy that cannot be used to generate work. The entropy of a system is the energy used in the system working towards reaching a state of equilibrium. For example, assuming a system is a room at 70°F with a glass of ice in it, some energy will go towards bringing the glass to the same temperature as the surrounding environment. This energy is called the entropy in the system. Some energy always goes towards the entropy in the system, making it unusable, for example, to produce electricity.

Exergy can be a more descriptive metric than energy loss as it describes how close a system is to an ideal design with the least physical possible energy losses across the system. In order to determine the maximum possible energy efficiency of a power cycle requires finding the Carnot efficiency $\eta_{Carnot} = 1 - \frac{T_0}{T}$. The Carnot efficiency describes the maximum possible output of a system. It is physically impossible for the Carnot efficiency to equal 100%. Anything above the Carnot efficiency of a cycle, which is the ideal theoretic output of a system, which would be a perpetual motion machine. Systems will always lose energy through entropy. The exergy efficiency describes how much of the energy available to do work is transferred by the system into useful work or how effective the cycle is designed to extract all of the available energy. The exergy analysis in this research evaluates the exergy lost in the power cycle as well as the exergy lost when using the pumps. The exergy analysis can then be combined with an economic analysis determining when the greatest value is generated for each unit of exergy destroyed. For this project, the exergy analysis will include the components modeled in Palo Verde's Rankine Power Cycle as well as the water purification systems.

In an ideal reversible process, no exergy would be lost or entropy generated. Reversible processes are ideal processes that can restore the system to its initial state when the process is reversed without any external energy added to the system. No processes are fully reversible in reality. Irreversible processes increase the entropy in the system, thereby removing some of the exergy in the system. Finding where exergy is destroyed in a system can help indicate where losses are occurring. By applying an economic exergy analysis, the system can be optimized so that the exergy losses are incurred in the most valuable way possible.

The basic mass exergy equation of a system is [72]:

$$\Delta X = (U - U_0) + p_0(V - V_0) - T_0(S - S_0) + KE + PE$$
(3.1)

Where ΔX is the change in the exergy of the system from the exergy reference environment in kJ. Exergy is rarely based off of a state of 0 K, but is instead a reference value as compared to some environment from which it differs. U is the internal energy of the system and U_0 is the reference internal energy of the system both in kJ. p_0 is the reference pressure of the system in kPa, V is the volume of the system and V_0 is the volume of the reference environment both in m^3 . T_0 is the reference environment temperature given in K, S is the entropy of the system and S_0 is the entropy of the reference environment in $\frac{kJ}{K}$. KEis the kinetic energy of the system in kJ equal to $\frac{1}{2}m * v^2$ where m is mass and v is the velocity of the system. PE is the potential energy in kJ equal to mgh where g is the gravitational constant and h is the height of the system. The specific exergy of the system, or the exergy of the system not including the mass, is displayed as x. To find the specific exergy of the system, each of the elements in the equation are divided by the mass, which is in kg in this case. Specific thermodynamic properties differ from mass thermodynamic properties in that the specific values are characteristics of the materials regardless of mass. The resulting equation for internal exergy is:

$$\Delta x = (u - u_0) + p_0(v - v_0) - T_0(s - s_0) + \frac{1}{2}v^2 + gh$$
(3.2)

The elements now represent the specific values of the system with the same units as above but per unit mass as opposed to the mass dependent variables shown in equation 3.1. For this research, the mass based values will be neglected, focusing instead specifically on the internal exergy values. The internal exergy differences thoroughly describe the system. The mass transfer within either the power cycle or the water purification systems does not provide any extra insight into the relative magnitude of exergy loss in the various components. The kinetic energy term, $\frac{1}{2}v^2$, is negligible due to the relatively low velocity of the system making the KE small compared to the other terms in the equation thus ignorable. The potential energy element, gh, is negligible throughout the system. The enthalpy, h, of a system, or the total heat content of the system, is equivalent to the specific internal energy plus the pressure multiplied by the change in specific volume. Put mathematically:

$$\Delta h = (u - u_0) + p_0(v - v_0) \tag{3.3}$$

Including enthalpy in place of the first two elements in equation 3.2 as well as removing the last two elements leaves the specific exergy equation, which is applied in this research, as simply:

$$\Delta x = (h - h_0) - T_0(s - s_0) \tag{3.4}$$

3.1.1 Relevant Exergy Analysis Research

Boldon et al. have already performed an initial exergy analysis on a NRHES, assuming a SMR [73]. Boldon et al. discuss the value of combining exergy and economics to analyze costs associated with exergetic losses. The assumptions in the Boldon et al. paper include a steady state system with a constant grid output of 245 MWe. The nuclear plant is both thermally and electrically coupled to a High Temperature Steam Electrolysis industrial process. After performing the thermodynamic exergy analysis, Boldon et al. incorporate costs of resources and operations, enabling them to assign an exergetic unit cost to each of the components in the system.

The exergy analysis in this paper differs from Bolden et al. by analyzing an existing large nuclear power plant, focusing on water purification methods, including a quasi dynamic analysis, and, most importantly, focusing on revenues as opposed to costs. An exergoeconomic cost analysis can provide relevant information to determining the price of the products generated, but it does not include the known values for the price of the products. The revenue derived from the products of the system will dictate the \$/exergy as opposed to the costs of the system.

An exergetic analysis of the Kalundborg industrial ecosystem, a non nuclear hybrid energy system, evaluates the streams going into and out of the Asnaes power plant [74]. Valero et al. contrast the exergy of the coupled system with an uncoupled system. As can be seen in figure 3.1, the Kalundborg industrial ecosystem is comprised of the Statoil refinery, the Asnaes coal power plant, the Novo Group pharmaceutical company, district heating for local residents, the Gyproc plasterboard manufacturer, as well as a fish farm and the Aalborg Portland cement company. The major exergetic gains for the system come from sharing process heat from the natural gas from the refinery, district heating, heating the fish farm, and using clinker (a coal plant byproduct) to produce cement [74]. The overall reduction in irreversibilities annually from coupling the systems at Kalundborg amounts to approximately 1476 GWh/year, the equivalent of the annual production of a 170.235 MW power plant. By comparing the



Figure 3.1: This figure displays the two cases evaluated in Valero et al.: (a) shows the industrial ecosystem in the current coupled form and (b) shows the second case where there is no coupling.

exergy of a coupled system with the separate industrial processes, the Kalundborg example provides insight into the thermodynamic and economic benefits of co-locating processes. Figure 3.1 displays the two different approaches taken; first evaluating the exergy of the combined systems, then evaluating the separate processes.

3.1.2 Multi-Stage Flash Distillation

As the NRHESs evaluated for this thesis includes a MSF distillation system, a brief review of a MSF distillation exergy analysis is included. Kahraman et al. performed an exergy analysis on a large MSF plant [5]. MSF distillation requires heat ranging from 80 to 120 degrees Celsius, making it possible to use high temperature waste heat from a nuclear power plant to desalinate or purify the water. In general, the waste heat coming from a nuclear power plant is significantly below 100°C. Extra heat would thus need to be sent to the environment, in this case the MSF process, in order for the waste heat to fully power the MSF process. The same processes, RO and MSF, can be used for both water purification and desalination, so the terms can be used fairly interchangeably. In the case of Palo Verde, the system is a water purification system for brackish groundwater. In the exergy analysis, Kahraman et al. takes the temperature of the salinated water to be the assumed reference environmental conditions for the system, making the initial exergy zero. Similarly, in the exergy performed in this thesis, the assumed

reference environmental conditions are taken as the temperature of the water intake. Kahraman et al.'s exergy analysis includes finding the exergy of the heat exchanger and four pumps in the system, as well as calculating the difference in exergies between the incoming water and the exiting pure water. The analysis is used to find the overall exergy efficiency and determine where to reduce exergy destruction in the system.

Figure 3.2 displays where exergy is destroyed in the MSF system. Clearly the majority (77.7%) of the exergy is destroyed in the MSF distillation system itself. Other sources of irreversibilities include the inefficiencies and losses due to the pumps and heat exchangers as well as the final release of the waste brine water to the environment. The exergy destroyed in the MSF system went to a process that produced a valuable product. The other sources of exergy destruction are physically necessary losses with no economic benefits. In the economic exergy study performed in this thesis, the exergy destruction will be evaluated based on its economic value. Both generating pure water in the MSF system as well as producing and using electricity for the reverse osmosis system result in exergy destruction.



Figure 3.2: The Multi-Stage Flash exergy analysis diagram showing where exergy is lost in the system. This exergy diagram was published in [5]

MSF is a common thermal desalination system, making up about 21% of the total worldwide installed capacity as can be seen in figure 3.3. In an MSF system, salt water or brackish water is flash evaporated, then condensed repeatedly in order to remove unwanted particulates. As can be seen in figure 3.4, brackish water has more salinity or impurities than fresh water, but not as much as sea water. MSF

can produce clean water in large quantities, with plants in Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates having capacities of 600,000-880,000 m^3/day [75]. In general, an MSF system works by passing sea water or brackish water through a series of chambers, each with successively lower temperature and pressure. The water is quickly flashed, or vaporized. The water, without the brine, is then condensed, forming freshwater. The stages can range widely, depending on the concentration of the feedwater brine and the desired state of purity for the freshwater. Standard sizes for fairly large MSF arrays range from 21 to 50 stages. Generally, MSF distillation is a mature technology used for high capacity desalination systems. The major benefit of MSF as compared to other water purification methods is the high level of purity of the water.



Source: GWI DesalData / IDA

Figure 3.3: This pie chart from [6] shows the overall total installed capacities of each of the technologies used for desalination. The six technologies shown represent Reverse Osmosis (RO), Multistage Flash (MSF), Multiple-effect distillation (MED), Electrodialysis Reversal (ED/EDR), and Nanofiltration (NF)

In a multi-stage flash system, it is important to keep the temperature relatively low, no greater than 120 °C, in order to minimize fouling. Fouling and scaling are serious considerations for MSF systems. Generally, fouling refers to the unwanted deposition of compounds or organic substances on the surface of a host material (membrane, heat exchanger, condenser, etc)[76]. Scaling is when a surface is entirely covered with a mineral film coating. In [75] the twelve case studies range from 95 °C to 105 °C. For a more complete range of possible temperatures, this research will analyze temperatures from 80 °C to 120 °C. The largest MSF plant produces about 728, $000 \frac{m^3}{dau}$.



Figure 3.4: This figure displays the differences between different water qualities. The groundwater in Arizona qualifies as brackish [2]. This image is from [7]

3.1.3 Reverse Osmosis

Reverse osmosis is a type of electrically driven membrane desalination or filtration process. It can remove tiny particles of sizes ranging down to 50-200 daltons [77]. It has relatively high applied pressure values ranging between 1-5 MPa. In general, the reverse osmosis system works due to the osmotic pressure differences between salt water or brackish water and pure water. During the RO process, salt water or brackish water is forced through membranes under pressure, separating the feedwater into a pure water stream and a stream with a high concentration of impurities. Generally, about 4kWh is required for every cubic meter of clean water [77]. About 48% of reverse osmosis systems are used with brackish water [77]. The largest sea water reverse osmosis desalination plant in the world is in Israel and produces about $624,000 \frac{m^3}{day}$. The amount of water produced by the RO facilities in this study is significantly greater than the output of the largest facility in the world. The goal for this research is to determine the relative potential outputs of the various configurations, not the realistic values.

3.2 Methodology

The exergy analysis performed here will assume a simplified model of the Palo Verde Rankine power cycle, seen in figure 3.5, and compare a process heat MSF distillation system to a RO system. First, the \$/exergy cost of an MSF system will be evaluated using the process heat from a nuclear power plant. Then the same process will be applied to the exergy costs of the RO system, which strictly uses electricity. Traditionally an economic exergy analysis, also known as an exergonomic or thermoeconomic analysis, evaluates the most costly exergy losses in a system. In this case each of the components in the power cycle and industrial process would be evaluated based on their capital and maintenance costs as well as the specific exergy losses associated with the process. This is commonly referred to as the Specific Exergy Costing (SPECO) approach. In this case, the motivation behind coupling with an industrial process is not minimizing the costs of generation, but instead optimizing the profit. Evaluating the economics of the exercy losses associated with each of the components of the system does not answer the fundamental question of which system will generate the greatest profit given a fluctuating price for electricity and ever increasing price for water. The exergy losses in the RO system comes from the exergy destroyed in the pumps and is added to the exergy loss required to generate the electricity. The economic values for the system will come from the value of the electricity generated plus the value of the water generated. While the exergy analysis performed in this research does not include the capital, operations, and maintenance costs of the two systems, it does suggest what the differences are likely to be between the two systems. It does so by demonstrating how each pump added to the RO system reduces the overall revenue per unit of exergy.

A simplified model of the PV power cycle is constructed using Aspen HYSYS. Since the goal in this research is to evaluate the differences in the water purification systems, not the exergy losses in the power cycle, the power cycle model primarily serves to demonstrate how thermally coupling a system impacts the system as a whole. While a more precise model of the PV would provide more precise results, the goal of this project is to show the relative benefits of multiple water purification approaches. The overall exergy lost is the same throughout the power cycle; the losses can generate either electricity or water.

3.2.1 Aspen HYSYS

Aspen HYSYS is process simulation software used primarily by the oil and gas industry. In general, process simulation software calculates material and energy balances for a whole plant or process unit. Process simulation software can be used to size the various components in a system for the desired outcome in terms of quality and quantity of product. Aspen HYSYS calculates heat and mass balances,



Figure 3.5: Palo Verde's simplified Rankine cycle used for this research. The overall efficiency of the system is about 32%, which is a reasonable approximation of the Palo Verde Power cycle. The turbines are yellow, meaning warning, because of the liquid entering the turbines. In reality, the turbines can still function with some liquid

thermodynamic data and equilibrium conditions, sizes equipment, and can do economic optimization and dynamic simulation [78]. In this model, Aspen HYSYS calculates the overall thermodynamic and mass flow values of the Palo Verde power cycle as well as the multistage flash distillation process. The thermodynamic values, such as enthalpy, entropy, temperature, and pressure can then be used to determine the exergy of the system using a User Variable in the system.

First, as can be seen in figure 3.5, determining the exergy analysis required initially building the Palo Verde power cycle using Aspen HYSYS and then coupling it to both a MSF and RO water purification systems. The configurations for the MSF and RO systems can be seen in figures 3.6 and 3.7 respectively. After the building the model, in order to find the \$/exergy in the power cycle and the water purification system required using a combination of user variables within Aspen HYSYS as well as spreadsheet calculations, as can be seen in Appendix B. Then, after finding the exergy values, in order to determine the optimal temperature of water required adjusting the temperature of the water sent to the heat exchanger with the MSF system.

Doing an economic analysis evaluating the \$/exergy requires knowing the amount of product sold as well as the value of the product. The cost of water for Palo Verde in 2018 is \$130.00 per acre-foot, which comes out to about \$0.105 per cubic meter of water [70]. The water Palo Verde consumes is cheap compared to the residential cost of water in Tucson which was about \$1.42 per cubic meter in 2017[79]. The best value available for the wholesale value of Palo Verde's electricity is from 2007 at 6.33 cents per kWh, which is equal to about 8 cents per kWh in 2018 dollars including inflation over the past 11 years. The actual value of the electricity varies over a day depending on the supply of electricity and



Figure 3.6: The distillation column used to represent the multi-stage flash system along with key important metrics for the various components.



Figure 3.7: The energy used for an RO system is directed almost entirely to the pumps used. The three pumps shown here represent off-the-shelf pumps used in Reverse Osmosis systems

grid demand. The highest wholesale price paid per MWh in the Palo Verde Southwest price hub was \$165. The lowest wholesale price paid per MWh in the Palo Verde Southwest price hub was \$13.50

[8]. The \$80 per MWh price assumed in this research is on the high side, but still within the range. The actual wholesale price of electricity for Palo Verde is confidential information, so the price values are approximations. In Arizona's case, the value of the electricity over the course of a day is largely influenced by the amount of solar supply available to the grid from both Arizona and California. The fluctuation in power demand for APS will be taken into consideration using RAVEN to generate demand data for a generic day in each season.

3.2.2 Fluctuating Electricity Output

The definition of a regulating and supplemental reserve of electricity differs depending on the region and Independent System Operator (ISO). The Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO), which manages most of Ontario, Canada's grid maintains that spinning reserve, such as nuclear plants, to be considered operating reserve, or 10-minute spinning, must make energy available within 10 minutes of the contingency so that the supply matches the demand[80]. NPPs traditionally are unable to fulfill a role as regulating or supplemental reserve because of the inability to ramp to full power quickly. With an MSF system, the NPP still may be unable to switch the process heat fast enough to meet the IESO's definition. The European Utility Requirements require that an NPP be capable of daily load cycling operation between 50% and 100%. The European pressurized water reactor must satisfy maneuverability requirements, including being able to have planned variations in energy output between 25% and 100% [3]. There are several nuclear power plants which are already manipulating the amount of load they send to the grid. Energy Northwest is reducing the amount of load it sends to the grid to 80% of capacity when there is too much electricity on the grid and the price of electricity is low. Duke Energy is currently evaluating how to reduce their nuclear output to the grid, also establishing a minimum of 80% of rated capacity [81]. Since the standards are significantly different in the United States as compared to Europe. smaller fluctuations ranging from between 5% and 20% will also be evaluated for each of the cases.For this research, the water purification systems will be evaluated at 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100% of the electricity from the reactor.

3.2.3 DRINKING WATER STANDARDS

Water quality standards must be met to ensure the water produced by the purification process is of high enough quality to use in Palo Verde's power cycle as well as to sell to the public. The main consideration for the water purification system, especially if the water is planned for sale to the public, is that the water must meet the standards established by the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974. While commercial nuclear power plants dedicate a lot of resources to water chemistry and have very high standards for the water used in the plant, the standard used for this research will be that set for public consumption. The Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974 gives the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) the authority to determine drinking water standards. The EPA sets standards on over ninety contaminants in drinking water. The drinking water contaminants fall into the broad categories of microorganisms, disinfection byproducts, disinfectants, inorganic chemicals, organic chemicals, and radionuclides [82]. The make up of Arizona groundwater can be found in table 3.1. None of the contaminants found in Arizona groundwater are regulated by the Safe Drinking Water Act or are covered by the EPA's secondary drinking water standards [82]. The only overlap between the contaminants regulated by the EPA for taste and aesthetic concerns and those found in Arizona groundwater is maintaining the total dissolved solids at 500 mg/L or below. For this research, the water is assumed to be comprised of a more brackish composition than that found in table 3.1. The contaminants have been increased nine fold in the composition used in the Aspen HYSYS model, as can be seen in table 3.2. In some cases, the independent materials found in the brackish ground water were unavailable in the Aspen library. As a result, the model includes combined molecules, such as sodium sulfate and sodium nitrate to most closely proportionally match the composition found in the groundwater. Combining these molecules may result in some difference in the overall composition and the energy it takes to remove the particulates. The end product is clean water, with the model composition displaying 100% water.

| Material | Mole Percent |
|----------------|--------------|
| Calcium | 1.3E-1 |
| Magnesium | 9E-2 |
| Sodium | 5E-1 |
| Sodium-Sulfate | 1.7E-1 |
| Sodium-Nitrate | 9E-2 |
| Barium | 1E-2 |
| Water | 99.0 |

Table 3.2: Mole Composition of Brackish Groundwater Assumed in Aspen-HYSYS model

3.3 Palo Verde Power Cycle

Much of the information on the design and functioning of Palo Verde's power cycle can be found in the Updated Final Safety Analysis Report (U-FSAR), as can be seen in tables 3.3 and 3.4 made publicly available for all nuclear power plants by the NRC. Some of the key values taken from Palo Verde's U-FSAR are displayed in tables 3.3 and 3.4. The second value represents the converted value into the units used in the model of this thesis. The key difference between the model values and the Main Steam Flow Power Cycle Values is the mass flow is significantly less for the model 1616- $\frac{kg}{s}$ compared to 2200 $\frac{kg}{s}$. The mass flow value is solved for in the model. As the thermodynamic values taken for this research are specific values that do not include the mass flow, the findings should be relevant to any mass flow. Overall, while the simplified Palo Verde power cycle does not precisely model the actual power plant, it has enough similarities to suggest some trends via the exergy analysis. Since not all of the components are included in the model, the lower mass flow calculated is to be expected.

Table 3.3: Palo Verde Reactor Core Thermohydraulic Values. The first units given in the Value Given in FSAR column are the actual values found in the FSAR, while the second are the converted values into those used in the model.

| Reactor Core Values | Value Given in FSAR | Value in Model |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| Reactor Outlet Temperature | 653 °F, 345°C | $345~^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ |
| Reactor Inlet Temperature | 568 °F, 297.8 °C | $297^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ |
| Mass Flow | $164.0x10^{6}\frac{lb}{hr}$ | $20663.6\frac{kg}{s}$ |
| Pressure | 2250 psia, 15.513 MPa | 15.51 MPa |
| Power Generation | 3990 MWt | 3990 MWt |

Table 3.4: Palo Verde Main Steam Flow Power Cycle.

| Power Cycle Values | Value Given in FSAR | Values in Model |
|-------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| Steam Temperature at HX | 552.9 °F (289.4 °C) | 289.4 °C |
| Mass Flow | $17.2 - 18.1x10^{6} \frac{lb}{hr} (2154.56 - 2280.56 \frac{kg}{sec})$ | $1616 \frac{kg}{sec}$ |
| Pressure | 1070 psia (7.377 MPa) | 7.377 MPa |

There are two MSF model configurations included in this analysis. One of the configurations, as seen in figure 3.8, draws water from the end of the power cycle. As the Palo Verde Power Plant would want to minimize impact to the thermal hydraulics of the system, using the condenser and switching to passing groundwater through the system would allow for use of existing infrastructure. The second configuration, shown in figure 3.9, allows for a more efficient system that draws water straight from the steam generator at very high temperatures. Since the efficiency of the ideal Carnot cycle is very dependent on the change in temperature through the cycle, drawing water from the steam generator allows for a greater drop in temperature through the cycle. When taking a percentage of the water at the beginning of the power cycle, the water leaving the last turbine does not have to be a minimum of 80°C for the MSF system. Also, water at 289.4°C can heat a lot of water at 24.44°C to 80°C. The second configuration allows for allocating different mass flows to be sent to the MSF as opposed to different temperatures of water, as is the case when using the condenser as a heat exchanger for the MSF system.



Figure 3.8: This simplified drawing shows the main components of the power cycle including how the multistage flash distillation system is heated through the condenser



Figure 3.9: This simplified drawing shows the main components of the power cycle including how the multistage flash distillation system draws water just after the steam generator

3.3.1 Assumptions

Given the information above, the assumptions for both the MSF and RO Aspen HYSYS models are:

- 1. The temperature of the brackish groundwater entering the system is 76 °F or 24.44 °C, the low end of the temperature range for the water currently used to cool the system [70]. Groundwater would be colder, but sitting in a pool above ground would raise the temperature. The assumption of the water being at the low end of what currently flows through the condenser allows an analysis of using the groundwater and also allows for a fair comparison of the MSF and RO systems using the most realistic value for both.
- 2. The reactor power, as given in the FSAR, is 3990 MWth.
- 3. The temperatures for the MSF distillation unit range from 80 °C to 120 °C. Since the 80°C water generated the most water in each circumstance, only the 80°C model is discussed.
- 4. The composition of the water is shown in 3.2.
- 5. There is a 2% pressure drop across all heat exchangers.
- 6. The turbines in the Palo Verde power cycle have a 90% adiabatic efficiency.
- 7. The pumps have a 90% adiabatic efficiency.
- 8. The fluid package used for the power cycle is Peng-Robinson, which is the fluids package with the largest applicable range for temperature and pressure.
- 9. The fluid package used for the brackish water is Aspen's Electrolyte Non-Random Two-Liquid (NRTL). This fluid package is especially good for modeling all of the various components in the brackish feedwater composition.
- 10. The power cycle is much simplified in order to show the clear impacts of the different water purification techniques as opposed to emphasizing the power cycle itself.

The assumptions for the MSF Aspen HYSYS models are:

- 1. There are twenty one stages in the MSF distillation system [83].
- 2. The mass flow through the distillation system is the dependent variable while the temperature of the water sent to the unit and the pressure generated from the brackish water pump are the independent variables for the MSF system.

- 3. The reactor power and electricity produced are independent variables.
- 4. The temperature of the water sent to the condenser is an independent variable.
- 5. The pump power is a dependent variable.
- 6. The electric power generated is an independent variable.
- 7. The amount of water generated and the electricity generated are the dependent variables depending on the desired temperature of water sent to the condenser.

The assumptions for the RO Aspen HYSYS model are:

 The efficiency of the pumps range from 70% to 80% depending on the specifics of the expected pressure and water outflow provided by the company, the specifics of which can be seen in Appendix C.

The economic assumptions for all Aspen HYSYS models are:

- 1. The cost of water for Palo Verde Generating Station is \$130 per acre foot [70]
- 2. The wholesale price which Palo Verde can sell electricity to the grid is \$.08 per kWh.

The simplified Aspen HYSYS model for the normal 100% electricity production power cycle includes one high pressure and two low pressure turbines. The three separate turbines can be taken offline independently to send higher temperature water to the MSF system. The exercy analysis performed here is different than most economic exergy analyses in that it considers the revenue from each product, not the cost. Generally, exergy analyses consider the costs of each of the various systems to see where the greatest cost to exergy losses exists. For example, if exergy losses at a pump cost a lot to the system as a whole as compared to exergy losses at a heat exchanger, the pump should be replaced first. As the prices for the various products are more readily found than the cost of generating the electricity or the steam, the revenue is evaluated here. While a revenue based SPECO approach is currently in development, one of the built-in assumptions of the model currently is the revenue associated with any given unit of exergy will be the same no matter if the heat is used to generate electricity or a secondary produce [84]. In the case of a system that generates multiple products, such as the system evaluated in this thesis, and uses exergy that would otherwise go unused, there is a difference in the exergy value at different locations in the system. Therefore the approach employed in this research is very basic, looking strictly at the revenue generated from the products and the exergy generated by the reactor. Calculation of the \$/exergy values for this analysis the following calculations were applied:

Using equation 3.5, the electricity revenue is calculated by multiplying the electricity produced by the system in MW by the wholesale electricity price per MWh, assumed here to be \$80 per MWh:

$$Electricity \ Revenue = MW_{out} * \frac{\$80}{MWh} = \frac{\$}{hr}$$
(3.5)

The water revenue is then calculated using equation 3.6, which multiplies the water produced by the system by the wholesale value of water to Palo Verde Generating Station, $\frac{\$0.105}{m^3}$:

Water Revenue =
$$\frac{m_{out}^3}{hr} * \frac{\$.105}{m^3} = \frac{\$}{hr}$$
 (3.6)

Equation [?] is then applied to find the \$/exergy destroyed:

$$\frac{\$}{Exergy \ destroyed} = \frac{Electricity \ Revenue + Water \ Revenue}{Total \ Exergy \ Destroyed \ in \ Power \ Cycle}$$
(3.7)

Generally, an exergy analysis evaluates the cost per unit of specific exergy. Overall it analyzes how much is spent in generating every unit of exergy and therefore how much is worth spending to enhance the exergy efficiency through other steps, such as purchasing more efficient pumps, condensers, or turbines. The initial exergy analysis in this research attempts to look purely at the revenue per unit of exergy. Since the value of the electricity and water are already known, the approach of evaluating the overall revenue establishes an initial means of analyzing the system. The exergy analysis finds the exergy generated by the reactor and analyzes which coupled water purification design uses that exergy to generate the greatest overall revenue. This is a simple analysis which does not include the operations, maintenance, or capital cost. It simply determines how the exergy can be allocated to result in the greatest overall revenue.

3.4 Results

The results of this study focus on answering questions about three possible beneficial areas from coupling Palo Verde to a water purification system. The benefits include 1) varying the electricity output to the grid, 2) optimizing the value of the exergy lost in the system, and 3) providing reliable and reasonably priced water to Palo Verde. The results are organized to focus on these three considerations.

3.4.1 Flexibility

The ability of a system to operate flexibly is of growing significance and value. As greater variable electricity sources are added to the grid, other generation sources will need to change their output to the grid in response. A more thorough analysis of the flexibility requirements for Palo Verde is provided in section 3.5. There is a value in sending various loads to the water purification process for different points in the day as the power needs of the grid vary. To do a parametric study of the ability for the RO system and the MSF systems to take the different amounts of load, the model is evaluated first at 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20% and then at 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100% of the electricity allocated to the purification system with the exception of the MSF system coupled at the condenser. This configuration is unable to reduce to 5% output due to meeting the minimum heat requirement of 80°C requiring more than 5% of the energy from the power cycle. The lower level load allocation to the water purification facilities is more realistic both based on the size of the water purification facilities and on the overall impact to the nuclear power plant.

This thesis does not include a quantitative study of the ability of the two water purification techniques to start and stop, but the research literature suggests the reverse osmosis systems are easier to run in a dynamic fashion. The MSF system requires careful maintenance between the power generation and water generation processes. There is a small range of temperatures within which the MSF unit can operate. If performed improperly, the MSF unit could automatically trip off [85]. The RO systems, being essentially a large number of pumps forcing water through membranes, are able to start and stop while producing the same quality of water. Both systems are able to start and stop. In the AHP analysis, desalination ranked highest in flexibility. While this is an imperfect measure, it does suggest that the flexibility is a benefit of desalination.

Tables 3.5 through 3.12 display the overall \$/exergy values as well as how much electricity and water were generated hourly. The exergy destruction in the power cycle is the only exergy taken into consideration. The tables show which system generates the most revenue for the exergy created by the reactor. The greatest overall \$/exergy value is the SW-L 630 reverse osmosis system at $\frac{\$97.93}{\frac{kJ}{kg}}$ This is notably less than the \$/exergy of solely generating electricity of $\frac{\$100.77}{\frac{kJ}{kg}}$ at the given prices. The reverse osmosis systems have both greater revenue and a greater exergy value than the MSF systems. The MSF configuration connected directly after the steam generator has a significantly greater \$/exergy value than the one coupled at the condenser. The MSF unit coupled at the condenser can generate a lot of water with lower levels of power, but the RO unit linearly outputs water.

The largest reverse osmosis plant in the world, the Sorek plant in Israel by Israel Desalination Enterprises (IDE), produces about 627, $000 \frac{m^3}{day}$, or about 26, $000 \frac{m^3}{hr}$ of water [86]. The largest MSF distillation system in the world produces approximately 728, $000 \frac{m^3}{day}$, or about 30, $300 \frac{m^3}{hr}$. The values shown in the results tables greater than the 20% allocation are significantly greater than the output of the largest water purification systems in the world, which is unreasonable. The number of pumps required for sending large quantities of electricity to the reverse osmosis system are not reasonable. Similarly, the size of the MSF unit would need to be enormous to use large quantities of heat from the reactor. The reason for including the deep load following percent reduction is to show how the two systems compare based on revenue. The results are there to demonstrate the differences between the different configurations. The capital costs would be too great to build configurations sufficiently large to operate flexibly above about 5% of one of Palo Verde's reactors.

Table 3.5: Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system drawing heat directly after the steam generator at smaller interval load reductions assuming a 20% reduction limit

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Percent Water Split | Volume Flow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 5% | 0.988 | 607.5 | 1244.86 | 99652.75 | 96.93 |
| 10% | 0.9403 | 3003 | 1178.61 | 94604.09 | 89.65 |
| 15% | 0.901 | 4920 | 1134.83 | 91303.24 | 88.00 |
| 20% | 0.86 | 7077 | 1044 | 84263.09 | 81.62 |

Table 3.6: Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system drawing heat directly after the steam generator at the load reduction levels required for European reactors [3].

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Percent Water Split | VolumeFlow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 25% | 0.85 | 7396 | 979.2 | 79112.581 | 75.86 |
| 50% | 0.68 | 15400 | 654.8 | 54001 | 51.17 |
| 75% | 0.39 | 28540 | 327.5 | 29196.7 | 27.34 |
| 100% | 0 | 42450 | 0 | 4457.25 | 4.18 |

Table 3.7: Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system with the heat sent to the condenser at various load reduction levels assuming a 20% reduction floor. The load following percent is controlled by sending varying amounts of heat to the condenser leading to the MSF.

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Volume Flow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 10% | 29940 | 1178.631 | 97434.18 | 92.21 |
| 15% | 31370 | 1134.28 | 94036.17 | 89.65 |
| 20% | 31510 | 1044 | 86828.55 | 82.23 |

Table 3.8: Load following outcomes using the thermally coupled MSF distillation system with the heat sent to the condenser at the load reduction levels required for European reactors [3]. The load following percent is controlled by sending varying amounts of heat to the condenser leading to the MSF.

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Volume Flow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 25% | 32160 | 979.2 | 81712.8 | 77.39 |
| 50% | 35480 | 654.8 | 56109.4 | 53.10 |
| 75% | 38960 | 327.5 | 30290.8 | 28.88 |
| 100% | 42450 | 0 | 4457.25 | 4.18 |

Table 3.9: Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-S 132 kW pump assuming a 20% reduction limit

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Number of Pumps | VolumeFlow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|--------------------|---------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 5% | 497 | 20729.87 | 1244.396 | 101728.32 | 97.83 |
| 10% | 993 | 41418.03 | 1178.92 | 98662.81 | 94.88 |
| 15% | 1489 | 62106.19 | 1113.452 | 95597.31 | 91.93 |
| 20% | 1985 | 82794.35 | 1047.98 | 92531.81 | 88.98 |

Table 3.10: Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-S 132 kW pump

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Number of Pumps | VolumeFlow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|--------------------|---------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 25% | 2482 | 103524.22 | 982.376 | 89460.12 | 86.03 |
| 50% | 4963 | 207006.73 | 654.884 | 74126.43 | 71.28 |
| 75% | 7444 | 310489.24 | 327.392 | 58792.73 | 56.54 |
| 100% | 9925 | 413971.75 | 0 | 43467.03 | 41.80 |

Table 3.11: Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-L 630 kW pump assuming a 20% reduction limit

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Number of Pumps | Volume Flow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|--------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 5% | 104 | 21673.6 | 1244.48 | 101834.128 | 97.93 |
| 10% | 208 | 43347.2 | 1178.96 | 98868.26 | 95.07 |
| 15% | 312 | 65020.8 | 1113.44 | 95902.384 | 92.22 |
| 20% | 416 | 86694.4 | 1047.92 | 92936.512 | 89.37 |

3.4.1.1 Price to Switch Commodities

Tables 3.13 and 3.14 provide some operations insight behind tables 3.5-3.12. The tables display at what price for electricity, 3.13, and for water 3.14, the owner should switch to generating water as well

| Load Following Percent Reduction | Number of Pumps | Volume Flow Out $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Power MWe | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---|--------------------|--|--------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| 25% | 520 | 108316 | 982.4 | 89965.18 | 86.51 |
| 50% | 1040 | 216632 | 629.22 | 73083.96 | 70.28 |
| 75% | 1560 | 324948 | 327.2 | 60295.54 | 57.98 |
| 100% | 2080 | 433264 | 0 | 45530.52 | 43.78 |

Table 3.12: Exergy Analysis of the IDE-Progreen SW-L 630 kW pump

as electricity. The price values were determined by changing the price for the electricity and water to the point where the alternative configuration with water generation had a greater \$/exergy value the basic power cycle with no water generation. For the RO systems, it makes sense to start producing water at the relatively high value of electricity of approximately \$33.10/MWh and \$34.75/MWh respectively. The high price suggests that much of the time it would make more sense in terms of revenue generation to allocate electricity to water production. Similarly for the RO systems, the price of water, while needing to double, is well within the range of likely water prices at about $\frac{0.254}{m^3}$ and $\frac{0.242}{m^3}$ respectively. The price of electricity would need to decrease substantially or the price of water increase substantially for the MSF configurations to make sense. Once again, it is important to note the capital, operations, and maintenance costs will play a substantial role in the overall decision making and profitability.

| Table 3 | 3.13: | Analysis | s of when | the \$ | /Exergy | value | of the | various | configu | irations | is g | greater | than | a s | ystem |
|----------|-------|-----------|------------|--------|----------|--------|---------|------------|---------|----------|------|---------|-----------------------|-----|-------|
| strictly | gene | erating e | lectricity | by flu | ctuating | the pr | rice of | electricit | ty | | | | | | |

| C 6 | Percent | Electricity | Water | Total | Ф/ Б | No Water |
|------------------|------------|-------------|-------|----------|-------------|-----------|
| Configuration | Allocation | Price | Price | Revenue | ð/Exergy | \$/Exergy |
| 100% Electricity | 0 | 80 | 0.105 | 104800 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| Condenser | 10% | 20.50 | 0.105 | 27305.64 | 25.88 | 100.77 |
| Condenser | 15% | 17.35 | 0.105 | 22973.59 | 21.9 | 21.85 |
| Condenser | 20% | 11.5 | 0.105 | 15314.55 | 14.5 | 14.49 |
| SG | 5% | 1.2 | 0.105 | 3389.7 | 1.51 | 1.51 |
| SG | 10% | 2.05 | 0.105 | 3668.07 | 2.59 | 2.58 |
| SG | 15% | 3 | 0.105 | 3979.2 | 3.78 | 3.78 |
| SG | 20% | 2.9 | 0.105 | 3770.69 | 3.65 | 3.65 |
| RO-132 | 5% | 33.1 | 0.105 | 43366.14 | 41.7 | 41.69 |
| RO-132 | 10% | 33.1 | 0.105 | 43371.28 | 41.7 | 41.69 |
| RO-132 | 15% | 33.1 | 0.105 | 43376.41 | 41.7 | 41.69 |
| RO-132 | 20% | 33.1 | 0.105 | 43381.54 | 41.7 | 41.69 |
| RO-630 | 5% | 34.75 | 0.105 | 45521.41 | 43.77 | 43.77 |
| RO-630 | 10% | 34.75 | 0.105 | 45520.32 | 43.77 | 43.77 |
| RO-630 | 15% | 34.75 | 0.105 | 45519.22 | 43.77 | 43.77 |
| RO-630 | 20% | 34.75 | 0.105 | 45518.13 | 43.77 | 43.77 |

Table 3.14: Analysis of when the F exergy value of the various configurations is greater than a system strictly generating electricity by fluctuating the price of water

| C | Percent | Electricity | Water | Total | Ф/Б | No Water |
|------------------|------------|-------------|-------|-----------|----------|-----------|
| Configuration | Allocation | Price | Price | Revenue | ð/Exergy | \$/Exergy |
| 100% Electricity | 0 | 80 | 0.105 | 104800 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| Condenser | 10% | 80 | 0.41 | 106565.88 | 100.86 | 100.77 |
| Condenser | 15% | 80 | 0.48 | 105799.92 | 100.87 | 100.77 |
| Condenser | 20% | 80 | 0.73 | 106522.3 | 100.88 | 100.77 |
| SG | 5% | 80 | 6.62 | 103610.61 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| SG | 10% | 80 | 4.02 | 114292 | 100.79 | 100.77 |
| SG | 15% | 80 | 2.8 | 104562.64 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| SG | 20% | 80 | 2.9 | 104043.3 | 100.78 | 100.77 |
| RO-132 | 5% | 80 | 0.253 | 104796.34 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| RO-132 | 10% | 80 | 0.254 | 104792.68 | 100.77 | 100.77 |
| RO-132 | 15% | 80 | 0.254 | 104789.03 | 100.83 | 100.77 |
| RO-132 | 20% | 80 | 0.254 | 104868.16 | 100.84 | 100.77 |
| RO-630 | 5% | 80 | 0.242 | 104803.41 | 100.78 | 100.77 |
| RO-630 | 10% | 80 | 0.242 | 104806.82 | 100.79 | 100.77 |
| RO-630 | 15% | 80 | 0.242 | 104810.23 | 100.79 | 100.77 |
| RO-630 | 20% | 80 | 0.242 | 104813.64 | 100.79 | 100.77 |

3.4.2 EXERGY WATER ANALYSIS

As noted prior, the actual price of electricity changes from day to day and season to season. The price of water is set to double for Palo Verde in the next decade [70]. The exergy analysis performed here will first address meeting 20% of Palo Verde's water needs. Since the lowest amount of load the MSF condenser requires is 10% of the total load, figures 3.10-3.12 display the exergy usage assuming that 10% of the load from one Palo Verde reactor is used for water purification. This amount of load sent to water purification more than covers the demand by Palo Verde for its own water needs. Tables 3.15 and 3.16 provide results for the MSF and RO configurations assuming the goal of meeting the minimum amount of water on an hourly averaged scale, 20% of Palo Verde's water demand, about $2131.5 \frac{m^3}{hr}$.

3.4.2.1 Exergy Diagrams

Since the lowest amount of load the MSF condenser requires is 10% of the total load, figures 3.10, 3.11, and 3.12 display how the mass exergy is allocated in the different configurations Exergy diagram 3.10 displays the exergy allocation in the configuration with the heat allocated directly after the steam generator. Exergy diagram 3.11 displays the exergy allocation with the condenser. In this case, since the condenser is used for the heat exchanger to the MSF system, there is no condenser, or waste heat, part of the diagram. Exergy diagram 3.12 displays the RO systems with 10% of the electricity used for water purification. The other in all the cases is losses in the power cycle, such as to the pumps and heat exchangers. From the diagrams, it is clear that little of the exergy goes towards the other category and that a minimal amount of the exergy goes towards the condenser in 3.10 and 3.12. The amount of exergy required for the water purification to take 10% of the load appears to be the least for the MSF configuration directly after the steam generator. The MSF condenser configuration appears to require the most exergy for the water, but the water purification system also includes the waste heat from the power cycle. As the pumps and heat exchangers are the same in this configuration for all of the configurations, and the power cycle is not the focus of this research, the other is not closely evaluated.

| Electricity Steam Generator MSF |
|--|
| Condenser |
| Water |
| Other |

Figure 3.10: The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the steam generator made using Google Charts



Figure 3.11: The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the condenser made using Google Charts



Figure 3.12: The Mass exergy allocation in the configuration with the MSF system after the steam generator made using Google Charts

3.4.2.2 Minimal Water Requirements

Annually, Palo Verde uses approximately 75,700 acre feet of water per year. To ensure that Palo Verde continues to have sufficient water for operations from groundwater resources, the models developed have calculated the resources required to meet 20% of the annual water demand for the plant, approximately 15,140 acre feet per year, or 1.728 acre feet, 2131.45 m^3 , per hour if kept running all year. While the water output will likely vary depending on the electric grid demand, the average output would need to be 2131.45 m^3 for the system to produce 20% of the water demand for Palo Verde. Meeting this minimum demand is feasible for both the reverse osmosis and the MSF systems.

The first row of table 3.15 is the configuration with extra heat sent to the condenser as can be seen in 3.8. The second and third rows of table 3.15 reflect the values associate with the configuration presented in 3.9. To achieve the minimal amount of water demand required splitting about 3.4% of the water from the power cycle. Due to the requirement of sending at least 80°C water to the condenser, not as much electricity is generated when the heat is taken directly from the condenser. The third row in 3.15 attempts to demonstrate a more equal comparison with the second configuration producing approximately the same amount of water. Both systems have approximately the same overall exergy destruction equivalent to general power cycle exergy losses, no matter if there is a thermally coupled water purification system or just the turbines generating electricity. The SW-L reverse osmosis systems require significantly less electricity than the thermally coupled systems required in the form of heat. While the RO systems generated significantly less water than the MSF system coupled to the condenser, the SW-L RO system overall had a greater \$/exergy value as can be seen in table 3.16.

| Description | Input Water Temp (C) | Distillation Temp (Celsius) | Power Cycle Efficiency | WaterGenerated $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| MSF from Condenser | 80.64 | 80 | 27.84% | 29940 | 97434.18 | 92.21 |
| MSF 3.4% Split from Power Cycle | 289.4 | 80 | 27.67% | 2139 | 88544.60 | 84.93 |
| MSF 42% Split from Power Cycle | 289.4 | 80 | 16.31% | 31360 | 58932.8 | 56.07 |

Table 3.15: Exergy analysis of the MSF system

To do a more even comparison, similar to what is performed in row 3 of table 3.15, table ?? displays the RO exergy analysis assuming approximately the same amount of water generated as the row one of 3.15. In this case, the SW-L pump has the best overall exergy economy of the reverse osmosis examples.

| Type of Pump | Number of Pumps | Water Generated $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|-----------------|--------------------|--|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| SW-S | 52 | 2168.92 | 82123.94 | 78.97 |
| SW-L | 11 | 2292.4 | 104486.30 | 100.47 |

Table 3.16: Reverse Osmosis Exergy Analysis values

Generating more or less water does not have a large impact on the overall exergy economy comparisons. Similar to the load following analysis, the reverse osmosis examples do slightly better than the MSF configurations. The RO systems are more controllable in allocating electricity. The exergy value for the RO systems is greater due to the high price placed on electricity as opposed to water. The RO systems are able to produce the necessary amount of water for little electricity while selling the remaining electricity to the grid.

Table 3.17: Reverse Osmosis Exergy Analysis Values Generating similar amounts of water as generated in the MSF system

| Type of Pump | Number of Pumps | Water Generated $\frac{m^3}{hr}$ | Hourly Total Revenue (\$/hr) | \$/exergy |
|-----------------|--------------------|--|---------------------------------------|-----------|
| SW-S | 715 | 29820 | 100380 | 96.52 |
| SW-L | 144 | 30010 | 100700 | 96.82 |

Given the average prices assumed in this model, the greatest amount of revenue between the two purification systems clearly comes from the reverse osmosis system. The model assumes a much higher value for the electricity than for the water generated. If trends continue, with renewables at times pushing down the price of electricity to negative values zero, generating water will result in greater revenue at times. The model also assumes the 2018 purchase price of water for Palo Verde Generating Station. The predicted price of water is assumed to double by 2025 [70]. In that event, Palo Verde could sell water to the public at significantly higher prices, resulting in water production profit competing with electricity production profit at times. As mentioned previously, the cost of water to Tucson residents averaged around \$1.42 per cubic meter, over thirteen times more than the price assumed for this study [79]. At the moment, assuming average values for water costs and wholesale electricity price, the RO system both brings in significantly greater revenue and is much simpler to couple and operate.
3.5 EXERGY ANALYSIS CONCLUSIONS

The exergy analysis approach taken in this research is not the traditional approach used to evaluate costs for the exergy losses at each of the components in the system. This research focuses on the revenues from the various sources, as what is driving the purpose for the coupling in the first place. The primary reason APS is evaluating water purification systems in large part is not to minimize costs, but to maximize the possible revenue. APS plans to use the water production facility to balance output when the price of electricity decreases to a point where water production makes more sense, which is dependent on the price of water and the price of electricity, not the cost of generation. The losses from the power cycle were very similar in each of the cases evaluated here, making a more traditional exergy analysis less relevant. The electrically coupled reverse osmosis system makes the best overall sense when strictly evaluating the revenue. The reverse osmosis system is able to produce sufficient amounts of water to meet Palo Verde's water needs, is easier to operate, and makes the greatest overall revenue.

| Characteristic | MSF-SG | MSF Condenser | RO |
|----------------|---|--|--|
| Complexity | Greatest Configuration Change | Potentially less Configuration Change | Least Complex |
| Flexibility | Able to take a wide range of loads | Requires ~10% load reduction as minimum | Flexible to the point of the capacity of the plant |
| Ideal usage | System that has a wide variance in production demand | System that emphasizes a large volume of water production with at least 10% energy allocation | Best Overall & Systems that require minimal complexity |

Table 3.18: Overall conclusions from the analysis on the $/\exp g$ of the various water purification configurations

3.6 Dynamic Analysis using RAVEN

The literature review presented in this thesis emphasized the importance of dynamic modeling in analyzing a NRHES. Currently, about 10% of the electricity consumed by retail customers in the APS service area comes from renewable energy, primarily solar [87]. By 2025, 15% of all of APS's electricity generation is mandated to come from renewables [88]. As can be seen in figure 3.13, the trend is for greater variable solar generation implementation and overall generation. One of the primary benefits of coupling a water purification system to the Palo Verde power plant is to flexibly operate the plant when there is little grid demand. By analyzing what kinds of daily fluctuations are likely, this study includes a brief analysis of one of the major benefits of coupling the system. In order to perform a quasi dynamic analysis, RAVEN is used to determine the one or two major times in the day when energy demand shifts significantly. To determine what demand looks like for a standard day in each season, RAVEN is first used to analyze electricity demand data, then to generate typical demand curves for each of the seasons. The APS demand data come from the Energy Information Agency (EIA) and includes total hourly demand data from July 2015 through May 2018. The generated data is used as the basis for establishing the total electric demand for a standard day in each season in the APS territory. The dates for the beginning and end of each season were pulled from the Farmers' Almanac [89].

While there is not hourly generation data available for the solar added to the grid, there is total monthly generation data. As can be seen in figure 3.13, in 2017 in Arizona, the total amount of solar generated went from a low in January of 313.55 thousand MWh to 756.46 thousand MWh [?]. Due to Arizona taking some of California's overproduction it is also important to note the amount of solar generated in the neighboring state. California went from a low of 1495.85 thousand MWh in January 2017 to 3888.38 thousand MWh in June 2017[?]. The change between different times of the year is substantial. For Arizona and California, the increased generation from solar does match the increased demand from air conditioning use, which would ease the challenges of having a variable load. In places that do not need air conditioning, there would likely be a greater mismatch between the solar generation and the demand.

3.6.1 Demand Generation Approach

RAVEN was introduced in the discussion surrounding the current NRHES modeling approaches. As described previously, RAVEN was initially built for probabilistic risk assessment. It has been used to generate synthetic data for wind demand in prior NRHES modeling as well as sensitivity analyses and uncertainty analyses. For this analysis, RAVEN is used to generate synthetic data corresponding to the



(a) Arizona solar generation is increasing rapidly each year. There is greater difference between the summer and winter generation.



(b) California solar generation is increasing rapidly each year. There is greater difference between the summer and winter generation.

Figure 3.13: Monthly solar generation data for Arizona and California. Data from January 2014 until April 2018 sourced from the EIA [8]

demand for APS in various seasons. Due to the changes in weather and hours of sunlight, consumption of electricity can vary greatly between the seasons. For example, as can be seen in figure 3.15, the overall demand for Arizona is greatest in the summer, likely due to air conditioning use. RAVEN uses real historic data to train one of the selection of Reduced Order Models (ROM), then generates new data with similar statistical qualities, such as the mean and the standard deviation. In this research, the Autoregressive Moving Average (ARMA) ROM is trained to generate the data based on theEIA demand data and then produced synthetic data.

ARMA is comprised of two parts: an autoregressive and a moving average part. The autoregressive part uses previous data for the time of day and demand to predict future values for the demand at that time of day. The moving average part includes the error term in the data as a linear combination of current and previous error terms. As can be seen in the raw data graphs in figure 3.14, each season has many different demand paths. The ARMA model applied in this research uses a Monte Carlo Sampler. A Monte Carlo approach generates inputs. In this case, the inputs could be the demand for a given time and the computations could surround the errors associated with that input from the average. The ARMA model then generates 10 different possible demand curves for each of the seasons. The generated demand curves have very similar means and standard deviation values as those found in the raw data. The ARMA model generates synthetic data which shows general trends found in the demand for each of the seasons.

The graphs in figure 3.14 show the various daily demand curves for each season. The raw data curves display the actual input data from the EIA. Further investigation is necessary to validate the data taken from the EIA data base. There can be anomalous days in the real data, therefore generating the synthetic data can provide a more generally applicable demand data for any given day in the season. Each of the graphs in figure 3.15 display ten synthetically generated curves. As shown in 3.14(a), total demand is high in the middle of the day, when the sun is likely to be hottest and therefore electricity demand greatest. Winter has a different overall shape possibly due to not having as a much of a demand for air conditioning. A typical change in demand can be determined using the synthetically generated curves. From the synthetically generated curves, the largest demand change can be approximated to include in the analysis of the coupled water purification systems.

Figures 3.14 and 3.15 show the total demand, not the net demand, where the renewable generation would be subtracted from the total. Future work should include the net demand data to show how renewables are impacting the daily demand curves in each season.



(a) Raw APS Spring Demand Data. x is in hours (the 24 hours in a day). y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(b) Raw APS Summer Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(c) Raw APS Fall Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(d) Raw APS Winter Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.

Figure 3.14: Raw data showing general Arizona Public Service Demand from the EIA from July 1st, 2015 to May 18, 2018



(a) Spring APS Demand Data. x is in hours (the 24 hours in a day). y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(b) Synthetic APS Summer Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(c) Synthetic APS Fall Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.



(d) Synthetic APS Winter Demand Data. x is in hours. y is APS's electric demand in MWe.Figure 3.15: Cleaned up Synthetic Data showing general Arizona Public Service Demand

| | Peak | Minimum | Change in | Local | Change in |
|--------|--------|---------|-----------|----------|--------------|
| Season | Demand | Demand | Demand | Minimums | Local |
| | (MWe) | (MWe) | (MWe) | (MWe) | Demand (MWe) |
| Spring | 4300 | 2320 | 1980 | N/A | N/A |
| Summer | 6400 | 3500 | 2900 | N/A | N/A |
| Fall | 3900 | 2350 | 1550 | 2950 | 950 |
| Winter | 3500 | 2450 | 1050 | 2500 | 1000 |

Table 3.19: Approximate average values for demand change in Arizona for each season

3.6.2 Fluctuation Analysis

As figures 3.15, 3.14, and table 3.19 demonstrate, the load change over a day would generally require that all of the electricity be diverted from the APS-owned load from Palo Verde if following strictly with the nuclear generation. Since the demand curves typically decrease and increase over several hours, the load would have to be shifted to water production in portions over the day if load following just with Palo Verde. The various exergy and revenue outcomes from the thermally and electrically coupled systems at different rates of load following have already been detailed in tables 3.8, 3.10 and 3.12. The tendency for the demand to shift gradually would suggest a benefit to electrically coupling, which does not have thermal hydraulic feedbacks from shifting. Overall, if load following just with the load APS owns from Palo Verde, there would not be sufficient change, even if decreasing the load to zero to load follow in any season besides from winter.

APS owns and operates natural gas and coal power plants which are the more traditional generation sources that vary output. Looking at figure 3.15(d) reflecting the total winter demand hovering below 2000 MWe on some days, it is very plausible that sometimes renewable generation will make up over 900 MWe during that period and APS will have too much generation even with all the coal and natural gas removed from the grid.

3.7 CONCLUSIONS

- The SW-L 630 RO system had the greatest overall revenue and \$/exergy values.
- The reverse osmosis systems all had greater values for \$/exergy than the MSF configurations.
- The electricity and water costs which result in greater overall revenue with the reverse osmosis configurations are well within the realistic price range for the two commodities.
- Palo Verde Generating Station will need to flexibly operate to deal with the increasing level of variable penetration in both Arizona and California.

- Generating sufficient water to meet 20% of Palo Verde's water needs does not require a lot of load following.
- The water purification systems that are reasonably sized would not require as much power as Palo Verde needs in order to make up for the overproduction on the grid at times.
- The overall question of what the thermodynamic and economic benefits of thermally coupling a system requires using the exact same technology as the industrial process. The analysis done here ends up comparing two separate industrial processes and thus does not evaluate the benefits of a thermally versus an electrically coupled system.

CHAPTER 4: FUTURE WORK AND CONCLUSIONS

The work performed in this thesis seeks to add to the growing body of knowledge surrounding Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems as a solution for nuclear power plants and renewable energy sources to work in tandem to decarbonize both the electric and industrial sectors in an economically profitable way. There is much more work to be done both on this particular example of coupling a water purification system to a Palo Verde reactor as well as more generally in determining the appropriate application of NRHESs. Some of the future work suggested includes:

- Use a single industrial process to analyze thermal versus electrical coupling in a NRHES.
- Include flexibility in a more dynamic manner instead of a qualitative assessment of the differences between MSF and RO desalination.
- Quantify the quality of the product produced with the two different approaches. The RO system would produce high quality water initially while a MSF system would require some startup time, a feature which was not quantified in this analysis.
- Include a financial value for flexibility and the resilience provided to a nuclear power plant that produces its own water.
- Further develop the Specific Exergy Revenue thermoeconomic approach to include multiple products.
- Perform a sensitivity analysis of the exergy economics analysis to the price of water and electricity.
- Compare the nuclear exergy analysis with a coal plant and concentrated solar analysis to see how the thermodynamic properties of various heat sources compare.
- Model a battery system, such as compressed air, instead of the water purification system to compare the thermodynamic and economic benefits of both.
- Perform an economic assessment of the revenue lost if nuclear plants were asked to curtail, then slowly ramp back up, as opposed to sending electricity to an industrial process.
- Conduct an analysis of a combination of thermal heat and electric power using some of the waste heat from the reactor to pre-heat the water entering the reverse osmosis system.
- Use a more precise power cycle and thoroughly determine the thermalhydraulic feedbacks included with thermal coupling.

- Include capitol and maintenance costs for the water purification systems.
- Focus on taking individual turbines off of the system as opposed to specific loads. Taking each of the four turbines off of the system and sending that heat to a water purification system may be a better management technique for the power plant.
- Include a more thorough analysis of how bypassing heat exchangers or using reheaters in the power cycle would affect the overall exergetic efficiency.
- Include a regulatory review and investigation to analyze the likely regulatory complexities of thermal versus electrical coupling of industrial processes.

This research ended up displaying the benefits of the two different water purification technologies more so than the benefits of thermally coupling an industrial process to a nuclear power plant in a NRHES arrangement. In general, the technologies used for a thermally coupled versus an electrically coupled system will differ some. In order to quantify and describe the benefits of thermally coupling in a NRHES would require choosing an industrial process which strictly needs heat. Then the systems could be compared based on one of the systems using the heat from the reactor and the other using heat converted from electricity in the reactor.

Some of the future work to be done on applying AHP to decision making in NRHES include ensuring that the characteristics included in the analysis are valuable relative measures as opposed to strictly meeting a standard. The safety and ability to fluctuate characteristics should meet a certain clearly defined standard. A comparative approach was inappropriate for characteristics that either meet a standard or do not.

4.1 Summary Remarks

There were multiple approaches taken in this thesis to analyze how to progress in the modeling and development of NRHESs. The initial literature review discussed the progression of typically smaller traditional HESs as well as the development up to this point for NRHESs. The literature review concluded that future research on modeling NRHESs should compliment the ongoing work modeling NRHESs using the Modelica language and RAVEN. While the ongoing modeling focuses on questions surrounding how to optimize a NRHES based on minimizing cost, Chapter 3 focused on comparing the thermodynamic and economic benefits of electric and thermal coupling of two different water purification systems. Chapter 2 focused on applying two risk assessment techniques, PHA and AHP, to a NRHES. The chapter discussed the benefits of applying risk assessment techniques early to large capital intensive projects to minimize financial and safety risks. The chapter also discussed an applied expert AHP survey. While the fuzzy logic applied to the survey suggested that desalination was the best industrial process to include in a NRHES, that conclusion primarily came from the large emphasis placed on safety. Future AHP applications should focus on characteristics of the system which do not need to meet clearly defined standards, but are of more relative importance. The safety and flexibility characteristics used in the AHP have clearly defined legal standards which are either met or not met, not judged on their relative merit. Chapter 3 focused on comparing the thermodynamic and economic benefits of coupling a water purification system to Palo Verde Generating Station. It found that in general a reverse osmosis water purification electrically coupled to a nuclear power plant has greater revenue as well as better exergetic economics, as well as being simpler to operate.

In conclusion, Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy systems propose a possible solution allowing nuclear power plants to flexibly operate along with grid demand and renewable generation. When the price of electricity is very low, there is an economic benefit to selling the heat or electricity to a water distillation system for the Palo Verde Nuclear Power Plant. Also, as the price of water continues to increase in value, there is an economic benefit to producing more water. At current average prices for electricity, there is no revenue advantage to generating water as well as electricity. When the price of electricity is less than \$32/MWh, it does make sense to generate some water with the reverse osmosis systems. The benefits from the flexibility as well as the stability of generating sufficient water for the power plant have not been included in the economic assessment. These characteristics do have a value which needs to be included in future assessments. While there is a lot of work to be done analyzing hybrid energy systems, there is some promise that, depending on the price for electricity and water, they could have a valuable role in allowing nuclear power plants adapt to a changing grid.

REFERENCES

- S. Schlömer, T. Bruckner, L. Fulton, E. Hertwich Austria, A. U. McKinnon, D. Perczyk, J. Roy, R. Schaeffer, G. Hänsel, D. de Jager, T. Bruckner, L. Fulton, E. Hertwich, A. McKinnon, D. Perczyk, J. Roy, R. Schaeffer, R. Sims, P. Smith, R. Wiser, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J. Minx, "III ANNEX Technology-specific Cost and Performance Parameters Editor: Lead Authors: Contributing Authors: to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Edenhofer Technology-specific Cost and Performance Parameters Annex," tech. rep., Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2014.
- [2] US Bureau of Reclamation, "Central Arizona Salinity Study," tech. rep., 2006.
- [3] A. Lokhov, "Technical and Economic Aspects of Load Following with Nuclear Power Plants," tech. rep., Nuclear Energy Agency, June 2011.
- [4] D. Ingersoll, Z. Houghton, R. Bromm, C. Desportes, M. McKellar, and R. Boardman, "Extending Nuclear Energy to Non-Electrical Applications," 19th Pacific Basin Nuclear Conference (PBNC 2014), no. Pbnc, p. 3, 2014.
- [5] N. Kahraman and Y. A. Cengel, "Exergy analysis of a MSF distillation plant," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 46, pp. 2625–2636, sep 2005.
- [6] I. Khamis, "American nuclear society annual meeting 2018," 2018.
- [7] P. Summerlin, "Could Water Salinity Classification Help Advance Oyster Appreciation? In A Half Shell," 2018.
- [8] Eia, "Levelilzed Cost and Levelized Avoided Cost of New Generation Resources in the Annual Energy Outlook 2017," 2017.
- [9] MIT Energy Initiative, "MIT Energy Initiative Symposium on Managing Large-Scale Penetration of Intermittent Renewables — Managing Large-Scale Penetration of Intermittent Renewables An MIT Energy Initiative Symposium," 2011.
- [10] T. Baker, "Idaho State University Master's Thesis: Analysis of Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems With Battery Storage Using Levelized Cost of Electricity."
- [11] P. Denholm and M. Hand, "Grid flexibility and storage required to achieve very high penetration of variable renewable electricity," *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 1817–1830, 2011.

- [12] J. D. Jenkins, Z. Zhou, R. Ponciroli, R. Vilim, F. Ganda, F. de Sisternes, and A. Botterud, "The Benefits of Nuclear Flexibility in Power System Operations with Renewable Energy," *Applied Energy*, vol. 222, no. October 2017, pp. 1–26, 2018.
- [13] M. Salvadores and J. H. Keppler, "Projected Costs of Generating Electricity," tech. rep., International Energy Agency.
- [14] M. Ibrahim, A. Khair, and S. Ansari, "A Review of Hybrid Renewable Energy Systems for Electric Power Generation," Int. Journal of Engineering Research and Applications, vol. 5, pp. 42–48, 2015.
- [15] M. A. Rosen, M. N. Le, and I. Dincer, "Efficiency analysis of a cogeneration and district energy system," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 147–159, 2005.
- [16] H. E. Garcia, J. Chen, J. S. Kim, M. G. Mckellar, W. R. Deason, R. B. Vilim, S. M. Bragg-Sitton, and R. D. Boardman, "Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems -Regional Studies: West Texas & Northeastern Arizona," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory (INL), 2015.
- [17] Z. Qi, Q. Gao, Y. Liu, Y. Y. Yan, and J. D. Spitler, "Status and development of hybrid energy systems from hybrid ground source heat pump in China and other countries," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 29, pp. 37–51, 2014.
- [18] Y. Shin, W. Y. Koo, T. H. Kim, S. Jung, and H. Kim, "Capacity design and operation planning of a hybrid pv wind battery diesel power generation system in the case of deokjeok island," *Applied Thermal Engineering*, vol. 89, pp. 514–525, 2015.
- [19] J. Nixon, P. Dey, and P. Davies, "The Feasibility of Hybrid Solar-Biomass Power Plants in India," *Energy*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 541–554, 2012.
- [20] M. S. Adaramola, M. Agelin-Chaab, and S. S. Paul, "Analysis of hybrid energy systems for application in southern Ghana," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 88, no. 2014, pp. 284–295, 2014.
- [21] C. Goodbody, E. Walsh, K. P. McDonnell, and P. Owende, "Regional integration of renewable energy systems in Ireland The role of hybrid energy systems for small communities," *International Journal* of Electrical Power & Energy Systems, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 713–720, 2013.
- [22] M. R. Borges Neto, P. C. M. Carvalho, J. O. B. Carioca, and F. J. F. Canafístula, "Biogas/photovoltaic hybrid power system for decentralized energy supply of rural areas," *Energy Policy*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 4497–4506, 2010.

- [23] J. McGowan, J. Manwell, C. Avelar, and C. Warner, "Hybrid wind/PV/diesel hybrid power systems modeling and South American applications," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 9, no. 1-4, pp. 836–847, 1996.
- [24] S. Rehman and L. M. Al-Hadhrami, "Study of a solar PV diesel battery hybrid power system for a remotely located population near Rafha, Saudi Arabia," *Energy*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 4986–4995, 2010.
- [25] M. M. Mahmoud and I. H. Ibrik, "Techno-economic Feasibility of Energy Supply of Remote Villages in Palestine by PV-systems, Diesel Generators and Electric Grid," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 10, pp. 128–138, 2004.
- [26] H. E. Garcia, A. Mohanty, W.-C. Lin, and R. S. Cherry, "Dynamic analysis of hybrid energy systems under flexible operation and variable renewable generation Part I: Dynamic performance analysis," *Energy*, vol. 52, pp. 1–16, 2013.
- [27] S. Bragg-Sitton and R. Boardman, "Rethinking the Future Grid: Integrated Nuclear-Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory (INL), Dec 2014.
- [28] F. Bienvenu and S. Herring, "Potential of industry for load regulation," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory, L'Ecole Polytechnique Universite Paris-Saclay, 2014.
- [29] K. Verfondern, "Overview of Nuclear Cogeneration in High-Temperature Industrial Process Heat Applications,"
- [30] J. Chen, H. E. Garcia, J. S. Kim, and S. M. Bragg-sitton, "Operations Optimization of Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems," *Nuclear Technology*, vol. 195, no. August, 2016.
- [31] C. Rabiti, H. E. Garcia, R. Hovsapian, R. A. Kinoshita, G. L. Mesina, S. M. Bragg-Sitton, and R. D. Boardman, "Strategy and Gaps for Modeling, Simulation, and Control of Hybrid Systems, INL/EXT-15-34877," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory (INL).
- [32] D. Shropshire, A. Purvins, I. Papaioannou, and I. Maschio, "Benefits and cost implications from integrating small flexible nuclear reactors with off-shore wind farms in a virtual power plant," *Energy Policy*, vol. 46, pp. 558–573, 2012.
- [33] A. Epiney, "Status on the Development of a Modeling and Simulation Framework for the Economic Assessment of Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems (FY 16)," September 2016.
- [34] T. J. Harrison and M. S. Greenwood, "Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems Initial Integrated Case Study Development and Analysis," tech. rep., OakRidge National Laboratory (ORNL).

- [35] J. Chen and C. Rabiti, "Synthetic Wind Speed Scenarios Generation for Probabilistic Analysis of Hybrid Energy Systems," *Energy*, vol. 120, pp. 507–517, 2017.
- [36] E. K. Redfoot and C. Rabiti, "Interview discussion with dr. cristian rabiti," Jan 2018.
- [37] J. L. Bernal-Agustín and R. Dufo-López, "Simulation and optimization of stand-alone hybrid renewable energy systems," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 2111–2118, 2009.
- [38] W. R. Binder, C. J. J. Paredis, and H. E. Garcia, "Hybrid Energy System Modeling in Modelica," Proceedings of the 10th International Modelica Conference, 2014.
- [39] C. Rabiti, A. Alfonsi, J. Cogliati, D. Mandelli, R. Kinoshita, and S. Sen, "RAVEN User Manual, INL/EXT-15-34123," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory (INL).
- [40] E. K. Redfoot and A. Epiney, "Dr. aaron epiney nrhes interview," Sep 2016.
- [41] W. Du, H. E. G. Christiaan, J. J. Paredis, H. E. Garcia, and C. J. J. Paredis, "An Optimization Framework for Dynamic Hybrid Energy Systems10th International Modelica Conference An Optimization Framework for Dynamic Hybrid Energy Systems," 2014.
- [42] D. Shropshire, "Economic viability of small to medium-sized reactors deployed in future European energy markets," *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 299–307, 2011.
- [43] G. Locatelli, S. Boarin, F. Pellegrino, and M. E. Ricotti, "Load following with Small Modular Reactors (SMR): A real options analysis," *Energy*, vol. 80, pp. 41–54, feb 2015.
- [44] D. T. Ingersoll, C. Colbert, Z. Houghton, R. Snuggerud, J. W. Gaston, and M. Empey, "Can Nuclear Power and Renewables be Friends?," *Proceedings of ICAPP 2015*, 2015.
- [45] D. T. Ingersoll, Z. J. Houghton, R. Bromm, and C. Desportes, "NuScale small modular reactor for Co-generation of electricity and water," *Desalination*, vol. 340, no. 1, pp. 84–93, 2014.
- [46] M. S. Kazimi, "Dynamic Systems Studies of the the of the Nuclear Fuel Cycle," tech. rep., Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- [47] C. W. Forsberg, "Sustainability by combining nuclear, fossil, and renewable energy sources," Progress in Nuclear Energy, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 192–200, 2009.

- [48] H. E. Garcia, J. Chen, J. S. Kim, R. B. Vilim, W. R. Binder, S. M. Bragg Sitton, R. D. Boardman, M. G. McKellar, and C. J. Paredis, "Dynamic performance analysis of two regional Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems," *Energy*, vol. 107, pp. 234–258, 2016.
- [49] H. Ozcan and I. Dincer, "Thermodynamic modeling of a nuclear energy based integrated system for hydrogen production and liquefaction," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 90, pp. 234–246, 2016.
- [50] S. Aumeier, R. Cherry, R. Boardman, and J. Smith, "Nuclear Hybrid Energy Systems: Imperatives, Prospects and Challenges," *Energy Proceedia*, vol. 7, pp. 51–54, 2011.
- [51] C. Forsberg, "Hybrid systems to address seasonal mismatches between electricity production and demand in nuclear renewable electrical grids," *Energy Policy*, vol. 62, pp. 333–341, 2013.
- [52] M. F. Ruth, O. R. Zinaman, M. Antkowiak, R. D. Boardman, R. S. Cherry, and M. D. Bazilian, "Nuclear-renewable hybrid energy systems: Opportunities, interconnections, and needs," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 78, pp. 684–694, 2014.
- [53] D. Falcone, G. Di Bona, F. De Felice, S. Silvestri, and V. Duraccio, "Risk Assessment in a Cogeneration System : Validation of a New Safety Allocation Technique," Conference: The 16th IASTED International Conference on Applied Simulation and Modeling.
- [54] L. T. Ostrom and C. A. Wilhelmsen, Risk assessment: tools, techniques, and their applications. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [55] N.-F. Pan, "Fuzzy AHP approach for selecting the suitable bridge construction method," Automation in Construction, 2008.
- [56] C. Kahraman and I. Kaya, "A fuzzy multicriteria methodology for selection among energy alternatives," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 37, pp. 6270–6281, sep 2010.
- [57] R. W. Saaty, "The Analytic Hierarchy Process What it is and How it is Used," Mathematical Modelling, vol. 9, pp. 3–5, 1987.
- [58] S. Pohekar and M. Ramachandran, "Application of multi-criteria decision making to sustainable energy planning-A review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 8, pp. 365–381, aug 2004.
- [59] B. A. Akash, R. Mamlook, and M. S. Mohsen, "Multi-criteria selection of electric power plants using analytical hierarchy process," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 52, pp. 29–35, oct 1999.

- [60] R. Ramanathan and L. Ganesh, "Energy resource allocation incorporating qualitative and quantitative criteria: An integrated model using goal programming and AHP," *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, vol. 29, pp. 197–218, sep 1995.
- [61] D. Chang, "Applications of the extent analysis method on fuzzy AHP," European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 95, pp. 649–655, dec 1996.
- [62] J. S. Kim, J. Chen, and H. E. Garcia, "Modeling, control, and dynamic performance analysis of a reverse osmosis desalination plant integrated within hybrid energy systems," *Energy*, vol. 112, pp. 52–66, 2016.
- [63] S. M. Bragg-Sitton, "Nuclear-Renewable Hybrid Energy Systems: 2016 Technology Development Program Plan, 10.2172/1333006," tech. rep., Idaho National Laboratory (INL).
- [64] V. V. Tsyganok, S. V. Kadenko, and O. V. Andriichuk, "Significance of expert competence consideration in group decision making using AHP," *International Journal of Production Research*, vol. 50, no. 17, pp. 4785–4792, 2012.
- [65] ISO, "ISO 26382:2010 Cogeneration systems Technical declarations for planning, evaluation and procurement," 2017.
- [66] N. S. C. E. T. Center, "Renewable Energy Standard," 2017.
- [67] I. Penn, "California invested heavily in solar power. Now there's so much that other states are sometimes paid to take it - Los Angeles Times," jun 2017.
- [68] Ballotpedia, "Arizona Renewable Energy Standards Initiative (2018) Ballotpedia," 2018.
- [69] Eia, "Arizona State Energy Profile Overview U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA)," 2018.
- [70] J. Brown, "Private communication," 2018.
- [71] Pinnacle West Capital Corporation, "2016 Annual Report Pinnacle West Capital Corporation," tech. rep., Pinnacle West Capital Corporation, 2016.
- [72] M. J. Moran, H. N. Shapiro, D. D. Boettner, and M. B. Bailey, Fundamentals of engineering thermodynamics. John Wiley & Sons, 2010.
- [73] L. Boldon, P. Sabharwall, C. Rabiti, S. M. Bragg-Sitton, and L. Liu, "Thermodynamic Exergy Analysis for Small Modular Reactor in Nuclear Hybrid Energy System," *EPJ Nuclear Science Technology*.

- [74] A. Valero, S. Usón, and J. Costa, "Exergy analysis of the industrial symbiosis model in Kalundborg," Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on Efficiency, Cost, Optimization and Simulation of Energy Conversion Systems and Processes, ECOS 2012, vol. 1, no. September, pp. 406–416, 2012.
- [75] H. T. El-Dessouky and H. M. Ettouney, Chapter 6 Multi-Stage Flash Desalination. 2016.
- [76] M. Khayet, "Fouling and Scaling in Desalination," Desalination, vol. 393, p. 1, sep 2016.
- [77] B. L. Pangarkar, M. G. Sane, and M. Guddad, "Reverse Osmosis and Membrane Distillation for Desalination of Groundwater: A Review," *ISRN Materials Science*, vol. 2011, pp. 1–9, 2011.
- [78] L. E. Øi, "Høgskolen i Sørøst-Norge An Introduction to Process Simulation and Aspen Hysys for Net-Master students," 2017.
- [79] City of Tucson, "Residential Rates and Charges Official website of the City of Tucson," 2017.
- [80] NERC, "Ancillary Services Matrix," tech. rep., NERC, 2014.
- [81] J. Siphers, "American nuclear society annual meeting 2018," 2018.
- [82] U. EPA, "Secondary Drinking Water Standards: Guidance for Nuisance Chemicals."
- [83] A. S. Bodalal, S. A. Abdul_Mounem, and H. S. Salama, "Dynamic Modeling and Simulation of MSF Desalination Plants," *JJMIE Jordan Journal of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering*, vol. 4, no. 3, 2010.
- [84] D. M. Paulus and G. Tsatsaronis, "Auxiliary Equations for the Determination of Specific Exergy Revenues," *Energy*, vol. 31, 2006.
- [85] A. A. Radif, "Plant Operation-Maintenance and Management Operation of A Desalination Plant," tech. rep., Dhabi Enterprises Inc.
- [86] D. Talbot, "Megascale Desalination MIT Technology Review," MIT Technology Review, 2015.
- [87] Arizona Public Service, "Aps-renewable energy," 2018.
- [88] Utilities Division, "Renewable Energy Standard & Tariff," 2018.
- [89] "Farmers' Almanac Weather, Gardening, Full Moons," 2018.

APPENDIX A: EXPERT AHP SURVEY

The description for the survey which includes all of the assumptions built into the survey is:

The following questionnaire will take 10 to 20 minutes to complete. Thank you for your time and consideration.

The questionnaire below is one part of my research evaluating the potential benefits of applying the risk assessment technique of Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) to compare different industrial processes that might be incorporated into a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system. AHP requires a group of experts determining the relative values associated with each of the options being compared. The questionnaire requests your expert opinion on determining the values associated with thermally coupling a desalination plant, a synthetic fuels plant, and a hydrogen production plant to a nuclear power plant. The three industrial processes are compared based on safety, flexibility, and economic value.

This survey assumes that the process used for hydrogen production is high temperature steam electrolysis with thermal as well as electrical coupling to the nuclear power plant. The assumed form of desalination is thermal desalination through distillation directly using heat from the nuclear power plant. The assumed synthetic fuel process is a Fischer-Tropsch method using coal as the hydrocarbon source. Assume each of the processes consumes the same amount of heat from the nuclear power plant.

The questions below deal with the relative value of each of the industrial processes based on each of the characteristics taken into consideration in this study: safety, ability to fluctuate, and profitability. Ability to fluctuate describes how difficult it is to start and stop the industrial process, as well as the ability of the industrial process to ramp to allow more or less heat to be allocated to electricity production to match demand from the grid. For example, if the process can start and stop, but the initial batch of product is of lower quality, that would negatively affect the "ability to fluctuate" as compared to a process that could start and stop with no impact on the initial batch of product after restarting. An industrial process that could more or less instantaneously reach full capacity steady state operation would rank higher than an industrial process that would take a long time to reach full capacity steady state operation.

For AHP, the range of the scale is from 1 to 9, with 1 representing when the two options are thought of as equal for the given characteristic. As can be seen below with the safety comparison of desalination to hydrogen production, you will have three initial options. If you choose that the desalination and hydrogen production are equally safe, that will be recorded as a 1 in the AHP. If you choose, for example, that hydrogen production is safer than desalination, then you will be directed to a second question which determines your view of how much safer hydrogen production is than desalination. As AHP focuses on collecting expert opinions, you have been selected because you have either published research or a report on nuclear renewable hybrid energy systems, cogeneration, or have worked with a nuclear cogeneration system. I would appreciate it if I could include your name as participating in the research, as can be seen in the first question below. Your answers will not be shared, only that you were part of the expert group taking this survey.

I recognize that characteristics such as regional accessibility of feedstocks for each of the industrial processes will have a major impact on which industrial process would be pursued in a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system. For the purposes of this research, please assume all regional characteristics are equal. The goal of this research is to ascertain whether AHP can generally be applied to determining the relative values of different potential industrial processes for a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system.

Thank you for your time and willingness to participate in this research. If you have any questions about the survey, please contact me at:

Emma Redfoot redf3263@vandals.uidaho.edu (406) 876-2026 Graduate Research Assistant University of Idaho

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

The following questionnaire will take 10 to 20 minutes to complete. Thank you for your time and consideration.

The questionnaire below is one part of my research evaluating the potential benefits of applying the risk assessment technique of Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) to compare different industrial processes that might be incorporated into a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system. AHP requires a group of experts determining the relative values associated with each of the options being compared. The questionnaire requests your expert opinion on determining the values associated with thermally coupling a desalination plant, a synthetic fuels plant, and a hydrogen production plant to a nuclear power plant. The three industrial processes are compared based on safety, flexibility, and economic value.

This survey assumes that the process used for hydrogen production is high temperature steam electrolysis with thermal as well as electrical coupling to the nuclear power plant. The assumed form of desalination is thermal desalination through distillation directly using heat from the nuclear power plant. The assumed synthetic fuel process is a Fischer-Tropsch method using coal as the hydrocarbon source. Assume each of the processes consumes the same amount of heat from the nuclear power plant.

The questions below deal with the relative value of each of the industrial processes based on each of the characteristics taken into consideration in this study: safety, ability to fluctuate, and profitability. Ability to fluctuate describes how difficult it is to start and stop the industrial process, as well as the ability of the industrial process to ramp to allow more or less heat to be allocated to electricity production to match demand from the grid. For example, if the process can start and stop, but the initial batch of product is of lower quality, that would negatively affect the "ability to fluctuate" as compared to a process that could start and stop with no impact on the initial batch of product after restarting. An industrial process that could more or less instantaneously reach full capacity steady state operation would rank higher than an industrial process that would take a long time to reach full capacity steady state operation.

For AHP, the range of the scale is from 1 to 9, with 1 representing when the two options are thought of as equal for the given characteristic. As can be seen below with the safety comparison of desalination to hydrogen production, you will have three initial options. If you choose that the desalination and hydrogen production are equally safe, that will be recorded as a 1 in the AHP. If you choose, for example, that hydrogen production is safer than desalination, then you will be directed to a second question which determines your view of how much safer hydrogen production is than desalination.

As AHP focuses on collecting expert opinions, you have been selected because you have either published research or a report on nuclear renewable hybrid energy systems, cogeneration, or have worked with a nuclear cogeneration system. I would appreciate it if I could include your name as participating in the research, as can be seen in the first question below. Your answers will not be shared, only that you were part of the expert group taking this survey.

I recognize that characteristics such as regional accessibility of feedstocks for each of the industrial processes will have a major impact on which industrial process would be pursued in a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system. For the purposes of this research, please assume all regional characteristics are equal. The goal of this research is to ascertain whether AHP can generally be applied to determining the relative values of different potential industrial processes for a nuclear renewable hybrid energy system.

Thank you for your time and willingness to participate in this research. If you have any questions about the survey, please contact me at:

Emma Redfoot redf3263@vandals.uidaho.edu (406) 876-2026 Graduate Research Assistant University of Idaho

* Required

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

- 1. Is it acceptable to include your name and the organization you work for as part of the group of experts participating in this survey? (If so, please enter your name and institution). *
- 2. Do you think safety is more important than the ability of an industrial process to fluctuate? *

| Mark only one | e oval. | |
|---------------|----------------------------|---------------------|
| O Yes | Skip to question 3. | |
| No | Skip to question 4. | |
| They a | are of the same importance | Skip to question 5. |

Skip to question 5.

Safety more important than Ability to Fluctuate

3. From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate?

Mark only one oval.

- 2, experience and judgement favor safety over the ability to fluctuate by a small margin
- 3, experience and judgement moderately favor safety over the ability to fluctuate
- 4, experience and judgement clearly favor safety over the ability to fluctuate
- 5, experience and judgement strongly favor safety over the ability to fluctuate
- 6, practice suggests moderate preference for safety over the ability to fluctuate
- 7, safety is favored very strongly over the ability to fluctuate and has been shown in practice
- 8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, safety is more important than the ability to fluctuate
- 9, the evidence favoring safety over the ability to fluctuate is of the highest possible affirmation

Skip to question 5.

Ability to Fluctuate more important than Safety

4. From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate? Mark only one oval

viark only one oval.

- 2, experience and judgement favor the ability to fluctuate over safety by a small margin
- 3, experience and judgement moderately favor the ability to fluctuate over safety
- 4, experience and judgement clearly favor the ability to fluctuate over safety
- 5, experience and judgement strongly favor the ability to fluctuate over safety
- 6, practice suggests moderate preference for the ability to fluctuate over safety
- 7, the ability to fluctuate is favored very strongly over safety and has been shown in practice
- 8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, the ability to fluctuate is more important than safety
- 9, the evidence favoring the ability to fluctuate over safety is of the highest possible affirmation

Skip to question 5.

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

Importance: Ability to Fluctuate vs Profitability

5. Do you think that the ability to fluctuate is more important than profitability of an industrial process? *

| Mark Only One | e oval. | |
|---------------|----------------------------|---------------------|
| O Yes | Skip to question 6. | |
| O No | Skip to question 7. | |
| They a | are of the same importance | Skip to question 8. |

Skip to question 8.

Ability to Fluctuate more important than Profitability

6. From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate? Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor the ability to fluctuate over profitability by a small margin

- 3, experience and judgement moderately favor the ability to fluctuate over profitability
- 4, experience and judgement clearly favor the ability to fluctuate over profitability
- 5, experience and judgement strongly favor the ability to fluctuate over profitability

6, practice suggests moderate preference for the ability to fluctuate over profitability

7, the ability to fluctuate is favored very strongly over profitability and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, the ability to fluctuate is more important than profitability

9, the evidence favoring the ability to fluctuate over profitability is of the highest possible affirmation

Skip to question 8.

Profitability more important than Ability to Fluctuate

 From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate? Mark only one oval.

|) 2, ex | perience | and j | udgement | favor | profitability | / over the a | ability | to flu | ctuate b | / a sr | nall r | narg | ıir |
|---------|----------|-------|----------|-------|---------------|--------------|---------|--------|----------|--------|--------|------|-----|
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

3, experience and judgement moderately favor profitability over the ability to fluctuate

4, experience and judgement clearly favor profitability over the ability to fluctuate

5, experience and judgement strongly favor profitability over the ability to fluctuate

6, practice suggests moderate preference for profitability over the ability to fluctuate

7, profitability is favored very strongly over the ability to fluctuate and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, profitability is more important than the ability to fluctuate

9, the evidence favoring profitability over the ability to fluctuate is of the highest possible affirmation

Skip to question 8.

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

Importance: Safety vs Profitability

 Do you think safety is more important than the profitability of an industrial process? * Mark only one oval.

| O Yes | Skip to question 9. | |
|--------|----------------------------|----------------------|
| O No | Skip to question 10. | |
| They a | are of the same importance | Skip to question 11. |

Skip to question 11.

Safety more important than Profitability

9. From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate?

Mark only one oval.

- 2, experience and judgement favor safety over the profitability by a small margin
- 3, experience and judgement moderately favor safety over profitability
- 4, experience and judgement clearly favor safety over profitability
- 5, experience and judgement strongly favor safety over the profitability
- 6, practice suggests moderate preference for safety over profitability
- 7, safety is favored very strongly over profitability and has been shown in practice
- 8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, safety is more important than the profitability
- 9, the evidence favoring safety over profitability is of the highest possible affirmation

Skip to question 11.

Profitability more important than Safety

10. From 2 to 9, how would would you compare the importance of safety of an industrial process to the ability of the industrial process to fluctuate?

Mark only one oval.

- 2, experience and judgement favor profitability over safety by a small margin
- 3, experience and judgement moderately favor profitability over safety
- 4, experience and judgement clearly favor profitability over safety
- 5, experience and judgement strongly favor profitability over safety
- 6, practice suggests moderate preference for profitability over safety
- 7, profitability is favored very strongly over safety and has been shown in practice
- 8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, profitability is more important than safety
- 9, the evidence favoring profitability over safety is of the highest possible affirmation

Safety: Desalination vs Hydrogen Production

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

11. How would you say the safety of desalination compares to hydrogen production? * Mark only one oval.

| Desalination is safer than hydrogen production | Skip to | question 12. |
|---|---------|---------------------|
| Hydrogen production is safer than desalination | Skip to | question 13. |
| Desalination and hydrogen production are equally sa | afe | Skip to question 14 |

Desalination safer than Hydrogen Production

- 12. From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of desalination compares to hydrogen production? Mark only one oval.
 - 2, experience and judgement favor desalination over hydrogen production by a small margin
 - 3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over hydrogen production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over hydrogen production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over hydrogen production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over hydrogen production

7, desalination is favored very strongly over hydrogen production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, desalination is safer than hydrogen production

| \bigcirc | 9, 1 | the ev | ridence | favoring | desalinat | ion ove | ^r hydrogen | production | is of the | highest | possible |
|------------|-------|--------|---------|----------|-----------|---------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|---------|----------|
| affirma | ation | ۱ | | | | | | | | | |

Other:

5/23/2018

Skip to question 14.

Hydrogen Production safer than Desalination

- 13. From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of desalination compares to hydrogen production? Mark only one oval.
 - 2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over desalination by a small margin
 - 3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over desalination
 - 4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over desalination
 - 5, experience and judgement strongly favor hydrogen production over desalination
 - 6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over desalination

7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, hydrogen production is safer than desalination

9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as safer than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 14.

Safety: Desalination vs Synthetic Fuels

| 5/23/2018 | Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nucle | ar Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|-----------|---|-----------------------------------|
| | 14. How would you say the safety of desalination compares t | o synthetic fuels production? |
| | Mark only one oval. | |
| | O Deselination is sefer then symthetic field much which | Olvin to supplian 45 |

| \bigcirc | Desailnation is safer than synthetic fuels production | Skip to | question 15. | |
|------------|---|---------|---------------------|---|
| \bigcirc | Synthetic fuels production is safer than desalination | Skip to | question 16. | |
| \bigcirc | Desalination and synthetic fuels production are equally s | afe | Skip to question 17 | 7 |

Skip to question 17.

Desalination safer than synthetic fuels production

15. From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production?

Mark only one oval

2, experience and judgement favor desalination over synthetic fuels production by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over synthetic fuels production

7, desalination is favored very strongly over synthetic fuels production and has been shown in practice

() 8, it is fairly clear, that in practice desalination is safer than synthetic fuels production

9, the evidence favoring desalination as safer than synthetic fuels production is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 17.

Synthetic Fuels Production safer than Desalination

16. From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production?

Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor synthetic fuels production over desalination by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

4, experience and judgement clearly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

5, experience and judgement strongly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

6, practice suggest moderate preference for synthetic fuels production

7, synthetic fuels production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear, that in practice synthetic fuels production is safer than desalination

9, the evidence favoring synthetic fuels production as safer than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation

) Other:

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

Skip to question 17.

Safety: Hydrogen Production vs Synthetic Fuels

17. How would you say the safety of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? *

Mark only one oval.

| Hydrogen production is safer than synthetic fuels production | Skip to | question 18. |
|--|---------|---------------------|
| Synthetic fuels production is safer than hydrogen production | Skip to | question 19. |
| Hydrogen production and synthetic fuels production are equally s | afe | Skip to question 20 |

Hydrogen production and synthetic fuels production are equally safe Skip to question 20.

Skip to question 20.

Hydrogen Production safer than Synthetic Fuels Production

| 18. | From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? |
|-----|--|
| | Mark only one oval. |
| | 2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels by a small margin |
| | 3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 5, experience and judgement strongly favor hydrogen production over the synthetic fuels production |
| | 6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over synthetic fuels production and has been shown in practice |
| | 8, it is fairly clear, that in practice hydrogen production is safer than synthetic fuels production |
| | 9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as safer than synthetic fuels production is of the highest possible affirmation |
| | Other: |

Skip to question 20.

Synthetic Fuels Production safer than Hydrogen Production

| 5/23/2018 | Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|-----------|---|
| | 19. From 2 to 9, how would you say the safety of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? Mark only one oval. |
| | 2, experience and judgement favor synthetic fuel production over hydrogen production by a small margin |
| | 3, experience and judgement moderately favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production |
| | 4, experience and judgement clearly favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production |
| | 5, experience and judgement strongly favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production |
| | 6, practice suggest moderate preference for synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production |
| | 7, synthetic fuels production is favored very strongly over hydrogen production and has been shown in practice |
| | 8, it is fairly clear that in practice synthetic fuels production is safer than hydrogen production |
| | 9, the evidence favoring synthetic fuels production as safer than hydrogen production is of the highest possible affirmation |
| | Other: |
| | Skip to question 20. |

Ability to Fluctuate: Desalination vs Hydrogen Production

20. How would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to hydrogen production?

| Mark only one oval. | |
|--|----------------------|
| Desalination is more able to fluctuate than hydrogen production | Skip to question 21. |
| Hydrogen production is more able to fluctuate than desalination | Skip to question 22. |
| Desalination and hydrogen production are equally able to fluctuate | Skip to question 23. |

Skip to question 23.

Desalination more able to fluctuate than hydrogen production

| 5/23/2018 | Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|-----------|---|
| | 21. From 2 to 9, how would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to hydrogen production? Mark only one oval. |
| | 2, experience and judgement favor desalination over hydrogen production by a small margin |
| | 3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over hydrogen production |
| | 4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over hydrogen production |
| | 5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over hydrogen production |
| | 6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over hydrogen production |
| | 7, desalination is favored very strongly over hydrogen production and has been shown in practice |
| | 8, it is fairly clear, that in practice desalination can fluctuate better than hydrogen production |
| | 9, the evidence favoring desalination over hydrogen production is of the highest possible affirmation |
| | Other: |

Skip to question 23.

Hydrogen Production more able to fluctuate than Desalination

22. From 2 to 9, how would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to hydrogen production?

Mark only one oval.

|) 2. | , expe | erience | and | judc | ement | t favor | hydr | ogen | production | over | desalinat | tion b | уa | small | marg | in |
|------|--------|---------|-----|------|-------|---------|------|------|------------|------|-----------|--------|----|-------|------|----|
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over desalination

4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over desalination

5, experience and judgement strongly favor hydrogen production over desalination

6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over desalination

7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in practice

() 8, it is fairly clear that in practice hydrogen production can fluctuate better than desalination

9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as better able to fluctuate than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 23.

26

Ability to Fluctuate: Desalination vs Synthetic Fuels Production

| 23. | How would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to synthetic fuels |
|-----|--|
| | production? * |
| | Mark only one oval |

| viain | Onny | 0110 | ovui. | |
|-------|------|------|-------|--|
| | | | | |

 Desalination is more able to fluctuate than synthetic fuels production
 Skip to question 24.

 Synthetic fuels production is more able to fluctuate than desalination
 Skip to question 25.

 Desalination and synthetic fuels production are equally able to fluctuate
 Skip to question 25.

Desalination more able to fluctuate than Synthetic Fuels Production

24. From 2 to 9, how would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production?

Mark only one oval.

Skip to question 26.

2, experience and judgement favor desalination over synthetic fuels by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over synthetic fuels production

7, desalination is favored very strongly over synthetic fuel production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, desalination is better able to fluctuate than synthetic fuels production

9, the evidence favoring desalination as better able to fluctuate than synthetic fuels production is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 26.

Synthetic Fuels Production more able to fluctuate than Desalination

25. From 2 to 9, how would you say the ability to fluctuate of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production?

Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor synthetic fuels production over desalination by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

4, experience and judgement clearly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

5, experience and judgement strongly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

6, practice suggests moderate preference for synthetic fuels production over desalination

7, synthetic fuels production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, synthetic fuels production is better able to fluctuate than desalination

9, the evidence favoring synthetic fuels production as better able to fluctuate than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 26.

Ability to Fluctuate: Hydrogen Production vs Synthetic Fuels Production

26. How would you say the ability to fluctuate of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? *

Mark only one oval.

Hydrogen production is more able to fluctuate than synthetic fuels production *Skip to question 28.*

Synthetic fuels production is more able to fluctuate than hydrogen production *Skip to question 27.*

Hydrogen production and synthetic fuels production are equally able to fluctuate Skip to question 29.

Skip to question 29.

Synthetic Fuels Production more able to fluctuate than Hydrogen Production

| 27. From 2 to 9, how would you | y the ability to fluctuate of hydrogen production compares to |
|--------------------------------|---|
| synthetic fuels production? | |

Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor synthetic fuels over hydrogen production by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production

6, practice suggest moderate preference for synthetic fuels production over hydrogen production

7, synthetic fuels production is favored very strongly over hydrogen production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, synthetic fuels production is better able to fluctuate than hydrogen production

9, the evidence favoring synthetic fuels production as better able to fluctuate than hydrogen production is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1UcGcwJBFhjKnhnZWbvx3Y90yiFys6njBB1EoF3CMkV0/edit

Skip to question 29.

Hydrogen Production more able to fluctuate than Synthetic Fuels Production

88

| Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|---|
| 28. From 2 to 9, how would you say the ability to fluctuate of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? <i>Mark only one oval.</i> |
| 2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production by a small margin |
| 3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over the synthetic fuels production |
| 4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| 5, experience and judgement strongly favor the hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| 6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| 7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over synthetic fuel production and has been shown in practice |
| 8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, hydrogen production fluctuates better than synthetic fuels production |
| 9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as better able to fluctuate than synthetic fuels is of the highest possible affirmation |
| Other: |
| |

Skip to question 29.

5/23/2018

Profitability: Desalination vs Hydrogen Production

29. How would you say the profitability of desalination compares to hydrogen production? *

| Mark only one oval. | |
|---|----------------------|
| Desalination is more profitable than hydrogen production | Skip to question 31. |
| Hydrogen production is more profitable than desalination | Skip to question 30. |
| Desalination and hydrogen production are equally profitable | Skip to question 32 |

Skip to question 32.

Hydrogen Production more profitable than Desalination

| 5/23/2018 | Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|-----------|--|
| | 30. From 2 to 9, how would you say the profitability of desalination compares to hydrogen production? Mark only one oval. |
| | 2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over desalination by a small margin |
| | 3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over desalination |
| | 4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over desalination |
| | 5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over hydrogen production |
| | 6, practice suggest moderate preference for hydrogen production over desalination |
| | 7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in |
| | practice |
| | 8, it is fairly clear that in practice hydrogen production is more profitable than desalination |
| | 9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as more profitable than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation |
| | Other: |

Skip to question 32.

Desalination more profitable than Hydrogen Production

| 31. From 2 to 9, | how would you say th | e profitability of | desalination compa | ares to hydrogen |
|------------------|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------|
| production? | | | | |

Mark only one oval.

| ^ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|--------|------------|---------|---------|--------|------|-----------|-----|-------------------------|-----------|--------------|------------|---------|--------------------------------------|---------|---|
| · · · | 01/000 | 10000 000 | | 200000 | +01/05 | 2000 | I PO OTIO | · · | b 1 (d 1 | r ~ ~ ~ ~ | nrod | Inction | | 1000 | 2 | - |
| | PAUP | | 1 11 16 | THEFTER | | nesa | 11124110 | | 111/11 | | , ,, , ,, ,, | 16 -116 36 | 1 1 1 1 | / ㅋ </td <td> анн</td> <td></td> | анн | |
| | | ichiec and | | aacmen | | ucsu | mauc | | I I V GI | loucii | DIGG | aouoi | 1 10 1 | , a sin | лич | |
| / / | | | | | | | | | | | | | | / | | |

3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over hydrogen production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over hydrogen production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over hydrogen production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over hydrogen production

7, desalination is favored very strongly over hydrogen production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear, that in practice desalination is more profitable than hydrogen production

9, the evidence favoring desalination over hydrogen production is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 32.

Profitability: Desalination vs Synthetic Fuels Production

- 32. How would you say the profitability of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production? * Mark only one oval.
 - Desalination is more profitable than synthetic fuels production Skip to question 33.
 - Synthetic fuels production is more profitable than desalination

an desalination Skip to question 34.

Skip to question 35.

Desalination and synthetic fuels production are equally profitable

Skip to question 35.

Desalination more profitable than Synthetic Fuels Production

33. From 2 to 9, how would you say the profitability of desalination compares to synthetic fuels production?

Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor desalination over synthetic fuels production by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor desalination over synthetic fuels production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for desalination over synthetic fuels production

7, desalination is favored very strongly over synthetic fuels production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear, that in practice desalination is more profitable than synthetic fuels production

9, the evidence favoring desalination as more profitable than synthetic fuels production is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Skip to question 35.

Synthetic Fuels Production more profitable than Desalination

34. From 2 to 9, how would you say the profitability of desalination compares to synthetic fuels? Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor synthetic fuels production over desalination by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

4, experience and judgement clearly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

5, experience and judgement strongly favor synthetic fuels production over desalination

6, practice suggest moderate preference for synthetic fuels production

7, synthetic fuels production is favored very strongly over desalination and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear that, in practice, synthetic fuels production is more profitable than desalination

9, the evidence favoring synthetic fuels production as safer than desalination is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Profitability: Hydrogen Production vs Synthetic Fuels

Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System

35. How would you say the profitability of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? * Mark only one oval.

| Hydrogen production is more profitable than synthetic fuels production 36. | Skip to question |
|--|----------------------|
| Synthetic fuels production is more profitable than hydrogen prodution | Skip to question 37. |
| | O(5111 |

Hydrogen production and synthetic fuels production are equally profitable Stop filling out this form.

Hydrogen Production more profitable than Synthetic Fuels Production

| 3 | 6. From 2 to 9, how would you say the profitability of hydrogen production compares to |
|---|--|
| | synthetic fuels production? |
| | |

Mark only one oval.

2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production by a small margin

3, experience and judgement moderately favor the hydrogen production over the synthetic fuels production

4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production

5, experience and judgement strongly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production

6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production

7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over synthetic fuel production and has been shown in practice

8, it is fairly clear, that in practice hydrogen production is more profitable than synthetic fuels production

9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as more profitable than synthetic fuels is of the highest possible affirmation

Other:

Stop filling out this form.

Synthetic Fuels Production more profitable than Hydrogen Production

| 5/23/2018 | Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) for a Nuclear Renewable Hybrid Energy System |
|-----------|---|
| | 37. From 2 to 9, how would you say the profitability of hydrogen production compares to synthetic fuels production? |
| | 2, experience and judgement favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production by a |
| | small margin 3, experience and judgement moderately favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels |
| | production |
| | 4, experience and judgement clearly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 5, experience and judgement strongly favor hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 6, practice suggests moderate preference for hydrogen production over synthetic fuels production |
| | 7, hydrogen production is favored very strongly over synthetic fuel production and has been shown in practice |
| | 8, it is fairly clear, that in practice hydrogen production is more profitable than synthetic fuels production |
| | 9, the evidence favoring hydrogen production as more profitable than synthetic fuels is of the highest possible affirmation |
| | Other: |


APPENDIX B: FUZZY ANALYTIC HIERARCHY PROCESS

The following code includes how the fuzzy AHP was performed on the expert AHP survey described above. The process first involved translating the responses into the ranges descriptive of each of the answers. Then, the answers from each of the surveys was input into the program. Then, a geometric mean was found for each of the responses. Each of the options were then weighted based on the importance of the characteristics, in this case with safety having a much greater weighting than the other two characteristics.

AHP/AHP_Buckley.py at master · emmaredfoot/AHP

4/29/2018

| emn | naredfoot / AHP |
|----------|--|
| Branch: | master AHP / AHP_Buckley.py |
| nem | maredfoot Small add |
| l contri | ibutor |
| 202 li | nes (160 sloc) 8.35 KB |
| 1 | import numpy |
| 2 | import csv |
| 3 | <pre>import matplotlib.pyplot as plt</pre> |
| 4 | |
| 5 | #Functions |
| 6 | <pre>def GeometricMean(LineList, Spot):</pre> |
| 7 | <pre>values = [x[Spot] for x in LineList]</pre> |
| 8 | GeoMean=1 |
| 9 | <pre>for i in range(len(LineList)):</pre> |
| 10 | GeoMean=GeoMean*values[i] |
| 11 | <pre>return(Geomean**(1/ien(LineList)))</pre> |
| 12 | def Denfermansefsenes(e. h. c. d). |
| 1.4 | <pre>uer Performancescores(a, D, C, a): # The number of nows in each matrix will always be three. so I am hand ording it in </pre> |
| 14 | * The number of rows in each matrix will always be three, so I am hard could it in |
| 10 | |
| 17 | UV X III range(3) DEVIJEJaVJ(cum/d) b[v]/cum/c) c[v]/cum/h) d[v]/cum/c)] |
| 18 | return(PS) |
| 19 | |
| 20 | #Weight all of the performance score values |
| 21 | #Add all of the values in the individual locations together |
| 22 | #Return the utility function for safety, ability to fluctuate, and profitability |
| 23 | <pre>def WeightPS(r ii, weight):</pre> |
| 24 | weightedPS=[0]*len(r ij) |
| 25 | <pre>for i in range(len(r ij)):</pre> |
| 26 | <pre>weightedPS[i]=[a*b for a,b in zip(r_ij[i],weight[i])]</pre> |
| 27 | <pre>print(i,r_ij[i])</pre> |
| 28 | #L_1[i]=r_ij[i] |
| 29 | Desal=weightedPS[0] |
| 30 | HProd=weightedPS[1] |
| 31 | SynFuel=weightedPS[2] |
| 32 | #Find the right and left sides of each of the lines |
| 33 | <pre># for i in range(len(Desal)):</pre> |
| 34 | <pre># L_1=(Desal[1]-weight[0])/(weight[1]-weight[0])</pre> |
| 35 | <pre># R_1=(Desal[3]-Desal[2])/(Weight[3]-Weight[2])</pre> |
| 36 | <pre># L_2=Weight[0]*(Desal[1]-Desal[0])+Desal[0]*(Weight[1]-Weight[1])</pre> |
| 37 | <pre># R_2=-1*(Weight[3]*(Desal[3]-Desal[2])+Desal[0]*(Weight[3]-Weight[2]))</pre> |
| 38 | # return(L_1, L_2, R_1, R_2) |
| 39 | return(Desal, HProd, SynFuel) |
| 40 | |
| 41 | UET ULIILLY(A, D, C): |
| 42 | for x in range(len(C)): |
| 44 | $utilitv[x] = \Delta[x] + B[x] + C[x]$ |
| 45 | return(utility) |
| 46 | |
| 47 | |
| 48 | |
| 49 | |
| 50 | #CONSTANTS AND INPUT |
| 51 | #1 corresponds to equally important |
| 52 | #2-3 correspond to weakly more important |
| 53 | #4-5 corresponds to strongly more important |
| 54 | #6-7 correspond to very strongly more important |
| 55 | #8-9 correspond to absolutely more important |
| | |

https://github.com/emmaredfoot/AHP/blob/master/AHP_Buckley.py

Find file Copy path 4b0ad67 on Mar 16

```
4/29/2018
                                                                                       AHP/AHP Buckley py at master emmaredfoot/AHP
                  Equal = (1.0, 1.0, 1.0, 1.0)
           58
                  EqI = (1/2, 3/4, 5/4, 3/2)
                  InvEqI = (2/3, 4/5, 4/3, 2)
           60
                  Weak = (1, 3/2, 5/2, 3)
                  InvWeak=(1/3,2/5,2/3,1)
                  Strong = (2, 5/2, 7/2, 4)
                  InvStrong=(1/4,2/7,2/5,1/2)
                  Very = (5,11/2,13/2,7)
                  InvVery=(1/7,2/11,2/13,1/5)
                  Abs=(7,15/2,17/2,9)
                  InvAbs=(1/9,2/17,2/15,1/7)
                  SafetyLine1=[Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Weak,Strong, EqI, Strong, Very, Strong, Strong, EqI, Strong, Strong]
                  SafetyLine2=[InvWeak, InvStrong, InvEqI, InvStrong, InvVery, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, EqI, EqI, EqI, EqI, InvWeak]
                  SafetyLine3=[InvStrong, InvStrong, InvEqI, InvStrong, InvEqI, InvEqI, InvEqI, InvEqI, Weak, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal]
                  FluctuateLine1 = [Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, EqI, EqI, Abs, Very, Strong, Abs, EqI, Strong, Strong]
                  FluctuateLine2= [InvEqI, InvEqI, InvEqI, InvAbs, InvVery, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Abs, Abs, EqI, InvWeak, EqI]
                  FluctuateLine3= [InvStrong, InvAbs, InvEqI, InvStrong, InvStrong, InvAbs, InvAbs, InvEqI, Weak, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal
                  ProfitabilityLine1 = [Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, InvVery, EqI, Very, InvStrong, InvVery, EqI, InvVery, InvAbs, InvStrong, InvWeak]
                  ProfitabilityLine2 = [Very, InvEqI, InvVery, Strong, Very, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, EqI, EqI, InvAbs, EqI, Strong]
                  ProfitabilityLine3 = [InvEqI, Very, Abs, Strong, Weak, InvEqI, InvEqI, Abs, InvEqI, InvStrong, Equal, Equal
                  CharLine1=[Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Very, Abs, Abs, Very, Very, Abs, Abs, Abs, EqI, Very]
                  CharLine2=[InvVery, InvAbs, InvAbs, InvVery, InvVery, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, InvAbs, InvVery, EqI, InvAbs]
                  CharLine3=[InvAbs, InvAbs, InvEqI, InvVery, Abs, Very, InvEqI, Abs, Strong, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal, Equal
                  #Find the Geometric Mean for Each of the matrices and each location
                  SafeSpot0 = [GeometricMean(SafetyLine1, 0), GeometricMean(SafetyLine2, 0), GeometricMean(SafetyLine3, 0)]
                  SafeSpot1 = [GeometricMean(SafetyLine1, 1), GeometricMean(SafetyLine2, 1),GeometricMean(SafetyLine3, 1)]
                  SafeSpot2 = [GeometricMean(SafetyLine1, 2), GeometricMean(SafetyLine2, 2),GeometricMean(SafetyLine3, 2)]
                  SafeSpot3 = [GeometricMean(SafetyLine1, 3), GeometricMean(SafetyLine2, 3), GeometricMean(SafetyLine3, 3)]
           90
                  FlucSpot0 = [GeometricMean(FluctuateLine1, 0), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine2, 0), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine3, 0)]
                  FlucSpot1 = [GeometricMean(FluctuateLine1, 1), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine2, 1), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine3, 1)]
                  FlucSpot2 = [GeometricMean(FluctuateLine1, 2), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine2, 2), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine3, 2)]
                  FlucSpot3 = [GeometricMean(FluctuateLine1, 3), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine2, 3), GeometricMean(FluctuateLine3, 3)]
                  ProfitSpot0 = [GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine1, 0), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine2, 0), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine3, 0)]
           96
                  ProfitSpot1 = [GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine1, 1), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine2, 1), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine3, 1)]
                  ProfitSpot2 = [GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine1, 2), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine2, 2), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine3, 2)]
                  ProfitSpot3 = [GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine1, 3), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine2, 3), GeometricMean(ProfitabilityLine3, 3)]
                  CharSpot0 = [GeometricMean(CharLine1, 0), GeometricMean(CharLine2, 0), GeometricMean(CharLine3, 0)]
                  CharSpot1 = [GeometricMean(CharLine1, 1), GeometricMean(CharLine2, 1), GeometricMean(CharLine3, 1)]
                  CharSpot2 = [GeometricMean(CharLine1, 2), GeometricMean(CharLine2, 2), GeometricMean(CharLine3, 2)]
                  CharSpot3 = [GeometricMean(CharLine1, 3), GeometricMean(CharLine2, 3), GeometricMean(CharLine3, 3)]
                  #Save the Performance Score values
                  SafetyPS = PerformanceScores(SafeSpot0, SafeSpot1, SafeSpot2, SafeSpot3)
                  FlucPS = PerformanceScores(FlucSpot0, FlucSpot1, FlucSpot2, FlucSpot3)
                  ProfitPS = PerformanceScores(ProfitSpot0, ProfitSpot1, ProfitSpot2, ProfitSpot3)
                  Weights = PerformanceScores(CharSpot0, CharSpot1, CharSpot2, CharSpot3)
                  #I am passing in the performance scores and returning the weighted performance scores for each of the options
                  DesalSafe, HProdSafe, SynFuelSafe = WeightPS(SafetyPS, Weights)
                  DesalFluc, HProdFluc, SynFuelFluc = WeightPS(FlucPS, Weights)
                  DesalProf, HProdProf, SynFuelProf = WeightPS(ProfitPS, Weights)
                  #Return the limits of the fuzzy numbers
                  #Finding the left and right points for the member Functions
```

4/29/2018

```
def memberlimits(PerfScore, Weight):
          L_1=(PerfScore[1]-PerfScore[0])/(Weight[1]-Weight[0])
          R_1=(PerfScore[3]-PerfScore[2])/(Weight[3]-Weight[2])
          L_2=Weight[0]*(PerfScore[1]-PerfScore[0])+PerfScore[0]*(Weight[1]-Weight[1])
          R_2=-1*(Weight[3]*(PerfScore[3]-PerfScore[2])+PerfScore[0]*(Weight[3]-Weight[2]))
          return(L_1, L_2, R_1, R_2)
130
     DSL1, DSL2, DSL3, DSL4=memberlimits(DesalSafe, Weights[0])
     DFL1, DFL2, DFL3, DFL4=memberlimits(DesalFluc, Weights[1])
      DPL1, DPL2, DPL3, DPL4=memberlimits(DesalFluc, Weights[2])
      HSL1, HSL2, HSL3, HSL4=memberlimits(HProdSafe, Weights[0])
      HFL1, HFL2, HFL3, HFL4=memberlimits(HProdFluc, Weights[1])
      HPL1, HPL2, HPL3, HPL4=memberlimits(HProdProf, Weights[2])
      SSL1, SSL2, SSL3, SSL4=memberlimits(SynFuelSafe, Weights[0])
      SFL1, SFL2, SFL3, DFL4=memberlimits(SynFuelFluc, Weights[1])
      DPL1, DPL2, DPL3, DPL4=memberlimits(SynFuelFluc, Weights[2])
      DesalL1 = DSL1+DFL1+DPL1
      Desall2 = DSL2+DEL2+DPL2
      DesalR1 =
      def AddUp
148
      #DesalL1, DesalL2, DesalR1, DesalR2 = memberlimits()
150
      DesalU=Utility(DesalSafe, DesalFluc, DesalProf)
      HProdU= Utility(HProdSafe, HProdFluc, HProdProf)
      SynFuelU=Utility(SynFuelSafe, SynFuelFluc, SynFuelProf)
      #Save the PerformanceScores to a file
      with open('PerformanceScores_new.csv', 'w') as myfile:
          out=csv.writer(myfile)
          out.writerow('Safety')
          out.writerow(SafetvPS[0])
          out.writerow(SafetvPS[1])
          out.writerow(SafetyPS[2])
          out.writerow('\nFluctuate')
          out.writerow(FlucPS[0])
          out.writerow(FlucPS[1])
          out.writerow(FlucPS[2])
166
          out.writerow('\nProfitability')
          out.writerow(ProfitPS[0])
168
          out.writerow(ProfitPS[1])
          out.writerow(ProfitPS[2])
170
          out.writerow('\nFuzzy Weights')
          out.writerow(Weights[0])
          out.writerow(Weights[1])
          out.writerow(Weights[2])
      myfile.close()
      with open('Utility_2.csv', 'w') as ufile:
          output = csv.writer(ufile)
          output.writerow('Desalination')
          output.writerow(Utility(DesalSafe, DesalFluc, DesalProf))
          output.writerow("Hydrogen")
          output.writerow(Utility(HProdSafe, HProdFluc, HProdProf))
          output.writerow("Synthetic Fuels")
183
          output.writerow(Utility(SynFuelSafe, SynFuelFluc, SynFuelProf))
184
185
      ufile.close()
187
188
189
```

97

APPENDIX C: PUMP DATA

The following pump datasheets are the direct sources of information for the off-the-shelf pumps used in this research. IDE Progreen is the company which constructed the world's largest reverse osmosis system. These pumps have data including the pressure required for the reverse osmosis system using these pumps. The pressure and energy requirement data from the pump datasheets included are the sources for the pump models developed in Aspen HYSYS.

IDE PROGREEN[™] SW-S 1000

1000 m³/day (184 gpm) SWR0 CHEMICAL-FREE DESALINATION PLANT

Key Features

- Patented Direct Osmosis Cleaning (DOC) system
- Energy-efficient high pressure pumps with frequency converter (VFD)
- State-of-the-art, highly efficient energy recovery system
- End-to-end modular PLC with 15" touch screen
- Remote performance monitoring

Optional Features

- Integrated SCADA system
- Configuration: Containerized or skid mounted
- Redundancy options for high availability
- Second pass R0 for industrial applications
- Remineralization add-on module

Operating Parameters

| TDS | 35,000-41,000 ppm |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------|
| TSS | < 15 ppm |
| Operating temperature | 15-32°C (59-90°F) |
| Recovery rate | 45% |
| Energy consumption (T - 27°C) | 3.0-3.2 kWh/m ³ |
| Electrical supply | EU: 380-420V 50Hz |
| | NA: 440-480V 60Hz |

Material Specifications

| Piping and accessories (LP) | 316 / Polypropylene / PVC |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|
| Piping and accessories (HP) | SMO / Supper Duplex |
| High pressure pump | Super Duplex |
| Pressure vessels | FRP |
| R0 membranes | Polyamide (8'') |
| Skid | Epoxy painted carbon steel |



Dimensions

| Weight | | | | | | | |
|--|----------|---------------------|--------------|-------|--|--|--|
| | Ship | Installed Weight | | | | | |
| Unit Type | Quantity | Туре | Weight (ton) | (ton) | | | |
| Pretreatment | 1 | 20' | 9.0 | 52.0 | | | |
| Equipment | 1 | 20' | 8.0 | 8.0 | | | |
| RO | 1 | 40' | 13.9 | 18.2 | | | |
| Media | 2 | 20' | 13.8 | | | | |
| Overall Footprint [m] | | | | | | | |
| Length - Min: 5.98 / Max: 11.98 Width - Min: 2.30 / Max: 6.90 | | | | | | | |
| Height - Min: 2.51 / Max: 2.62 | | | | | | | |



www.ide-tech.com

Equipment & Process Specifications

| | Character | Value | |
|------------|--------------------------------|--|--|
| | Feed flow rate [m³/hr] | 96.3 | |
| | Minimum inlet pressure [bar] | 1.0 | |
| | Contact Media Module | | |
| | Number of units | 1 | |
| Ļ | Manufacturer | IDE | |
| en | Media type | Plastic Media Carrier | |
| Ë | Media volume [m³] | 2.3 | |
| eat | Filters | | |
| etro | Number of units | 3 | |
| Dre | Filter manufacturer | IDE | |
| ш. | Filter media type | Gravel, Sand, Anthracite | |
| | Total media volume [m³] | 9.6 | |
| | Micro Filters | | |
| | Filter type | Melt Blown Polypropylene | |
| | Filter manufacturer | Fluytec* | |
| | Feed flow rate [m³/hr] | 92.6 | |
| | Recovery rate [m³/hr] | 41.7 | |
| | Brine water flow rate [m³/hr] | 50.9 | |
| | High Pressure Pumps | | |
| | Number of units | 1 | |
| | Pump type | Piston | |
| | Pump manufacturer | Danfoss* | |
| | Motor power [kW] | 132.0 | |
| | Motor manufacturer | ABB* | |
| C | Energy Recovery System (ERS) | | |
| tio | ERS flow rate per unit [m³/hr] | 50.9 | |
| na | Number of ERS units | 1 | |
| ali | ERS manufacturer | Energy Recovery Inc.* | |
| es | Circulation Pump | | |
| | Pump type | Centrifugal | |
| | Pump manufacturer | Fapmo* | |
| | Pressure Vessels | | |
| | Number of units | 7 | |
| | Vessel manufacturer | Protec* | |
| | Max operating pressure [bar] | 82.0 | |
| | Number of membranes per PV | 8 | |
| | Membranes | | |
| | Membrane type | TFC Polyamide | |
| | Membrane manufacturer | Toray / Hydranautics / DOW / Nano H ₂ 0 | |
| * Or equiv | alent | | |



www.ide-tech.com

IDE PROGREEN[™] SW-L 5000

5000 m³/day (917 gpm) SWRO CHEMICAL-FREE DESALINATION PLANT

Key Features

- Patented Direct Osmosis Cleaning (DOC) system
- Energy-efficient high pressure pumps with frequency converter (VFD)
- State-of-the-art, highly efficient energy recovery system
- End-to-end modular PLC with 15" touch screen
- Remote performance monitoring

Optional Features

- Integrated SCADA system
- Configuration: Containerized or skid mounted
- Redundancy options for high availability
- Second pass R0 for industrial applications

Operating Parameters

| TDS | 35,000-41,000 ppm |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------|
| TSS | < 15 ppm |
| Operating temperature | 15-32°C (59-90°F) |
| Recovery rate | 45% |
| Energy consumption (T - 27°C) | 3.0-3.2 kWh/m ³ |
| Electrical supply | EU: 380-420V 50Hz |
| | NA: 440-480V 60Hz |

Material Specifications

| and accessories (LP) | 316 / Polypropyler |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| and accessories (HP) | SM |
| essure pump | Super Duple |
| re vessels | FF |
| mbranes | Polyamide (8 |
| | Epoxy painted carbon ste |
| essure pump re vessels mbranes | Super Dupl Ff Polyamide (8 Epoxy painted carbon ste |

Dimensions

| Weight | | | | | | |
|---|----------|-----------|--------------|-------|--|--|
| | Ship | Installed | | | | |
| Unit Type | Quantity | Туре | Weight (ton) | (ton) | | |
| Pretreatment | 2 | 40' | 24.0 | 208.0 | | |
| Equipment | 2 | 40' | 16.0 | 21.0 | | |
| RO | 2 | 40' | 35.0 | 46.0 | | |
| Media | 2 | 40' | 56.0 | | | |
| Overall Footprint [m] | | | | | | |
| Length - 23.96 Width - Max: 9.20 / Min: 6.90 Height - Max: 2.62 / Min: 2.51 | | | | | | |



www.ide-tech.com



Equipment & Process Specifications

| | Character | Value |
|------------|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| | Feed flow rate [m³/hr] | 481.5 |
| | Minimum inlet pressure [bar] | 1.0 |
| | Contact Media Module | |
| | Number of units | 2 |
| L. | Manufacturer | IDE |
| en | Media type | Plastic Media Carrier |
| E | Media volume [m³] | 9.6 |
| eat | Filters | |
| etro | Number of units | 7 |
| Pre | Filter manufacturer | IDE |
| <u> </u> | Filter media type | Gravel, Sand, Anthracite |
| | Total media volume [m³] | 46.7 |
| | Micro Filters | |
| | Filter type | Melt Blown Polypropylene |
| | Filter manufacturer | Fluytec* |
| | Feed flow rate [m ³ /hr] | 463.0 |
| | Recovery rate [m³/hr] | 208.3 |
| | Brine water flow rate [m³/hr] | 254.6 |
| | High Pressure Pumps | |
| | Pump type | Horizontal Centrifugal |
| | Pump manufacturer | Energy Recovery Inc.* |
| | Motor power [kW] | 630.0 |
| | Motor manufacturer | ABB* |
| C | Energy Recovery System (ERS) | |
| tio | Number of ERS units | 4 |
| na | ERS manufacturer | Energy Recovery Inc.* |
| ali | Circulation Pump | |
| es | Pump type | Centrifugal |
| | Pump manufacturer | Fapmo* |
| | Pressure Vessels | |
| | Number of units | 36 |
| | Vessel manufacturer | Protec* |
| | Max operating pressure [bar] | 82.0 |
| | Number of membranes per PV | 8 |
| | Membranes | |
| | Membrane type | TFC Polyamide |
| | Membrane manufacturer | Toray / Hydranautics / DOW / Nano H,0 |
| * Or equiv | alent | £ |



400 plants. 40 countries. 4 decades.

APPENDIX D: ASPEN HYSYS

The following images show some of the MSF and RO configurations included in this thesis. The MSF system had multiple configurations along with many different temperatures attempted. Initially, it was unclear if the best configuration would include sending higher temperature water to the MSF system. After different experiments with the model, it was found that the best outcomes came from running the MSF at 80°C.



Figure D.1: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 80° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system



Figure D.2: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 80° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system



Figure D.3: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 80° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process. With 25% of the electricity decreased and sent as heat to the MSF system



Figure D.4: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $80^{\circ}C$ heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.5: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with $80^{\circ}C$ heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.6: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 85 $^{\circ}C$ heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.7: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 85 $^{\circ}$ C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.8: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $90^{\circ}C$ heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.9: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with $90^{\circ}C$ heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.10: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending $95^{\circ}C$ heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.11: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 95° C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.12: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 100° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.13: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 100° C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.14: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 105° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.15: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 105° C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.16: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 110° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.17: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with 110° C heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.18: A much simplified model of the Palo Verde Generating Station's Power Cycle sending 120° C heat to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.19: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with $120^{\circ}C$ heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.20: A model of the Palo Verde Power Cycle with about 5% of the water going towards the MSF system.



Figure D.21: A simplified model of a 21 stage multi stage flash distillation system functioning with $80^{\circ}C$ heat from the reactor to the condenser to be used for the multi-stage flash distillation water purification process



Figure D.22: Three pumps which are marketed for reverse osmosis systems by IDE Progreen

APPENDIX E: ASPEN HYSYS WATER COMPOSITION CALCULATION

In order to assess the purity of the water produced through the MSF system, the water input into the system needed to closely match the brackish groundwater found in Arizona. In order to demonstrate a worst case scenario, the thesis multiplied the particulates in the system by about 10. The table below demonstrates the dimensional analysis implemented in order to find the mole percent of each particulate.

| Material | Value (mg/L) | g/L | molar mass (g/mol) | mol/L | mol fraction | mol percent | Percent of non-water molecules |
|----------|--------------|----------|--------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|--------------------------------|
| Calcium | 163 | 0.163 | 40.078 | 0.004067069215 | 0.000073248333 | 0.007324833344 | 0.1328053702 |
| Mg | 69 | 0.069 | 24.305 | 0.002838922033 | 0.000051129276 | 0.00511292768 | 0.0927016659 |
| Na | 414 | 0.414 | 22.99 | 0.01800782949 | 0.000324322855 | 0.0324322855 | 0.5880245297 |
| NaSO3 | | | | | | 0.000229641387 | 0.004163590904 |
| Sulfate | 505 | 0.505 | 96.06 | 0.00525713096 | 0.000094681467 | 0.009468146745 | 0.1716654393 |
| Ва | 0.04 | 0.00004 | 137.33 | 0.000000291269 | 0.00000005245 | 0.00000524578 | 0.00000951105394 |
| NO3 | 17.9 | 0.0179 | 62.0049 | 0.000288686861 | 0.000005199279 | 0.000519927997 | 0.009426730537 |
| Silt | 5.6 | 0.0056 | | | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| F | 0.7 | 0.0007 | 18.998 | 0.000036845983 | 0.00000663599 | 0.000066359994 | 0.001203162341 |
| Arsenic | 0.003 | 0.000003 | 74.9216 | 0.000000040041 | 0.00000000721 | 0.00000072115 | 0.000001307519832 |
| Water | 1.00E+06 | 1.00E+03 | 18.02 | 5.55E+01 | 9.99E-01 | 9.99E+01 | 1.000001308 |
| | 1175.243 | | | 0.03049681586 | 1 | 100 | |
| | | | | 55.52439249 | | | |
| | | | | | Total non-water | 0.05515464722 | |

Figure E.1: Screen shot of Excel Calculation of the component makeup for the brackish underground water in Arizona

APPENDIX F: RAVEN INPUT CODE

The following code displays how the Arizona Public Service's hourly demand data was initially translated into daily time series in the eia datetime general python code. Then, the convert multiple histories code displays taking the data and separating it into the seasons as defined by the Farmer's Almanac. Finally, the train eia xml document displays the RAVEN input document for one season, in this case fall. This xml document shows how the data is input into the system, which then trains the ARMA model to have similar statistical outcomes as the real data input into the system. Finally, the Arizona fall document generates the synthetic data and plots it in the graphs included in this thesis. Thank you Dr. Andrea Alfonsi for all of the help with the RAVEN input scripts.

5/23/2018

 $\mathsf{RAVEN}_\mathsf{APS}/\mathsf{eia}_\mathsf{datetime}_\mathsf{general}.\mathsf{py} \text{ at master} \cdot \mathsf{emmaredfoot}/\mathsf{RAVEN}_\mathsf{APS}$

| | DAVEN ADC / sig deteting general my | | . . |
|--------------|---|-----------|------------|
| Branch: mas | ter KAVEN_APS / ela_datetime_general.py | Find file | Copy path |
| 褶 emmar | edfoot Python document which organizes eia data | 9b17cab a | minute ago |
| 1 contributo |)r | | |
| 56 lines (| 52 sloc) 2.98 KB | | |
| 1 #C | ode to break the EIA APS demand data into seperate seasons | | |
| 2 im | port csv | | |
| 3 im | port os | | |
| 4 #C | reate a csv file to write the data | | |
| 5 de | <pre>f writeFile(outfile, monthB, monthE, dayB, dayE):</pre> | | |
| 6 | #Open the Arizona Public Service Demand data downloaded from EIA | | |
| 7 | <pre>dataset = csv.reader(open('RAVEN/APS_data_1.csv', newline=''), delimiter=',') with service file</pre> | | |
| õ | With open(outrile, w) as subfile: | | |
| 10 | # Rewrite the first column in the ela data so that it gives the year, the month and day, and the times subfile writelines('Time Demand'+os linesen) | | |
| 11 | for row in dataset: | | |
| 12 | day = row[0][8:10] | | |
| 13 | month = row[0][5:7] | | |
| 14 | hour = row[0][-5:-3] | | |
| 15 | demand =row[1] | | |
| 16 | #First check if the months correspond to those in the given season | | |
| 17 | <pre>if monthB <= int(month)<= monthE:</pre> | | |
| 18 | #If the month is the last month, make sure that it is only those days on or before the beginning | | |
| 19 | <pre>if int(month) == monthE:</pre> | | |
| 20 | <pre>it int(day) <= dayE:</pre> | | |
| 21 | <pre>subtile.writelines({0}, {1} .tormat(row[0][-5:-3], row[1]+os.linesep)) clif monthR < int(month) < monthF:</pre> | | |
| 22 | subfile writelines('/0) (1)' format(row[0][-5:-3] row[1]tos linesen)) | | |
| 24 | #If the month is the first month, only write those days on or after the final day | | |
| 25 | <pre>elif int(day) >= dayB:</pre> | | |
| 26 | <pre>subfile.writelines('{0},{1}'.format(row[0][-5:-3], row[1]+os.linesep))</pre> | | |
| 27 | | | |
| 28 de | f writeWinter(outfile, monthB, monthE, dayB, dayE): | | |
| 29 | #Open the Arizona Public Service Demand data downloaded from EIA | | |
| 30 | <pre>dataset = csv.reader(open('RAVEN/APS_data_1.csv', newline=''), delimiter=',')</pre> | | |
| 31 | with open(outfile, 'w') as subfile: | | |
| 32 | # Rewrite the first column in the eia data so that it gives the year, the month and day, and the times | | |
| 33 | <pre>subtle.writelines(lime, Demand +os.linesep) for row in dataset;</pre> | | |
| 35 | day = row[0][8:10] | | |
| 36 | month = row[0][5:7] | | |
| 37 | hour = row[0][-5:-3] | | |
| 38 | demand =row[1] | | |
| 39 | #First check if the months correspond to those in the given season | | |
| 40 | <pre>if monthB <= int(month)+12 <= monthE+12:</pre> | | |
| 41 | #If the month is the last month, make sure that it is only those days on or before the beginning | | |
| 42 | <pre>if int(month) == monthE:</pre> | | |
| 43 | <pre>it int(day) <= dayE:</pre> | | |
| 45 | elif monthB < int(month)+12 < monthF+12. | | |
| 46 | <pre>subfile.writelines('{0},{1}'.format(row[0][-5:-3]. row[1]+os.linesep))</pre> | | |
| 47 | #If the month is the first month, only write those days on or after the final day | | |
| 48 | <pre>elif int(day) >= dayB:</pre> | | |
| 49 | <pre>subfile.writelines('{0},{1}'.format(row[0][-5:-3], row[1]+os.linesep))</pre> | | |
| 50 | | | |
| 51 | | | |
| 52 Sp | ring = writeFile('RAVEN/SpringEIA.csv', 3, 6, 20, 20) | | |
| 53 Su | <pre>mmer = writeFile('RAVEN/SummerEIA.csv', 6, 9, 22, 21)</pre> | | |
| 54 Fa | <pre>ll = writeFile('RAVEN/FallEIA.csv', 9, 12, 22, 21)</pre> | | |
| 55 Wi | nter = writewinter('KAVEN/WinterEIA.CSV', 12, 3, 21, 19) | | |

https://github.com/emmaredfoot/RAVEN_APS/blob/master/eia_datetime_general.py

1/2

5/23/2018

 $\mathsf{RAVEN}_\mathsf{APS}/\mathsf{convert}_\mathsf{multiple}_\mathsf{histories}.\mathsf{py} \text{ at master} \cdot \mathsf{emmaredfoot}/\mathsf{RAVEN}_\mathsf{APS}$

| 🖵 emr | naredfoot / RAVEN_APS | | |
|---------|--|-----------|-------------|
| | | | |
| Branch | master KAVEN_APS / convert_multiple_histories.py | Find file | Copy path |
| n en | Imaredfoot First Commit of APS Raven work | bc061f5 | 3 hours ago |
| 1 contr | ibutor | | |
| 35 lir | es (28 sloc) 1.3 KB | | |
| 1 | <pre>def multipleHistories(filename, season):</pre> | | |
| 2 | <pre>lines = open(filename,"r").readlines()</pre> | | |
| 3 | header = lines.pop(0) | | |
| 4 | demand = [] | | |
| 5 | hours = [] | | |
| 6 | <pre>for cnt, line in enumerate(lines):</pre> | | |
| 7 | | | |
| 8 | <pre>if line.strip().split(",")[0].strip() == "23":</pre> | | |
| 9 | # first line | | |
| 10 | start_counter = cnt | | |
| 11 | <pre>elif line.strip().split(",")[0].strip() == "00":</pre> | | |
| 12 | # last line | | |
| 13 | <pre>demand.append([float(lin.strip().split(",")[1]) for lin in lines[start_counter:cnt+1] if len(lin.strip()) > 0]</pre> |) | |
| 14 | hours.append ([int(lin.strip().split(",")[0]) for lin in lines[start_counter:cnt+1] if len(lin.strip()) > 0]) | | |
| 15 | | | |
| 16 | <pre>tor nst_cnt in range(len(demand)):</pre> | | |
| 1/ | <pre>t_obj = open(season+str(h1st_cnt)+'.csv', 'w') f obj which (backge strip() strip() ") </pre> | | |
| 10 | T_OUJ.Write(neader.rstrip().strip()+ (n) | | |
| 19 | for is in reverse (range(len(nours[.nist_tri])): | | |
| 20 | f abi cloce() | | |
| 21 | (_00).(10se() | | |
| 23 | InputFile=onen("raw data "+season+".csv"."w") | | |
| 24 | InputFile.write("scaling.filename"+"\n") | | |
| 25 | <pre>for hist cnt in range(len(demand));</pre> | | |
| 26 | <pre>InputFile.write("1"+","+season+str(hist cnt)+".csv"+"\n")</pre> | | |
| 27 | InputFile.close() | | |
| 28 | | | |
| 29 | | | |
| 30 | | | |
| 31 | Spring=multipleHistories("SpringEIA.csv", "spring_") | | |
| 32 | Summer=multipleHistories("SummerEIA.csv", "summer_") | | |
| 33 | <pre>Fall=multipleHistories("FallEIA.csv", "fall_")</pre> | | |
| 34 | Winter=multipleHistories("WinterEIA.csv", "winter_") | | |

 $https://github.com/emmaredfoot/RAVEN_APS/blob/master/convert_multiple_histories.py$

7/19/2018

RAVEN_APS/train_eia_fall.xml at master · emmaredfoot/RAVEN_APS

| Branch: master → Icontributor 1 99 Istantial 2 3 4 5 7 8 10 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 | ot Last push | rain_eia_fall.xml | | | the second se | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|----|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| emmaredfo I contributor 2 < | ot Last push | Branch: master RAVEN_APS / FALL / train_eia_fall.xml | | | | | | | | | |
| I contributor 1 <simula< td=""> 2 <runi< td=""> 3 <wi< td=""> 4 <si< td=""> 5 7 <step< td=""> 8 <ii< td=""> 9 10 11 12 <ii< td=""> 13 <pi< td=""> 14 15 16 17 18 <ru< td=""> 19 20 21 <ii< td=""> 22 <ii< td=""> 23 24 25 26 27 28 <dat< td=""> 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 </dat<></ii<></ii<></ru<></pi<></ii<></ii<></step<></si<></wi<></runi<></simula<> | | emmaredfoot Last push | | | | | | | | | |
| 99 I <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> | | | | | | | | | | | |
| < < 2 < 3 < 4 < 5 7 < 8 10 - 11 - 12 13 < 14 - 15 - 16 - 17 20 - 21 22 23 - 24 - 25 26 27 - 28 29 - 31 - 32 - 33 - 34 - 35 36 - 37 - 38 - 39 - 40 <td< th=""><th>loc) 3.17 KB</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<> | loc) 3.17 KB | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2 < < Run; 3 < < 4 < 5 < < / 7 < < 8 < 9 10 11 12 < / /; 13 < 14 15 16 17 < / /; 28 < 29 28 < 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 < 36 41 42 43 44 45 47 < 48 | ation verbosity="debug" col | or="true"> | | | | | | | | | |
| 3 4 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 28 <dat.< td=""> 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42</dat.<> | Info> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5 6 7 <step< td=""> 8 <ii< td=""> 9 10 11 12 13 <p< td=""> 14 15 16 17 20 21 22 <ii< td=""> 23 24 25 26 27 28 28 <dat.< td=""> 31 32 33 34 35 36 <h< td=""> 40 41 42 44 45 <(Fill</h<></dat.<></ii<></p<></ii<></step<> | orkingDir>. equence>readInData tynicalH | istory train seriali | zec/Sequences | | | | | | | | |
| 6 7 <<5tep | nInfo> | | 200 Sequences | | | | | | | | |
| - - 8 - 9 - 10 - 11 - 12 - 13 < | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 <iii< td=""> 9 10 11 12 13 <cp(1)< td=""> 14 15 16 17 18 <r(1)< td=""> 20 21 22 <iii< td=""> 23 24 25 26 27 28 <datt< td=""> 39 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 44 45 44 45 </datt<></iii<></r(1)<></cp(1)<></iii<> | ps> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 9 | OStep name="readInData"> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 10 | <input <="" class="Files" td=""/> <td>type=""</td> <td><pre>>rawDataFile</pre></td> <td></td> <td></td> | type="" | <pre>>rawDataFile</pre> | | | | | | | | |
| 11 | <output <="" class="DataObjects" td=""><td>type="HistorySet"</td><td>>raw_data</td></output> | type="HistorySet" | >raw_data | | | | | | | | |
| 13 <p(1)< td=""> 13 <p(2)< td=""> 14 15 16 17 18 <r(1)< td=""> 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 31 32 33 34 35 40 41 42 43 44 45 47 48 47</r(1)<></p(2)<></p(1)<> | COUTPUT Class="OutStreams" | type="Piot" | >Fall Raw Data Graph | | | | | | | | |
| 14 | ostProcess name="typicalHis | tory"> | | | | | | | | | |
| 15 | <input <="" class="DataObjects" td=""/> <td>type='HistorySet'</td> <td><pre>>raw_data</pre></td> <td></td> <td></td> | type='HistorySet' | <pre>>raw_data</pre> | | | | | | | | |
| 16 | <model <="" class="Models" td=""><td>type='PostProcessor</td><td>'>TypicalHistoryPP</td></model> | type='PostProcessor | '>TypicalHistoryPP | | | | | | | | |
| 17 18 <r< td=""> 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 31 32 33 34 35 36 41 42 43 441 45 46 47 48</r<> | <output <="" class="DataObjects" td=""><td><pre>type='HistorySet'</pre></td><td>>typical_data</td></output> | <pre>type='HistorySet'</pre> | >typical_data | | | | | | | | |
| 18 <r< td=""> 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 41 42 44 45 <<fiiii< td=""> 44 45 <<fiiii< td=""> 46 <_<td><<td><<td> 47 <<td><<td><<td> 48</td><td>PostProcess></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td></td></td></td></td></fiiii<></fiiii<></r<> | < <td><<td> 47 <<td><<td><<td> 48</td><td>PostProcess></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td></td></td></td> | < <td> 47 <<td><<td><<td> 48</td><td>PostProcess></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td></td></td> | 47 < <td><<td><<td> 48</td><td>PostProcess></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td></td> | < <td><<td> 48</td><td>PostProcess></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td> | < <td> 48</td> <td>PostProcess></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | 48 | PostProcess> | | | | |
| 19 | omTrainer name="train"> | the second s | the standard data of the state | | | | | | | | |
| 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 40 41 42 43 44 45 45 46 47 48 | <input <="" class="DataObjects" td=""/> <td>type="HistorySet"</td> <td>>typical_data</td> <td></td> <td></td> | type="HistorySet" | >typical_data | | | | | | | | |
| 22 (III 23 (IIII 24 (IIIIII) 25 (IIIIIIIII) 26 (IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII | RomTrainers | суре- кон | JARNACY OUL PULLY | | | | | | | | |
| 23 | OStep name="serialize"> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 24 | <input <="" class="Models" td=""/> <td>type="ROM"</td> <td>>ARMA</td> <td></td> <td></td> | type="ROM" | >ARMA | | | | | | | | |
| 25 / 26 27 28 <0at | <output <="" class="Files" td=""><td>type=""</td><td>>romfile</td></output> | type="" | >romfile | | | | | | | | |
| 26 < | IOStep> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 27 28 < | eps> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 28 Cuat. 29 cHi 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 <h< td=""> 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 <fill.< td=""> 45 <fill.< td=""> 47 <iii< td=""> 48 40</iii<></fill.<></fill.<></h<> | -0-4 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 20 30 31 32 32 33 34 35 35 36 <th< td=""><td>audjects></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<> | audjects> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 40 41 42 43 44 45 45 47 48 | <input/> scaling | | | | | | | | | | |
| 32 | <output>Demand</output> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 41 43 42 41 43 44 45 45 46 41 45 46 41 45 46 41 45 45 46 41 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 | <options></options> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 34 | <pivotparameter>Time<td>otParameter></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></pivotparameter> | otParameter> | | | | | | | | | |
| 35 1<br 36 1<br 37 38 39 40 41 42 1<br 43 44 45 46 <ii 47 <ii 48 40</ii </ii | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 30 (H 37) 38) 39) 40 (41) 42 (//) 43 (/Da' 44) 45 (Fill 46 (In 47 (In 48 (/Fill 48 (/Fill)) | HistorySet> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 38 38 39 40 41 42 47 43 47 43 44 45 46 41 46 41 47 48 46 47 48 47 48 49 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 | <pre>istorySet name="typical_dat</pre> | a > | | | | | | | | | |
| 39 40 41 42 43 43 44 45 46 46 47 47 48 40 | <output>Demand</output> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 40 41 42 43 43 44 45 45 46 47 47 47 48 47 48 47 | <pre><options></options></pre> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 41 | <pivotparameter>Time<td>otParameter></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></pivotparameter> | otParameter> | | | | | | | | | |
| 42 1<br 43 44 45 <fil 46 <in 47 <in 48 <td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></in </in </fil | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 43 44 45 <fil 46 <in 47 <in 48 <td>HistorySet></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></in </in </fil | HistorySet> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 44 45 <fil 46 <i 47 <i 48 <td>taObjects></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></i </i </fil | taObjects> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 45 <f14 46 <i 47 <i 48 <td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></i </i </f14 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 47 <i< td=""><td>es></td><td>data fall csv//Innu</td><td>*></td><td></td><td></td></i<> | es> | data fall csv//Innu | *> | | | | | | | | |
| 48 <td>nput name="romfile">ARMA fa</td> <td>ll.pk</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | nput name="romfile">ARMA fa | ll.pk | | | | | | | | | |
| 40 | les> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 49 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 50 <mod< b=""></mod<> | els> | | | | | | | | | | |
| 51 <p< b=""></p<> | ostProcessor name="TypicalH | <pre>istoryPP" subType="I</pre> | nterfacedPostProcessor"> | | | | | | | | |
| 52 | <method>TypicalHistoryFromH</method> | istorySet | | | | | | | | | |
| 53 | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | !typical day> | | | | | | | | | |
| 55 | <subseqlen>24</subseqlen> < | 7/ house > | | | | | | | | | |

 $https://github.com/emmaredfoot/RAVEN_APS/blob/master/FALL/train_eia_fall.xml$

7/19/2018

RAVEN_APS/Arizona_fall.xml at master · emmaredfoot/RAVEN_APS

| Branch | | rizona fall vml | | Eind file Comunat | |
|----------|---|--|--------------------------------|-------------------|--|
| Drancn. | | | | Find nie Copy pau | |
| nem 🦉 | emmaredfoot All seasons trained and ran | | | | |
| 1 contri | outor | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 153 lir | ues (145 sloc) 4.74 KB | | | | |
| 1 | <simulation colo<="" td="" verbosity="debug"><td>r="true"></td><td></td><td></td></simulation> | r="true"> | | | |
| 3 | <pre><workingdir>.</workingdir></pre> | | | | |
| 4 | <sequence>load,sample,output<!--</td--><td>Sequence></td><td></td><td></td></sequence> | Sequence> | | | |
| 5 | <batchsize>8</batchsize> | | | | |
| 6 | <Sequence load,sample,outp | ut,stats,outstats </td <td>Sequence></td> <td></td> | Sequence> | | |
| 7 | | | | | |
| 8 | <maxqueuesize>20<td>></td><td></td><td></td></maxqueuesize> | > | | | |
| 10 | | | | | |
| 11 | <steps></steps> | | | | |
| 12 | <iostep name="load"></iostep> | | | | |
| 13 | <input <="" class="Files" td=""/> <td>type=""</td> <td>>romfile</td> <td></td> | type="" | >romfile | | |
| 14 | <output <="" class="Models" td=""><td>type="ROM"</td><td><pre>>rom</pre></td></output> | type="ROM" | <pre>>rom</pre> | | |
| 15 | | | | | |
| 16 | <multirun name="sample"></multirun> | | | | |
| 17 | <input <="" class="DataObjects" td=""/> <td>type='PointSet'</td> <td>>placeholder</td> <td></td> | type='PointSet' | >placeholder | | |
| 10 | <pre><model <="" class="models" pre=""></model></pre> | type='MonteCarlo' | >romc//samplers | | |
| 20 | <output <="" class="DataObjects" td=""><td>type='HistorySet'</td><td>>samples</td></output> | type='HistorySet' | >samples | | |
| 21 | | -,,,- | | | |
| 22 | <iostep name="output" pauseate<="" td=""><td>nd="True"></td><td></td><td></td></iostep> | nd="True"> | | | |
| 23 | <input <="" class="DataObjects" td=""/> <td>type="HistorySet"</td> <td>>samples</td> <td></td> | type="HistorySet" | >samples | | |
| 24 | <output <="" class="OutStreams" td=""><td>type="Print"</td><td>>samples_dump</td></output> | type="Print" | >samples_dump | | |
| 25 | <output <="" class="OutStreams" td=""><td>type="Plot"</td><td>>Demand in MWe in Arizona Fall</td></output> | type="Plot" | >Demand in MWe in Arizona Fall | | |
| 26 | | | | | |
| 27 | <pre><rostprocess name="stats"> </rostprocess></pre> <pre></pre> <pre></pre> <pre></pre> <pre></pre> | type="HistorySet" | >sampless/Innut> | | |
| 29 | <model <="" class="Models" td=""><td>type="PostProcessor</td><td><pre>>stats calc</pre></td></model> | type="PostProcessor | <pre>>stats calc</pre> | | |
| 30 | <output <="" class="DataObjects" td=""><td>type="HistorySet"</td><td>>stats</td></output> | type="HistorySet" | >stats | | |
| 31 | | | | | |
| 32 | <iostep name="outstats" pausea<="" td=""><td>tEnd="True"></td><td></td><td></td></iostep> | tEnd="True"> | | | |
| 33 | <input <="" class="DataObjects" td=""/> <td>type="HistorySet"</td> <td>>stats</td> <td></td> | type="HistorySet" | >stats | | |
| 34 | <output <="" class="OutStreams" td=""><td>type="Print"</td><td>>stats_out</td></output> | type="Print" | >stats_out | | |
| 35 | <output <="" class="OutStreams" td=""><td>type="Plot"</td><td>>stats_plot</td></output> | type="Plot" | >stats_plot | | |
| 37 | (/stens) | | | | |
| 38 | ·/ | | | | |
| 39 | <dataobjects></dataobjects> | | | | |
| 40 | <pointset name="placeholder"></pointset> | | | | |
| 41 | <input/> scaling | | | | |
| 42 | <output>OutputPlaceHolder<td>utput></td><td></td><td></td></output> | utput> | | | |
| 43 | | | | | |
| 44 | <pre></pre> | | | | |
| 46 | <output>Demand</output> | | | | |
| 47 | <options></options> | | | | |
| 48 | <pivotparameter>Time<td>tParameter></td><td></td><td></td></pivotparameter> | tParameter> | | | |
| 49 | | | | | |
| 50 | | | | | |
| 51 | <historyset name="stats"></historyset> | le f Denne l | ile of Demodel (Octoor) | | |
| 52 | <pre><output>mean_Demand,percenti <output></output></output></pre> | .ie_5_vemand,percent | iie_so_Demand | | |
| 20 | COLICIUS | | | | |
| 54 | <pre><pivotparameter>Time</pivotparameter></pre> | tParameter> | | | |